

NOTE: CHANGES TO THE CONTRACT APPEAR PRIMARILY IN RED, BUT ALSO IN SEVERAL OTHER COLORS. LOCAL 328'S ANNOTATIONS IN THIS DOCUMENT FOR MEMBER REVIEW APPEAR IN GREEN, BELOW THE CHANGES THEY ARE REFERENCING. THIS DOCUMENT DOES NOT INCLUDE THE COVER PAGE, TABLE OF CONTENTS, OR INDEX. MEMBERS OF OUR BARGAINING TEAM SPENT TWO DAYS EXAMINING THE CONTRACT DRAFT FROM OHSU AND FOUND SOME ERRORS/DISCREPANCIES (THIS IS NOT OUT OF THE ORDINARY) AND HAVE CONTACTED OHSU TO ADDRESS THEM.

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the Oregon Health & Science University (hereinafter the "Employer"), and AFSCME Council No. 75, Local 328 (hereinafter the "Union") for the purpose of fixing wages, hours, benefits, conditions of employment and other matters affecting members of the bargaining unit as certified by the Employment Relations Board.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

ARTICLE 1. RECOGNITION AND UNION SECURITY

1.1 Recognition. The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all classified employees of the Employer, excluding registered nurses, police officers and those who are supervisors, managerial employees or confidential employees as defined in this Agreement and in ORS 243.650.

1.1.1 Classified employees. The parties agree that the term "classified employee" does not include temporary employees, student workers or any employee who regularly works less than 18.5 hours a pay period. The parties further agree that classified employees do not include employees with academic rank as defined in OAR 580-020-0005 or employees who share a community of interest with academic faculty and meet the additional criteria set forth in OAR 580-020-0006.

1.1.2 Bargaining unit exclusions. Upon excluding any position from the bargaining unit, the Employer shall send a notice to the Union of the position to be excluded along with the applicable position description. These positions questioned by the Union shall be discussed with the Employer within ten (10) days from the date of notification.

1.1.3 Unit clarification. Any dispute concerning bargaining unit composition pursuant to statutory terms that apply to the Employer shall be resolved by the Employment Relations Board.

Any dispute concerning other terms to which the parties have agreed regarding bargaining unit composition shall be resolved in accordance with Article 24 – Grievances and Arbitrations.

1.1.4 Notice to new employees. The Employer shall furnish each new employee with a notice that the Union is the certified collective bargaining representative.

1.2 Union Security.

1.2.1 Union membership and fair share. ~~Employees in the bargaining unit are required either to become members of the Union or to make payments in lieu of dues (also referred to as fair share payments) to the Union. Payments in lieu of dues shall be the equivalent of regular Union dues, subject to the fair share payer's rights under state and federal law. Fair share payers are advised of their rights by an annual mailing from AFSCME Council 75 each December. The Employer agrees to remain neutral with regard to the administration of these rights, which will be the sole responsibility of the Union. New bargaining unit employees who do not become members of the Union within thirty (30) days after the effective date of their employment shall be deemed obligated to make payments in lieu of dues.~~

~~a. — An employee's chosen form of dues or payment in lieu of dues shall recommence upon reinstatement following a period of layoff or extended leave.~~

~~b. — Dues and payments in lieu of dues for employees working less than full time will be as outlined by Union policy.~~

~~Employees covered by this Agreement shall have the right to become members of the Union through application to the Union. Application and resignations of membership shall be handled solely by the Union.~~

1.2.2 Holder of Record. During the life of this Agreement, the Union will notify the Employer's payroll office periodically of individuals who have become members of the Union. The Union will make membership authorization forms signed by employees available to the Employer and will notify the Payroll Office of individuals whose authorizations have been cancelled or terminated consistent with the agreements between the Union and employee. A file listing new authorizations or changes in authorizations for employee Union deductions will be submitted by the Union to the Employer electronically by close of business on the business day immediately preceding the twentieth (20th) of each month. The Employer agrees that new or changed Union payroll deduction authorizations submitted within the timelines above shall be

deducted on the first payroll period following authorization from the employee. Requests to produce cards may be made if there is a question of authorization.

The Employer agrees to run an audit comparing the full list of all represented bargaining unit employees with the list of employees who have authorized Union deductions as provided for electronically by the Union. This audit shall take place quarterly or as mutually agreed upon in writing by the Parties.

1.2.23 Dues deduction. The Union shall notify the Employer of the current rate of dues and other authorized deductions in a timely manner, which will enable the Employer to make the necessary payroll deductions. On the first and second pay period of each month, the Employer shall deduct a sum equal to one-half (½) of monthly ~~Union~~ dues from the wages of employees in the bargaining unit ~~who are members of the Union~~ and who have requested such deductions pursuant to ORS 292.055 ~~and from the wages of employees who are not members of the Union.~~ The first deduction shall begin on the first payroll period following authorization from the employee ~~or thirty (30) days of employment, whichever occurs first.~~ The Employer shall remit a payment for all said deductions to the Union within two (2) weeks after the deductions are made. Each payment shall be accompanied by a listing of the names, employee identification numbers, ~~and~~ the dues amount remitted, and any PEOPLE deduction for all employees from whom deductions were made during the period for such remittance.

~~**1.2.3 — Bona fide religious exemption.** Any employee who is a member of a church or religious body having bona fide religious tenets or teachings which prohibit association with a labor organization, or the payment of dues to it, shall pay an amount of money equivalent to regular Union dues to a nonreligious charity or to another charitable organization mutually agreed upon by the employee affected and the Union. The employee shall furnish written proof to the Employer that this has been done. Notwithstanding an employee's claim of exemption under this section, the Employer shall deduct payments in lieu of dues from the employee's wages pursuant to this Article until agreement has been reached between the employee and the Union.~~

~~**1.2.4 — Union notification obligations.** The Union shall provide membership applications to bargaining unit employees upon request and notify the Employer's payroll office of the membership/fair share status of the employee. The Union will also notify the payroll office periodically of individuals who have become members of the Union and to whom the fair share provisions of this Article no longer apply. The Union shall also provide the payroll office and the~~

~~Human Resources Director for Central Services or his/her designee thirty (30) days advance notice of a change in the amount of dues or payments in lieu of dues.~~

1.2.54 Indemnification. The Union agrees that it will indemnify, defend and save the Employer harmless from all suits, actions, proceedings, and claims against the Employer or person(s) acting on behalf of the ~~Employer whether for damage, compensation, reinstatement or combination thereof~~ arriving out of the Employer's implementation of this Article.

THIS LANGUAGE MIRRORS AFSCME COUNCIL 75'S BEST-PRACTICE LANGUAGE; IT IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE FOR OUR MEMBERS AND A POSITIVE CHANGE FOR LOCAL 328'S ORGANIZATIONAL WORK.

ARTICLE 2. UNION PROVISIONS

2.1 Union Representatives. The Union will select certain of its agents as "Union Representatives," as defined in Section 5.36, and certify in writing their names to the Human Resources Director for Central Services or his/her designee. Union representatives will be allowed to visit the work areas of employees during work hours, after advising the Human Resources Director for Central Services or his/her designee at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of their presence unless impractical under the circumstances, for the purpose of meeting with employees regarding matters affecting their employment. Visits with employees must take place during non-working time, and Ssuch visits are not to neglect, slow, or interfere with the normal flow of work or operations.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

2.2 Union Stewards.

2.2.1 Appointment of Stewards. The Union shall appoint stewards, including one (1) Chief Steward, (1) Senior Lead Steward, eleven (11) Lead Stewards, and additional regular Stewards as follows: one (1) Steward for work units of fewer than 20 employees, two (2) Stewards for work units of 20 - 75 employees, and one (1) Steward for every additional 50 employees in work units of more than 75 employees. Additionally, departments with 24-hour coverage will allow for one additional Steward who works evening shift and one additional Steward who works overnight shift. The President and Vice President shall count as Stewards. The Union shall immediately notify the Human Resources Director for Central Services or his/her designee of the names of Stewards upon their selection and the area(s) each steward represents. The Union will

provide a list of current stewards to the employer on a monthly basis. Managers are encouraged to make space available within their departments for posting of the name and location of the Steward for that area or department. ~~There shall be no more than two (2) stewards employed in a work unit of more than twenty (20) employees and no more than one (1) steward employed in a work unit of 20 or less employees.~~

THIS LANGUAGE IS A HUGE WIN FOR OUR UNION.

2.2.2 Paid release hours. The Employer will provide 3,420 paid release time hours each fiscal year, July 1 through June 30, for the purposes described in this Section 2.2.

a. ~~Each Unit Steward shall use no more than twenty (20) hours, Each Investigatory or Grievance Steward shall use be granted no more than forty-eight (48) fifty (50) hours, each Lead Steward shall use be granted no more than one hundred fifty (150) hours, and the Senior Lead Steward will use be granted no more than one hundred eighty (180) hours two hundred (200) per fiscal year, or a proration upon appointment.~~

FOR UNIT STEWARDS, THIS LANGUAGE IS A LOSS ON PAPER, BUT IT IS A MORE REALISTIC REFLECTION OF THE HOURS THEY ACTUALLY USE; FOR ALL OTHERS IT IS A WIN.

b. An employee's total release time for Union activity under this Article shall be limited to no more than twenty (20) hours per month. This limitation, however, shall not include release time under Section 2.10 or Section 2.12 or time spent at the Employer's request, and shall not apply to Section 2.13. This limitation may be exceeded when attending a Union convention as a mandated or elected delegate.

c. Before a Steward exhausts his/her allotted time in the course of fulfilling his/her responsibilities, s/he may submit to Human Resources a written request for necessary additional time. Such requests for additional time shall not increase the total annual release time hours as provided herein.

d. For a block period of up to three (3) months in a calendar year, a manager may decline to release a Union steward based on a hardship exemption. This provision shall not apply to Lead Stewards or Chief Stewards.

e. No paid release hours under this paragraph shall be paid at the overtime rate; the Union shall reimburse the Employer for any such overtime improperly recorded and paid. Stewards will not be paid overtime for steward work.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

2.2.3 Activities of stewards and notice to supervisors. Stewards may receive but not solicit, and may discuss in person or by telephone or email, complaints and grievances of employees on the premises and time of the Employer, but only to the extent that such activity does not neglect, ~~retard~~ slow or interfere with the work and duties of the Stewards or with the work or duties of employees, and occurs only during the employees' non-working time. Distribution of materials will also be done in a manner that will not interrupt other employees' work. If the permitted activities would interfere with the work or duties of the Steward or the grievant, the direct supervisor(s) shall, within the next working day, arrange a mutually satisfactory time for the requested activities. No steward shall meet with an employee/grievant in a work area unless necessary as part of a specific investigation.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

Stewards shall not suffer loss of pay or other benefits as a result of fulfilling their responsibilities, provided that they properly notify their immediate supervisor. Such responsibilities include investigation of grievances, attendance at grievance meetings, attendance at investigatory meetings, distribution of Union information, and attendance at Steward meetings and training sessions. ~~A work release for quarterly or new steward training shall require a minimum of six (6) weeks' prior notice to the Steward's supervisor.~~ Time spent in otherwise permitted activities without proper notification and release by the supervisor(s) involved will be considered unauthorized leave without pay for both the Steward and/or the grieving employee and may be disciplined accordingly. Each Steward shall maintain a record of dates and times spent on the functions described in this Article.

THIS LANGUAGE WAS MOVED TO ARTICLE 2.2.6.

No Steward will travel more than five (5) miles outside of the geographical area in which he or she is employed (Portland metropolitan area, West Campus, Eugene, or other location more than 40 miles from a recognized geographical area) for steward activities other than monthly steward meetings and formal steward training.

~~2.2.4 — Chief Steward. The Chief Steward shall be granted up to 208 hours annually, half of which shall be reimbursed by the Union. The Chief Steward shall have a telephone line provided by the Union, which shall be responsible for the installation and monthly charge. If located on campus, it will be placed in a mutually agreeable location and fitted with an answering machine. Voice mail shall be provided and paid for by the Union.~~

THIS LANGUAGE WAS MOVED TO A MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING LATER IN THE CONTRACT.

2.2.5 Union notice of meetings, training sessions and on-call calendar. The Union will notify the Human Resources Director for Central Services or his/her designee within thirty (30) days of the signing of this Agreement as to the date and time of the monthly steward meeting. The Union shall also provide notice of scheduled training sessions or a change in the date/time of the monthly steward meeting at least fourteen (14) days in advance of the event. The Union will also advise managers of stewards at least thirty (30) days in advance of its on-call calendar.

2.2.6 Education and training. First time stewards shall be granted up to sixteen (16) hours during regular scheduled working hours without loss of pay or other benefits for education and training. This training shall include, but not be limited to, collaborative skills, steward procedural requirements, fact-finding skills and the grievance process. Continuing shop stewards shall be granted eight (8) hours per year during regular scheduled working hours without loss of pay or other benefits for upgrading and reaffirming the previously learned skills. A work release for quarterly or new steward training shall require a minimum of six (6) weeks' prior notice to the Steward's supervisor. Stewards who work a shift other than the day shift may take the training during the day, and shall have the ability to use education and training hours to cover their shift despite the fact that the training occurred during their non-work time.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

2.2.7 Mutual training responsibility and accurate timekeeping. The Employer and the Union shall each be responsible for training its respective representatives so that they have a full and accurate understanding regarding the contents of this Article 2. The parties shall jointly develop clear and concise written instructions for supervisors and Union stewards to assure accurate recording of time under this article.

2.2.8 Protected activity. The Employer agrees there shall be no reprisal, coercion, intimidation or discrimination against any Steward for the conduct of the functions described in this Article.

2.2.9 Bridgebuilder Program participants. Time spent by an employee performing an intervention (including preparation and report writing related to the intervention) under the Bridgebuilder Program may be treated as steward time subject to the provisions of this Section 2.2. Bridgebuilder Program participants who are not stewards shall be eligible for the same hours of training for which stewards are eligible under Section 2.2.6. Subject to the provisions of Section 2.2.2, no employee will be granted more than 48 hours per fiscal year plus the hours allowed under Section 2.2.6 for combined activities as a steward or a Bridgebuilder.

2.2.10 Informational sessions. Up to two (2) times per year, the Employer and the Union will jointly present a one-hour informational session which managers and employees may attend regarding the steward program.

2.3 Release Time. Employees will be afforded release time when attending an investigatory meeting with the Employer or a Step 1 or 2 grievance meeting.

2.4 Meetings. Upon request of and approval from the Employer, the Union shall be allowed the use of the facilities of the Employer for meetings when such facilities are available and the meeting would not interfere with the business of the Employer.

2.5 New Employee Orientation. The Employer shall provide the Union up to thirty (30) minutes at group orientation to advise new employees of the rights and responsibilities of Union membership. In the event the employee is not able to attend the group orientation, the Union is allowed up to fifteen (15) minutes to make a presentation to the new employee at a time mutually agreeable to the parties. The Union orientation will identify the Union's status, organization benefits, facilities, related information and the distribution and collection of membership applications. This time is not to be used for discussion of labor/management disputes. The Employer shall provide the Union at least ten (10) days' notice of the time and place of new employee orientation meetings.

Time spent by an employee making a presentation at new employee orientation (NEO) may be treated as steward time subject to the provisions of Section 2.2. Such time will be limited to one (1) employee per NEO. No employee will be compensated more than one (1) hour per month under this provision. Time compensated under this provision will count toward the individual maximums set forth in Section 2.2. Release time for this activity will be subject to operational need as determined by the

Employer. The Union will provide to the Employer as much notice as reasonably possible of employees it desires to have released from work under this provision.

2.6 Bulletin Boards. The purpose of all bulletin boards addressed in this Section is to disseminate Union and Labor/Management information. Adequate, neat and clean bulletin board space on and off campus will be used for Union and Labor/Management communications to provide easy access and up-to-date information.

a. Union bulletin boards located in public areas shall be limited to communications dealing with social functions, meetings, educational opportunities, elections, Union appointments, and such other information as may be approved by the Human Resources Director for Central Services or his/her designee.

b. There will be a minimum of one (1) bulletin board space in each OHSU building in which AFSCME-represented employees work. Bulletin boards shall be placed in mutually agreeable locations.

c. Additionally, department managers are encouraged to make space available within their departments for Union and Labor/Management information dissemination.

d. The cost of new bulletin board purchases and initial installations will be shared by the Union and the Employer.

e. If concerns or questions arise regarding maintenance of, additions to, or changes in locations of bulletin boards, they should be brought to the Human Resources Director for Central Services or his/her designee for resolution.

2.7 Bargaining Unit Data. The Employer shall provide electronically to the Union the names, home addresses and telephone numbers, department, department code, departmental telephone number, work location, email address, campus mail code, employment status, class code, FTE, hourly rate of pay, job title, original hire date, current hire date, salary grade, benefit eligibility, overtime waiver status, and membership status of all bargaining unit employees on a monthly basis.

The Employer further agrees to provide to the Union upon request, but no more than four (4) times per contract year, the name, department, work location, rate of pay, hire and termination date of every temporary, limited duration and student employee employed by the Employer. The parties understand that this information will not include employees hired through employment agencies.

In addition, the Employer will furnish the Union monthly with the name, classification, rate of pay and date of employment of all new hires and with the names and contact information of new retirees.

The Employer will make a good faith effort to ensure the accuracy of data provided pursuant to this Section 2.7.

2.8 Use of Campus Mail. Union communications allowed under this paragraph refer exclusively to official Union communications from bona fide Union representatives. The content of all such communications shall not be demeaning, derogatory or inflammatory (as defined in Section 2.9 below) in nature. The Union shall be allowed the use of the campus mail under the following circumstances, and will coordinate any such mailing with a management representative in the mailroom to lessen the impact on the mailroom:

a. Communicating to Union representatives (officers, committee members, stewards and navigators) not to exceed ten percent (10%) of the bargaining unit membership based on membership census as determined each July 1st.

b. Communicating with new employees within four (4) months of their hire date, provided that said communications occur in bulk once every calendar quarter.

c. Distributing copies of this Agreement to bargaining unit employees by delivery in bulk to each department.

d. Distributing materials to 500 or more bargaining unit members by delivery in bulk to each department, or to members in a single work unit or department on business specifically affecting that work unit or department, if the Union receives approval from the Human Resources Director for Central Services or his/her designee.

e. To communicate on an individual basis with a bargaining unit member regarding such materials as a membership card, grievance form, or reimbursement check.

In addition, bargaining unit members shall be allowed to return information in the campus mail to one central campus location designated by the Union up to four (4) times per year.

2.9 Use of Employer's Electronic Mail. Use of the Employer's email system for Union communications shall be limited to the uses described below. The content of all such communications shall not be demeaning, derogatory or inflammatory in nature. Inflammatory language is defined as language threatening disorder or other normal functioning of the business; maliciously disparaging the

Employer or otherwise unduly interfering with the Employer's business interests; inciting prejudice, animosity, hatred, discrimination and/or intimidation against other employees; advocating violence; or containing immoral or obscene comments disloyal to the Employer.

2.9.1 Union communications from external sources. Union email communications to employees from sources external to the Employer's server must be sent either before 8:00 a.m. or after 5:00 p.m. They must identify the Union as the sender. The first line in the body of the email message must contain the instruction that the recipient read the email only during non-working time. Employees shall have the opportunity to opt out of the addressee group for receiving such emails.

When the Union wishes to send an email from external sources ~~to the bargaining unit as a whole~~ through the Employer's email system, the Union will provide to the designated Employer representative at least two (2) full business days (i.e., at least 48 hours) in advance the content of such email communication sent to:-

- (a) The bargaining unit as a whole;
- (b) The Union membership as a whole, except during contract negotiations (first date of bargaining through the effective date of new Agreement);
- (c) The bargaining unit non-membership as a whole.

The designated Employer representative will have an opportunity during this time period to review and provide comment to the Union regarding the communication content and its conformance with this Section 2.9. The Union will in good faith consider and incorporate the Employer's feedback. The Employer will not have the authority to veto the content of the Union's communication. This review period may be waived on a case-by-case basis upon the mutual agreement of both parties.

During contract negotiations (first date of bargaining through the effective date of new Agreement), the 48-hour notice will be waived for email communication sent to only the Union membership as a whole.

Further, the Union will concurrently provide the designated Employer representative with a copy of any email sent bargaining unit-wide or to the Union membership or bargaining unit non-membership as a whole.

THIS IS A SLIGHT LOSS OUTSIDE OF NEGOTIATIONS (PRIMARILY AFFECTING OUR INTERNAL-COMMUNICATIONS TEAM) BUT NEUTRAL DURING.

2.9.2 Union communications from internal sources. Union communications from an OHSU email address or a personal email account while on OHSU equipment shall be restricted to the uses described in this paragraph. First, Union officials will be permitted access to the Employer's e-mail system for communicating to Union representatives (officers, committee members, stewards and navigators) not to exceed ten percent (10%) of the bargaining unit membership census as determined each July 1st. Second, Union officials may, in accordance with Employer policy, communicate by email to groups of bargaining unit employees greater than fifty (50) total in number no more than four (4) times per year, provided that the communication is (1) approved by the Human Resources Director for Central Services or his/her designee, and (2) limited to matters dealing with Union social functions, meetings, educational opportunities, elections, appointments, bargaining updates prior to impasse, and/or such other information as may be approved by the Human Resources Director for Central Services or his/her designee. Third, the Union shall be permitted up to eight (8) notices per year referring members to the Union's website provided such notices are in accordance with Employer policy and remind employees to view such materials only on non-working time. No external political advocacy information may be distributed by email from internal sources.

2.9.3 Employees' use of e-mail. Employees shall be permitted use of the Employer's e-mail system for the purpose of communicating with Union representatives and co-workers regarding Union matters, provided the origination and reading of such communications occurs only during non-working time. Bargaining unit employees will be permitted access to the Internet during their non-working time on equipment and locations as permitted by the Employer. Employees shall be limited to no more than one (1) page of printed text per each authorized e-mail message or as the result of any e-mail message as provided herein.

2.10 Negotiating Team. The Union's negotiating team shall consist of a maximum of thirteen (13) employees. Negotiating team members shall be paid for attendance at negotiations sessions with the Employer, including joint training and caucuses occurring during such sessions, provided that such attendance shall not result in overtime pay. In no event shall such paid time exceed the number of

regularly scheduled hours for which an employee is released to attend negotiations. The parties shall establish a process to address time spent by negotiating team members on other Union activities when they are participating in contract negotiations. Negotiating team members may be selected from any of the work units represented by the Union. If more than one Union member is elected from a work unit, the Union shall reimburse the Employer for the payroll costs of the additional member(s) for time spent participating in bargaining. The Employer recognizes that employees representing the Union during the process of negotiations are acting on behalf of the Union as members.

2.11 Union Leave. Employees elected to any Union office or selected by the Union to do work which takes them from their employment at the Employer may, upon written notice of at least sixty (60) days, request and be granted a leave of absence of up to 90 days. The timing of such leave, however, must be by mutual agreement between the employee and the manager. Such leave may be requested either in block or in increments. The scheduling of incremental leave will be by mutual agreement between the employee and his/her manager. Incremental leave will be taken within a 12-month period commencing with the first day of leave and is subject to the restrictions in the next paragraph. If the employee and his/her manager cannot reach agreement on incremental leave, the employee will be granted the leave in a block. Upon mutual agreement, union leave may extend beyond the 90-day period.

The Union will cooperate with the Employer by limiting such requests so that a maximum of five (5) employees altogether, and a maximum of one (1) employee per department, will be granted such leave at any given time. An employee shall be granted such leave no more than one (1) time every three (3) calendar years. Union leave includes an employee taking time off to attend a Union conference or convention unless the employee is attending as a mandated or elected delegate; an employee shall be granted such leave no more than once per year

Employees on Union leave shall not be considered to be in employment status for any purpose, including but not limited to matters of liability, except as noted below. During such leave the employee shall be insured for worker's compensation purposes by the Union. The Employer agrees to maintain the employee's health benefits, wages, retirement contributions, seniority points (accrued at the rate equivalent to the employee's regular work week schedule) and any other benefits during the duration of the approved Union leave. The Union agrees to reimburse the Employer for the costs of said wages and benefits. Any employee who has been granted such leave and who fails to return at the expiration of said leave shall be considered as having resigned the employee's position of employment.

2.12 Release for Legislative Activities. Employees selected by the Union to assist in interacting with members of the Oregon State Legislature or their staff will be released to provide such assistance if

they give at least forty-eight (48) hours' advance notice to their immediate supervisor. An employee will be entitled to release time under this provision for no more than two (2) shifts per calendar year. The Union will cooperate with the Employer by limiting such requests so that a maximum of five (5) employees will be released at any given time. Such release time may be denied to an employee if granting it would impose an extreme hardship on the department or compromise patient safety. The Union will reimburse the Employer for paid time spent in legislative activities. The Union will also reimburse the Employer for any premium pay, overtime or penalty pay paid **by the Employer for coverage issues resulting from a release from work under this paragraph.**

2.13 Union President. The Employer will grant the Union President paid time of ~~eight (8)~~ [See concept above] hours per week, prorated per FTE. The President shall be compensated for up to an additional ~~twelve (12)~~ [See concept above] hours per week by the Union, prorated per FTE, subject to approval by the Union's Executive Board. This weekly allotment shall include all time spent by the President on Union activities, although it may be exceeded when attending a Union convention as a mandated or elected delegate, or on matters undertaken at the behest of the Employer. The President and his/her manager shall mutually develop an ongoing schedule for the purpose of assuring reliable work attendance.

THIS IS A CLARIFIED IN AN MOU AND IS A BIG WIN FOR OUR UNION GOVERNANCE.

2.14 Union Vice President. The Employer will grant the Union Vice President paid time of [See concept above] per week, prorated per FTE. The Vice President shall be compensated for up to an additional [See concept above] hours per week by the Union, prorated per FTE, subject to approval by the Union's Executive Board. This weekly allotment shall include all time spent by the Vice President on Union activities, although it may be exceeded when attending a Union convention as a mandated or elected delegate, or on matters undertaken at the behest of the Employer. The Vice President and his/her manager shall mutually develop an ongoing schedule for the purpose of assuring reliable work attendance.

THIS IS A CLARIFIED IN AN MOU AND IS A BIG WIN FOR OUR UNION GOVERNANCE.

2.15 Union Chief Steward. The Employer will grant the Union Chief Steward paid time of [See concept above] hours per week, prorated per FTE. The Chief Steward shall be compensated for up to an additional [See concept above] hours per week by the Union, prorated per FTE, subject to approval by the Union's Executive Board. This weekly allotment shall include all time spent by the Chief Steward on Union activities, although it may be exceeded when attending a Union convention as a mandated or elected

delegate, or on matters undertaken at the behest of the Employer. The Chief Steward and his/her manager shall mutually develop an ongoing schedule for the purpose of assuring reliable work attendance.

THIS IS A CLARIFIED IN AN MOU AND IS A BIG WIN FOR OUR UNION GOVERNANCE.

2.1416 E-Committee and E-Board Members. The Employer will grant time off, as allowed by operational need, to Union Executive Committee members for attendance at monthly meetings of the Union's Executive Committee and at monthly membership meetings, and to Executive Board members for attendance at monthly Executive Board meetings. The Union will reimburse the Employer for paid time spent at these meetings.

2.1517 Other Union Business. Except to the extent described in this section, the internal business of the Union shall be conducted by the employees during their non-duty hours.

2.18 Union Conventions. In work units where scheduling procedures do not allow concurrent employee leave, if more than one Union member is elected as a delegate to a Union convention and there is adequate staff to cover concurrent employee leave, the department shall offer the applicable shift(s) due to the leave as overtime and the Union shall reimburse the Employer for the premium portion of the shift(s). Other options to address staffing related to Union conventions may be utilized if both the manager and applicable employees agree and there are no additional costs.

THIS IS A BIG WIN FOR MEMBERS WHO WISH TO ATTEND AND PARTICIPATE IN UNION CONVENTIONS.

ARTICLE 3. GENERAL PROVISIONS

3.1 Binding Effect. This Agreement binds the Union and any person designated by it to act on behalf of the Union. Likewise the Agreement binds the Employer and any person designated by it to act on its behalf.

3.2 Complete Agreement. This document contains the full and complete Agreement of the parties. It supersedes any and all prior agreements and understandings between the Union and the Employer, except for any written agreements or understandings which the parties have agreed to continue in the same or modified form. Written agreements or understandings that fall within this exception are letters of agreement and other affirmative written acknowledgements by the parties that they have explicitly reached an agreement. The provisions of this Agreement define the rights and obligations of each party regarding the subject matter addressed. They take precedence over any past or existing

practices that are inconsistent with these provisions. All rights and benefits conferred by these provisions shall, subject to the provisions of Section 3.3 below, remain unchanged during the life of the Agreement unless modified by mutual written agreement of the parties.

3.3 Non-Contractual Standards and Benefits. The following process for non-contractual standards and benefits shall apply to changes in standards or benefits that (a) constitute mandatory subjects of bargaining, (b) either are not covered by the provisions of this Agreement or the nature or extent of the benefit is not resolved by a reasonable interpretation of the applicable provision, and (c) either (1) are “well established” across the bargaining unit (defined as unequivocal, readily ascertainable, and mutually accepted by the parties over a reasonable period of time) or (2) confer a direct economic benefit on a specific work unit or units:

a. The Employer will notify the Union in writing in the event that it contemplates changing any such standard or benefit.

b. The Union may demand in writing to bargain over the contemplated change within fourteen (14) calendar days after receiving written notification by the Employer. If such a demand is not submitted within 14 days, the Union shall have waived its right to bargain over the change.

c. The parties will bargain in good faith with regard to the contemplated change. It is the parties’ full and mutual expectation that they will reach resolution through this process.

d. In the rare event that agreement is not reached through this process, the Union may submit the matter to arbitration within fifteen (15) days following the last date the parties met to negotiate the change. For purposes of this paragraph, the authority of the arbitrator, whose decision shall be final and binding, is limited to determining whether the contemplated change is unreasonable. “Unreasonable” means that the negative effect on bargaining unit members outweighs the need or benefit to the Employer. If timely submittal for arbitration is not made, the Employer may implement the contemplated change.

The Employer shall have the right to implement changes in other standards or benefits that are not covered under the above description or under the provisions of this Agreement. The provisions of this section shall not be deemed to restrict the Employer from exercising any of the management rights set forth in Article 4 or elsewhere in this Agreement, including but not limited to the adoption or modification of policies not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement. The parties further agree that any provisions of ORS 243.698 that are inconsistent with the provisions of this section shall not apply.

3.4 Savings Clause. This Agreement is subject to all existing and future State and Federal laws and regulations. In the event any provision of this Agreement is declared or deemed invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, by passage of any law or regulation, or by ruling of the Employment Relations Board, then only such provision or provisions ~~portion or portions~~ shall become null and void and the balance of the Agreement shall remain in effect. The Employer and the Union agree to immediately meet, negotiate, and agree upon a substitute for the portion or portions of the Agreement so affected and to bring them into conformance with the law no more than sixty (60) days after notification, unless extended by mutual agreement. If agreement on such matters is not reached within a reasonable period of time, the provisions of Article 25 – Strikes, Lockouts and Picket Lines shall not apply.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

ARTICLE 4. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

4.1 Management Rights. The parties agree that the Employer has the right to operate and manage the institution including, but not limited to, the rights enumerated in ORS 243.650 through 243.782; the right to maintain order and efficiency; to direct employees and to determine job assignments and working schedules; to determine the methods, means and personnel to be used; to implement improved operational methods and procedures; to determine staffing requirements; to determine the kind and location of facilities; to determine whether the whole or any part of the operation shall continue to operate; to select and hire employees; to promote and transfer employees; to discipline, demote or discharge employees for just cause; to lay off employees; to recall employees; to require reasonable overtime work of employees; and to promulgate rules, regulations and personnel policies, provided that such rights shall not be exercised so as to violate any of the specific provisions of this Agreement.

4.2 Non-Waiver of Rights. The Employer's non-exercise of any right reserved to it under this Agreement, or its exercise of any such right in a particular way, will not be considered a waiver of the Employer's right to exercise such right or to exercise it in some other way that does not violate any specific provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5. DEFINITIONS

The following terms, as used in this Agreement, shall be defined as follows, except as their context may otherwise require:

5.1 Class/Classification. A group of positions sufficiently alike in duties, authority and responsibilities that the same qualifications may reasonably be required for, and the same schedule of pay can be equitably applied to, all positions in the group.

5.2 Compensatory Time. Time accrued in lieu of cash payment. See Section 9.1.5.

5.3 Consensus. For purposes of Sections 7.4, 9.1.4, 12.4.1 and 19.11.1, the following provisions shall apply to the consensus process:

a. The consensus process may be initiated by management or by 10% of the work unit. A small and representative ad hoc committee, including the unit manager, shall then meet to discuss feasibility of the consensus process for the identified topic, to problem solve initial barriers, to decide whether to move forward with the process, and to develop a communications strategy for the applicable work group.

b. The ad hoc committee will determine the applicable work group based on the individual circumstances, including the nature and scope of the topic and those employees who would be directly impacted by the outcome of the process.

c. A work group reaches consensus when, after collective deliberation of the matter, at least 80% of the group members who vote (rounded to the closest whole number), including management representatives, vote in favor of a solution. All directly impacted employees will be allowed to vote and will be provided a reasonable opportunity to vote.

d. All consensus agreements and amendments must be submitted to Human Resources and the Union.

e. A consensus agreement may be rescinded by agreement of a designated Human Resources representative and a designated AFSCME staff representative if it is found to be in violation of this Agreement or if it negatively impacts employees who are not subject to the consensus agreement.

f. All consensus agreements for a work unit will be made readily available on the work unit and will be provided to new employees on the unit.

g. Consensus agreements will remain in force for the term of this Agreement, unless earlier cancelled or amended in accordance with the process identified above.

Additional guidelines for utilization of the consensus process are set forth in Appendix G.

5.4 Day – means calendar day unless otherwise indicated.

5.5 Demotion

. A transfer of an employee from a position in one class to a position in another class having a lower maximum salary rate. See Section 8.5.

a. **Involuntary demotion** means the demotion of an employee for reasons initiated by the Employer, including demotions for disciplinary reasons and demotions requested in order to retain employment when layoff is imminent.

b. **Voluntary demotion** means a demotion requested by an employee where the action is entirely voluntary on the part of the employee and not taken for disciplinary reasons.

5.6 E-mail. Refers to the Employer’s electronic mail system as made available through the Information Technology Group (ITG) for business application purposes. See Section 2.9. E-mail use whether for business or personal use remains the property of the Employer and is subject to all policies and procedures for application and compliance review.

5.7 Essential Functions. The fundamental job duties of a position, not including marginal duties that have minimal consequences if not performed. The primary factors to consider when Corredetermining whether or not a function is essential are:

Does the position exist to perform this essential function?

Is the applicant being hired for specific, highly specialized expertise?

How much time will be spent on the job performing the function?

What are the consequences of not requiring the applicant to perform a particular function?

5.8 Evaluation Period. One of two types of working test periods – referred to as the Probationary and Internal Job Change Evaluation Periods – during which an employee is required to demonstrate his/her ability to successfully perform the essential job functions of the position. See Article 20.

5.9 Executive Organizational Unit (EOU). A unit that is organized under an executive position or a combination of executive positions, and is accountable for an area of operations within the

organization. There are five (5) separate EOU's: Healthcare, Central Services, Research, School of Medicine, and Other Academic. See, e.g., Section 19.5.

5.10 Extended Medical Leave. Leave granted at the Employer's discretion upon the application of the employee for additional unpaid leave after the employee exhausts all paid sick leave and unpaid leave due under the OFLA/FMLA An employee who has been medically released to return from extended medical leave will be returned to their former department should a reasonable and suitable position, as determined by the Employer, be available within 60 days of notification of release. An employee who is not placed in their former department will be placed on the Preferential Hire List for a period of 90 days and provided with concentrated placement assistance by Human Resources. Should placement not occur during this period the employee will be considered an external candidate.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

The above timeline will be paused during periods when the Employer is in a hiring freeze.

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS.

5.11 Flex Staff Employee. An employee hired to provide relief for absences of regular and Probationary Period employees, to provide staff for short-term projects and/or to provide short-term supplementing of existing staffing levels (e.g., patient volume fluctuations). See Appendix B.

5.12 Full-Time Employee. An employee who holds an appointment at 1.0 FTE.

5.13 Lateral Transfer. The movement of an employee from one position to another in the same or a different class in the same salary range without a break in service. See Section 8.5.4. The term is distinguishable from the more generic "transfer," which refers to any movement of an employee to a different position, whether by promotion, demotion or lateral transfer.

5.14 Layoff. A termination from service because of shortage of funds or materials, abolishment of position, or for other involuntary reasons not reflecting discredit on an employee. See Article 19.

5.15 Limited Duration Employee. An employee who is regularly scheduled on a full-time or part-time basis, who receives benefits and representation per this Agreement, but is excluded from layoff rights since his/her appointment from the outset is determined to be time, task and work unit limited. For the purposes of scheduling of hours, reduction of hours, and/or termination, Limited Duration Employees shall have seniority among themselves within their specific work unit based on job tasks. Positions on the seniority list will be determined at the time of hire. The Employer will notify the Union of any new or

renewed limited duration employee position it establishes. Such notification shall include a description of the project and the duration for which the employee is being hired.

5.16 Managerial Employees. Managerial employees are defined as employees (1) who possess the authority to formulate and carry out management decisions, or who represent management's interest by taking or effectively recommending discretionary actions that control or implement employer policy, and (2) who have discretion in the performance of these management responsibilities beyond the routine discharge of duties.

5.17 Orientation. A period of time not to exceed four (4) weeks for qualified applicants to acclimate to performance standards for a new job.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

5.18 Part-Time Employee. An employee who holds an FTE status of less than 1.0 FTE.

5.19 Position Description. A description of specific duties and responsibilities, consistent with the appropriate classification specification, assigned to an individual. See Section 6.4.

5.20 Preferential Hire List. A list of persons (1) who have been regular employees with the Employer, (2) who either (a) have been laid off, (b) have been removed during a job change evaluation period and are not placed in their former department pursuant to Article 20.2, or (c) have returned from an extended medical leave of absence and are not placed in their former department pursuant to Article 5.10, and (3) who are eligible for hire into a vacant position for which they are qualified. Employees on the preferential hire list ("PHL") are terminated from employment but retain all rights as otherwise specified in this Agreement.

a. Employees on the PHL shall be eligible for hire into any position for which they are qualified. They must apply for any position they seek, including positions in their former classification unless the employee is medically restricted from working in such position. If the employee is determined by the Employer to be qualified for the position based on the specific job posting for the position, in accordance with the current position description, and documentation identifying his or her skills, abilities and employment experiences, the employee shall be offered the position prior to any internal applicant.

b. In accordance with Section 19.7, employees on the PHL as a result of having been laid off may remain on the list for up to eighteen (18) months. Employees placed on the PHL due

to removal during a job change evaluation period who are not otherwise returned to their former department in accordance with Article 20.2 may remain on the PHL for six months. Employees returning from an extended medical leave and are not otherwise placed in their former department may remain on the PHL for 90 days in accordance with Article 5.10. ~~for all other reasons (removal during job change evaluation period, return from extended medical leave, or selection of layoff in lieu of FTE reduction or downward reclassification) may remain on the PHL for up to one (1) year.~~

THIS IS A SLIGHT LOSS FOR OUR MEMBERS.

c. Except as provided in Section 20.2.8, employees on the PHL are entitled to no more than one hire into a position from the PHL.

d. The above timeline will be paused during periods when the Employer is in a hiring freeze.

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS.

5.21 Premium Pay. A rate of pay that is a multiplier (normally 1½ times) of the employee's straight time or regular rate of pay.

5.22 Probationary Employee. An employee serving a Probationary Period. See Section 20.1.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE, ADDING A DEFINITION.

5.2~~3~~3 Promotion. The movement of an employee from a position in one class to a position in another class having a higher maximum salary rate. See Sections 8.5 and 18.2.

5.2~~3~~4 Qualified. The applicant possesses the credentials or otherwise demonstrates the knowledge, skills and abilities to perform the essential functions as defined in the position description.

5.2~~4~~5 Reclassification. A change in classification of a position by raising it to a higher paid class, reducing it to a lower paid class, or moving it to another class at the same pay level. Reclassification must be based on finding that the duties of a position have been altered, are better described by another classification, and the incumbent is qualified to perform the duties of the position. See Article 21.

5.2~~5~~6 Regular Employee. A full-time or part-time employee who has completed the Probationary Period.

5.2~~6~~7 Regular Position. A position occupied by a regular employee.

5.278 Regular Rate of Pay. Straight rate of pay plus, where applicable, any differential payable under this Agreement, calculated on a weekly basis or bi-weekly basis, except where otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

5.289 Relief Employee. An employee who is assigned to work on an intermittent and sporadic basis without the guarantee of hours of work or a set work schedule, and who provides coverage during periods of Employer need due to vacation, sick, or other employee leaves of absence, provides staff for short-term projects and/or provides short-term supplementing of existing staffing levels (e.g., patient volume fluctuations). Relief employees are entitled to the same benefits afforded part-time employees, including the utilization of seniority in all relevant articles.

a. Relief employees must be available to work at least four (4) days per pay period as determined according to the Employer's needs. If a relief employee fails to meet this minimum obligation in four (4) separate pay periods within a calendar year, the employee will be deemed to have voluntarily resigned.

b. Relief employees may be required to work holidays, weekends or variable shifts consistent with operational need. Such requirements will be identified in the employee's offer letter. Variable shift requirements will also be identified on the job posting.

c. During an initial period of disability, a relief employee is permitted to exhaust his or sick leave through utilization in order to become eligible for short term disability benefits.

~~**5.29 Stakeholder.** Any OHSU employee affected by an issue addressed in the context of Labor/Management activities. Stakeholders ideally maintain an active interest in their work environment and accept collaborative accountability for its efficient and effective operation and high morale.~~

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE, REMOVING UNNECESSARY INFORMATION.

5.30 Steward. A member of the bargaining unit designated by the Union to act on behalf of one or more bargaining unit employees. See Section 2.2.

5.31 Straight Rate of Pay. An employee's base rate, without any additions.

5.32 Student Workers. An employee receiving an hourly wage for work performance who is enrolled in, on vacation from, or otherwise registered in a high school, college undergraduate program, or university graduate program *and who has been hired into a student worker position.*

THIS IS A SLIGHT WIN, ADDING A DEFINITION.

5.323 Supervisors. To qualify as a supervisor, an individual must supervise, directly or indirectly, at least one employee who does not also directly report to another supervisor. Moreover, consistent with state law, an individual generally must supervise, directly or indirectly, more than one employee to qualify as a supervisor. For an exception to this rule to apply, the Employer must meet its burden of demonstrating that an individual qualifies by having substantial supervisory authority over one employee. Moreover, a supervisor may not go more than six (6) months without a direct or indirect report of at least one employee. Otherwise, the statutory definition in ORS 243.650 applies.

5.334 Suspension. A temporary interruption of work of an employee as directed by the Employer. During this period the employee shall be paid or not be paid per the discretion of the Employer.

5.345 Temporary Employees. Full or part-time employees employed by the Employer for a specific period of time to fulfill the specific needs of the Employer, ~~by the authority of and with the conditions of employment as set forth in the Employer's policies.~~ Temporary employees are not covered by the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Temporary employees performing work that would otherwise be performed by bargaining unit employees will be employed for a finite period of time not to exceed 1,040 hours in a calendar year, unless an extension has been granted for one six (6) month period. If there is still a need for the services that have been performed by the temporary employee, then the employee or the employee's replacement will be classified as a relief, LDA Limited Duration Employee, or flex employee covered by the terms of the Agreement.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

5.356 Termination. A voluntary or involuntary separation from employment. A discharge is an involuntary termination of employment without layoff rights. A removal from a position may occur only during an internal job change evaluation period (see Section 20.2).

5.367 Union Representative. Any representative of the certified bargaining agent, or any person designated or authorized by the certified bargaining agent, to act on the Union's behalf. See Section 2.1.

5.378 Vacant Position. A new position or the opening of an existing position caused by ~~resignation, retirement etc.~~ an employee having vacated the position. See Article 18.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

5.389 Work Unit. A work unit normally will fit within at least one of the following three definitions:

- a. A group that reports to the same supervisor or manager,
- b. A group that schedules vacations together, or
- c. A group that shares the same organization number.

It is also recognized that “work units” may be shaped by such factors as geography, past practice, manager crossover, or other variables/unique circumstances.

ARTICLE 6. EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES

6.1 Non-Discrimination.

6.1.1 Equal employment opportunity. The provisions of this Agreement shall apply equally to all employees in the bargaining unit without regard to age, race, religion, sex, color, disability, national origin, veteran status, sexual orientation or political affiliation.

6.1.2 Affirmative action. The Union agrees that it will cooperate with the Employer’s implementation of applicable Federal and State laws and regulations pertaining to affirmative action, including but not limited to Presidential Executive Order 11246 as amended by Presidential Executive Order 11375.

6.1.3 Complaints of discrimination or harassment. Employees are encouraged to file all complaints alleging discrimination or harassment of a protected status as identified above with the Employer through its Affirmative Action Equal Opportunity (AAEO) Department. Alternatively, employees may file a complaint with the Union, Integrity Department, the Human Resources Department, the employee’s manager, or the appropriate state or federal agency for resolution. If filed with the AAEO Department, the complaint shall be processed under the Employer’s rules pertaining to discrimination complaints. If the complaint is not satisfactorily

resolved by the AAEO Department's process, it may be submitted to the appropriate state or federal agency for resolution.

6.1.3.1 Complaints regarding Code of Conduct violations. Employees are encouraged to file all complaints alleging code of conduct complaints through the Union or the Employer's Integrity Department, Human Resources Department, or the employee's manager.

THIS IS A GREAT WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS; MEMBERS WILL NOW BE ABLE TO FILE THESE COMPLAINTS DIRECTLY WITH OUR UNION.

6.2 Pay Periods. Employees shall be paid bi-weekly.

6.3 Timekeeping Records. Employees are responsible for accurately recording and tracking their working time. Timekeepers shall not make adjustments to an employee's timekeeping record unless requested to do so by the employee for a legitimate reason or authorized to do so by the supervisor. In the event a supervisor directs the timekeeper to make a change in an employee's timekeeping record, the supervisor shall notify the employee of the change and the reasons for the change by the current payroll run deadline. Timekeepers shall not adjust overtime hours worked without prior approval of the employee and the supervisor. Employees shall not work off the clock, and managers shall neither direct nor condone such activity. In the event the Employer wishes to change the increments in which time worked is recorded and compensated, the parties agree to use the process outlined in Article 3.3 to resolve the matter.

6.4 Position Descriptions. Position descriptions shall be reduced to writing and delineate the specific duties currently assigned to an employee's position. A dated copy of the position description shall be given to the employee upon assuming the position and at such time as the position description is amended. Any amendments which change responsibility sufficiently to warrant a classification change will be subject to the provisions of Article 21 addressing classification changes.

The position description will be used as a basis for preparation of work plans, competencies or other descriptions of employment expectations a supervisor may utilize. Nothing contained herein shall compromise the right or the responsibility of the Employer to formulate and/or modify position descriptions and to assign work consistent with the classification specification.

6.5 Work Life Balance. The parties recognize that work life balance arrangements, such as telecommuting and flexible start times, may be used to enhance productivity, recruit and retain a diverse and talented workforce, reduce costs, and address traffic congestion, parking constrictions and broader

environmental interests. The Employer maintains a Teleworking policy [and guidelines](#) that addresses these interests. ~~The Union and the Employer will jointly develop guidelines for managers and employees to consider when flexible start times are requested.~~ Telecommuting and flex start time arrangements require mutual agreement among the employee, supervisor and department/unit director and are approved on a case-by-case basis at the Employer's discretion. If mutual agreement is not reached, the employee or the supervisor may seek assistance from the Human Resources/AFSCME group for problem solving and ideas for consideration.

THIS IS A LOSS.

6.6 Performance Expectations.

6.6.1 Clarification of expectations. An employee may make a written request to his/her supervisor for clarification of the performance expectations of the employee in his or her position. Within a reasonable period of time following the request, the supervisor and the employee shall mutually develop the performance expectations, which shall delineate specific job requirements, expectations or objectives on which clarification has been sought. Employees will be allowed a reasonable period of time to achieve such expectations.

6.6.2 Change in circumstances. Whenever there is a substantial increase in workload or a directive is issued by the Employer that could cause the employee to substantially deviate from the previously agreed expectations, the employee may initiate and the supervisor and the employee shall mutually develop adjustments to allow the employee to carry out the changes necessary.

6.6.3 Failure to reach agreement. If the supervisor and the employee cannot mutually agree upon the performance expectations, the supervisor may unilaterally develop and implement such expectations for the employee.

6.7 Non-Job Related Illness or Injury. Legitimate, non-job related illness or injury which results in excessive absenteeism or in the inability of the employee to perform his/her duties in a safe and efficient manner may be unintentional and beyond the control of the employee. Such excessive absenteeism or inability to perform his/her duties shall be cause for counseling of the employee and shall be subject to the attendance policy applicable to the employee's work unit.

6.7.1 Work modifications. An employee who has a non-job related illness or injury may request and the Employer may grant work that she/he can perform in accordance with the

Employer's processes. For temporary work modifications, the Employer shall estimate the duration of the assignment and notify the employee as soon as possible of the anticipated completion date.

The Employer will attempt to reasonably accommodate a disabled employee, as defined under state or federal law, with a job he/she can perform in a productive manner while maintaining an acceptable attendance record.

6.7.2 Inability to perform duties. If an accommodation that is mutually agreeable to the employee or the employee's representative and the Employer cannot be found, the employee or employee's representative and the Employer may mutually agree to temporarily replace the employee for a specified time. If mutual agreement on job accommodation or temporary replacement of the employee cannot be reached, the Employer may discharge the employee for inability to efficiently or safely perform the duties of his/her position. Such discharge shall be for just cause and subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of Article 24.

6.8 Personnel Records.

6.8.1 Personnel file contents. The Employer's file pertaining to an individual employee is referred to as the employee's personnel file. The contents of each file are confidential as to the individual employee. An employee's personnel file consists of his/her centralized personnel file in Human Resources and departmental personnel file. It does not include his/her supervisor's notes file. A copy of each employee's performance appraisal shall be maintained in his or her personnel file. No ~~grievance~~ material generated during the course of a grievance shall be kept in the personnel files ~~after a grievance has been resolved except the resolution~~. An employee may include in his/her personnel file copies of any relevant material he/she wishes, such as letters of favorable comment, licenses, certificates, college course credits or any other material which reflects creditably on the employee. The Employer will provide the contents of an employee's personnel file to the Union upon specific authorization of an employee or pursuant to its legal obligation to produce information requested by the Union.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

6.8.2 Inspection. An employee may, upon request, inspect the contents and obtain copies of documents from his/her official personnel file, except for confidential reports from previous employers. If the employee submits his or her request at least fourteen (14) days prior to the requested inspection date, the Employer will provide each part of the employee's personnel file for inspection at the same location. Employees will be charged for copies at the per page rate

established by Employer policy. The Union will be provided notice and opportunity for input 60 days prior to any change in this rate.

6.8.3 Placement of documents in personnel file. The employee shall be asked to sign such material to be placed in his/her personnel files with an attached disclaimer that the employee's signature confirms only that the supervisor has discussed and given a copy of the material to the employee, and does not indicate agreement or disagreement.

If an employee is not available within a reasonable period of time to sign the material, the Employer may place the material in the files provided that a copy of the document is emailed or mailed to the employee at his/her address of record.

6.8.4 Right of rebuttal. If the employee believes that any of the above material is incorrect or a misrepresentation of facts, he/she shall be entitled to prepare in writing his/her explanation or opinion regarding the prepared material. This shall be included as part of his/her personnel record until the material is removed.

6.8.5 Removal of materials. Except as provided below, materials reflecting written disciplinary action shall be removed from an employee's active personnel file after two (2) years, upon written request of the employee to Human Resources, provided there have been no further disciplinary events of any kind during the two-year period. ~~For disciplinary action issued subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement, such~~Such documents will be removed from the employee's active personnel file into an archived file. Materials may be removed earlier upon mutual agreement of the manager and the employee. Only Human Resources personnel may have access to the archived file, except when archived records may be utilized in cases of potential discharge. If the employee has not requested removal and there have been no further disciplinary events during the two (2) year period, then the Employer will not consider the disciplinary action for purposes of progressing discipline. Exceptions are as follows:

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE (CLEAN-UP LANGUAGE).

a. These provisions shall not apply to disciplinary action of a written warning or higher for theft, willful misrepresentation, conduct threatening or endangering the safety of others in the workplace, or discrimination, harassment or assault/violence (as defined by law) against another person.

b. Verbal warnings shall be removed from the employee's file after (1) year, at the employee's request, if there have been no further disciplinary events during the one-year period.

6.9 Reporting Inappropriate Use of Resources, Waste or Fraud. Inappropriate use of Employer resources, waste or fraud shall be reported at the lowest supervisory level. Employees who believe that the lowest supervisory level is inappropriate or feel uncomfortable discussing this with their immediate supervisor are encouraged to contact the ~~University-Integrity and Compliance Office~~ Department or the applicable Executive leader. The Executive leader or his/her designee may assign investigations of inappropriate use, waste or fraud to any of the following: ~~University-Integrity-and Compliance Office~~ Department, Legal Department, Human Resources, AAEO Department, Public Safety, or any other individual or entity she/he deems appropriate.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

The Employer, to the extent consistent with its obligation to conduct a complete investigation and to take any remedial action that may be required, will seek to maintain confidentiality of the information disclosed during the investigation and will report the results of the investigation to the reporting employee. There shall be no retaliation taken against an employee who in good faith has reported inappropriate use of resources, waste or fraud, or who has cooperated in any investigation concerning such activities.

6.10 Personal Emergency Message Procedure. Personal emergency messages received by the Employer shall be delivered to the employee(s) as soon as practical after they are received, at which time the employee(s) shall be granted access to a telephone. The caller will be asked and encouraged to identify the nature of the emergency.

6.11 Personality Profiles. In the context of relationship or team building in the work unit, employees may be asked to voluntarily participate in personality profiling. Such profile will be returned only to the employee, who may or may not choose to discuss the results. Profile information will not be placed in employee personnel file(s). There will be no ramifications in employment matters for either participation or non-participation in personality profiling.

6.12 Uniforms. All Employees who are required to wear a uniform shall be furnished three (3) uniforms upon appointment unless otherwise specified by a letter of agreement between the parties. Necessary replacement uniform items will be provided as requested, up to two (2) uniforms annually, unless otherwise specified by a letter of agreement between the parties.

6.13 Contracting. The Employer may determine to contract or subcontract work, provided that as to work which is presently and regularly performed by employees in the bargaining unit, the Employer agrees to provide the Union with the opportunity to bid on such work that is being considered for contracting out in accordance with the model they have mutually developed. The Employer further agrees to negotiate, upon demand, the impact of the pending action on bargaining unit employees. It is specifically understood that the provisions of this paragraph shall apply when the contemplated contracting or subcontracting will result in the layoff of one or more employees, and that these obligations shall not apply where the impact is minimal. The severance benefit available to employees displaced as a result of contracting out is set forth in Appendix F, Section D.3. Employees who are displaced from the bargaining unit as a result of merger, joint venture or any other form of collaboration between the Employer and a third party, and who are not offered a position in a classification with similar job duties by way of a bona fide offer letter in the merged, joint venture or collaborative entity, will also be eligible for this severance benefit.

6.14 Performance Evaluations. The Employer may implement and maintain performance evaluation processes involving members of the bargaining unit. It is the goal of the Union and the Employer for all employees to have their work performance evaluated annually. It is the shared expectation that all constructive feedback, other than that gathered immediately prior to the evaluation from colleagues, will have been shared with the employee prior to the evaluation. Employees will have the right to provide a written response to any evaluation and to have the response placed in their personnel file.

ARTICLE 7. HOURS OF WORK

7.1 Work Week and Extended Work Period. An employee's workweek is a fixed and regularly recurring period of one hundred sixty-eight (168) hours consisting of seven (7) consecutive twenty-four (24) hour periods. The standard workweek is 12:01 am Monday through 12:00 midnight Sunday. Changes in the standard workweek are permitted, provided that the employee shall not suffer loss of overtime compensation during the workweek in which the change occurs. Alternatively, the Employer and an employee working in a Hospital unit may agree, before performance of work under the agreement begins, to an extended work period of fourteen (14) consecutive days in lieu of the workweek of seven (7) consecutive days.

7.2 Scheduling of Work.

7.2.1 Shifts in excess of 12 hours. Shifts in excess of twelve (12) hours affecting current employees shall not be established without the consent of the Union and the affected employee, unless the employee is exercising a layoff option pursuant to Section 19.4.

7.2.2 Split shifts. In the event the Employer wishes to change an existing shift to a split shift, the parties agree to use the process outlined in Article 3.3 Non-Contractual Standards and Benefits to resolve the matter.

7.2.3 Requests for alternate work schedules. An employee or group of employees may submit to their supervisor a written request for a work schedule that is different from the employee's existing schedule. Such requests shall be granted or denied in writing based on individual and unit needs. Open dialogue is expected regarding the reasons for granting or denial. Employees and supervisors should strive to meet the varying needs of alternate work schedule requests as individual and unit needs are considered.

7.2.4 Requests for flexible work schedules. An employee or group of employees may request and the Employer may grant a flexible work week schedule. If the flexible schedule would impact the daily overtime language set forth in Section 9.1.1, the employee may agree to waive his/her contractual right to overtime after the employee's regularly scheduled shift by signing the Voluntary Waiver of Daily Overtime form as set forth in Appendix E. A copy of this form is available from the Payroll Department.

7.2.5 Posting of varying work schedules. Varying work schedules, which exist when an employee's scheduled hours may vary from cycle to cycle, shall be posted at least twenty-eight (28) days in advance. Posted work schedules will not be changed except in an emergency or when there is mutual agreement between the employee and the supervisor. In work areas where computer access is not readily available printed work schedules shall be posted. For purposes of this provision, an emergency is defined as a situation that is unforeseen and could not be prudently planned for.

THIS IS A WIN FOR THE APPLICABLE MEMBERS.

7.2.6 Changes in work location. When the Employer has at least twenty-four (24) hours' knowledge of a need to change a work location by more than five (5) miles, the Employer shall first ask for volunteers. If there are no qualified volunteers, then the Employer may assign the

work. Employees shall be notified of their work location(s) as soon as reasonably possible. When an employee is notified of a work location change with less than forty-eight (48) hours' notice, the Employer shall make reasonable efforts to reduce hardships to the employee caused by the change.

THIS IS A WIN FOR THE APPLICABLE MEMBERS.

7.2.67 Changes in reporting time. Reporting time is the time designated or recognized as the start of the daily work shift or schedule. The Employer may, notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 7.2.5 and 7.2.7, change an employee's reporting time on a temporary basis, subject to the compensation provisions associated with failure to provide adequate notice of such change set forth in Section 9.3.

7.2.78 Changes to work schedules. The Employer may, notwithstanding the provisions of Section 18.1.1, change an employee's schedule subject to the terms of this paragraph. The Employer will use reasonable efforts to honor seniority when making work schedule changes. The Employer shall provide twenty-eight (28) days' notice and a written explanation to the employee(s) and the Union of any changes of more than one (1) hour in an employee's regular work schedule. The Employer shall provide fourteen (14) days' notice and a written explanation to the employee(s) and the Union of any changes of one (1) hour or less in an employee's regular work schedule, provided that an employee who demonstrates a scheduling hardship (due, for example, to childcare, home care or transportation concerns) shall be entitled to a full 28 days' notice. Such changes in work schedule can be implemented prior to elapsing of the required notice period upon mutual written agreement between the employee(s) and the Employer. If the change in work schedule is necessary in order to provide the employee with transitional duty while recovering from an on-the-job injury, the required notice period shall be 14 days.

THIS IS A WIN FOR THE APPLICABLE MEMBERS, GETTING THEM BACK TO WORK SOONER.

7.2.89 Non-guarantee of hours. This section shall not be construed as a guarantee of hours of work per day or per week.

7.2.910 Consecutive days of work for part-time employees. A part-time employee shall not be scheduled to work more than eight (8) consecutive days. Nor shall a part-time employee be required without his or her consent to work more than ten (10) consecutive days, provided that at least two (2) of those days are due to circumstances that are unforeseen and could not be prudently planned for. In the event that a part-time employee is required to work at least eight (8)

consecutive days, the employee thereafter will be provided at least one (1) calendar day off. If immediately following the one (1) day off the employee is again required to work one or more periods of at least eight (8) consecutive days, the employee after each such period will be provided at least two (2) calendar days off.

7.3 Report Pay. An employee who is scheduled for work, does not receive notice of shift cancellation in accordance with Section 19.11.2, and reports for work shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours. Where the scheduled shift is less than four (4) hours in duration, however, the employee shall be paid for the hours scheduled. In the event that operations are closed or curtailed due to ~~inclement weather~~ Modified Operations, Section 7.12.4 shall control.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

7.4 Availability of Additional Work. In the event that additional, non-overtime work becomes available to employees in a work unit, it shall be offered and assigned in the following order:

1. The work shall first be offered, in order of seniority, to employee(s) who have been canceled or curtailed within the current and previous pay period, who are qualified, and who have advised their supervisor in advance that they are available to perform such work. If performing the additional work would cause the employee to incur daily or weekly overtime, the employee shall be required to change any vacation or comp time used during such cancellation or curtailment to leave without pay (LWOP) to avoid the payment of overtime.

2. If no employee accepts the offered work pursuant to Paragraph 1, the work shall be offered in the following order:

FTE employees up to designated FTE in seniority order

FTE employees over designated FTE, but not overtime, in seniority order

Relief workers in seniority order

Flex workers

Temp or student workers

3. Employees may not work non-overtime regular shifts pursuant to this Section 7.4 if their current work schedule would cause such extra work to incur overtime or any other premium pay liability. This does not limit the right of employees to work overtime when overtime work is offered.

For purposes of this article, Float Pool workers participate in the assignment process as regularly scheduled FTE or flex workers.

4. If there are no volunteers, mandatory assignment of non-overtime work will apply in reverse order of seniority.

5. If the work cannot be accomplished without incurring overtime pay, the assignment shall be made according to the provisions of Section 9.1.4.

Work units are encouraged to develop a consensus process for the assignment of remaining additional work. This process should consider the availability and qualifications of personnel, efficiency of operation, employee needs and fiscal impact upon the Employer.

7.5 Rest Periods. A rest period of fifteen (15) minutes shall be permitted for all employees during each consecutive work period of four (4) hours or more. Rest periods shall be scheduled in accordance with the operating requirements of each employee's duties and shall be considered on-duty time.

If, on an occasional basis, the work does not allow the scheduling of rest periods, the employee and supervisor will make arrangements to provide rest periods at alternative times, including combining rest periods with meal periods or leaving prior to the end of the shift. In addition, an employee and his or her manager may agree to combine rest periods with meal periods on an ongoing basis if it meets operational need. When none of the options for allowing rest breaks at alternative times is feasible because of the operating requirements of the Employer, the employee will be compensated for the missed rest period at the straight time rate of pay.

7.6 Meal Periods. Employees shall be granted a non-duty meal period during each work shift of at least six (6) hours. Each non-duty meal period shall be scheduled in the middle of the work shift, or as near thereto as possible, and shall be no less than thirty (30) minutes and no more than sixty (60) minutes. Employees required to take meal periods in designated areas and/or maintain contact with their department will have their meal period considered on-duty time.

7.7 Time Off Between Regularly Scheduled Shifts. It is the parties' mutual desire that employees receive no less than ten (10) hours off between regularly scheduled shifts. A regularly scheduled shift is defined as a shift for which an employee is scheduled on a regular basis to satisfy his or her FTE level. It shall also include for purposes of this paragraph a mandatory staff meeting. In the event

that an employee works two regularly scheduled shifts on consecutive days, and the employee is required to work additional hours that would result in the employee having less than ten (10) consecutive hours off immediately preceding the regularly scheduled shift on the second consecutive day, the Employer shall choose either of the following:

a. The Employer may, if feasible, allow the employee to commence his or her next regularly scheduled shift at a later start time. The later start time shall be measured by the amount of time worked by the employee during the ten (10) hours immediately preceding the scheduled shift. Under such circumstances the amount of time between the scheduled start time and the later start time will be treated as hours worked. The provisions of Section 9.3 shall not apply in this context.

b. In the alternative, the Employer may require the employee to begin his or her next regularly scheduled shift at the normal start time. If this occurs, the employee will be compensated at his/her regular rate of pay for the amount of time worked during the 10-hour period immediately preceding the employee's next regularly scheduled shift. This compensation shall be in addition to the employee's normal compensation for all hours worked at the applicable pay rate.

Example: An employee is regularly scheduled to work from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. The employee works beyond 5:00 p.m. until 12:00 midnight. The employee is required to return to work the following day at 8:00 a.m. The employee will receive two (2) hours of additional compensation at the regular rate of pay because the employee worked two hours during the 10-hour period of 10:00 p.m. to 8:00 a.m.

If an employee requests a schedule change, makes a shift trade or otherwise volunteers to work additional hours which results in less than ten (10) hours off, he/she is not entitled to any additional compensation under this section.

7.8 On-Call. An employee shall be on-call when he or she is required to be available for work outside his/her normal working hours, is required to leave word with the Employer where he/she can be contacted during a specified period of time, and is required to be prepared to immediately commence work if the need arises. An employee shall not be on call once s/he actually commences performing assigned duties and receives the appropriate rate of pay for time worked, except that ~~Professional and Technical Employees of the Hospitals and Clinics identified as "Sector 5" employees~~ employees working in

commonly recognized professional and technical classifications in the Healthcare EOU shall continue to receive on call pay even after they commence receiving the appropriate rate of pay for time worked.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE, REMOVING OUTDATED LANGUAGE.

7.9 In-House Standby. Employees on in-house standby are required to remain in-house while not actively involved in the performance of their regular assignments or related tasks. Employees on in-house standby will be provided with ~~a private, locked sleeping room, which shall include a bed or stretcher with clean linen and blankets, desk or counter with lamp and chair, telephone and television~~ sleeping arrangements. For standby compensation, see Section 10.4.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

7.10 Shift Trades. Employees may trade regularly scheduled shifts within the same pay period with the consent of their immediate supervisor, provided that no overtime or premium pay will result from the trade.

7.11 Clean-Up Time. Whenever a job performed or the material or equipment utilized has caused an employee to become dirty pursuant to department-based guidelines, the employee shall be allowed a reasonable amount of time without loss of pay prior to any meal period or prior to the completion of his/her work day to clean him/herself. In those areas where special clothing is required and furnished by the Employer, changing into street clothing will be considered part of the employee's workday.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

7.12 ~~Inelement Weather~~Modified Operations. The Employer may, in its discretion, decide to modify its operations for safety and security reasons, including periods of severe inclement weather conditions. During modified operations the Employer may close selected portions of its operations and/or cancel schedules of staff whose classification is not a critical function as defined under the Employer's Modified Operations policy~~because of inclement weather~~. Work areas which operate on a continuous twenty four (24) hour basis will remain open at all times. In the event of modified operations being inclement weather declared by the President or their designee~~Provost or designee~~, the following rules will apply:

7.12.1 Shuttle buses. ~~Should conditions warrant it, The-the~~ Employer shall make reasonable attempts to have the shuttle buses run on a modified ~~inclement weather~~ route to ensure employees' safe transportation to and from the Employer's satellite parking lots at no charge.

7.12.2 Report to work late. When ~~modified operations has been declared and~~ the employee's work area remains open, the employee shall suffer no loss of pay if the employee has made every reasonable effort to report to work as scheduled and arrives within two (2) hours of ~~their his/her~~ scheduled start time. Employees arriving greater than two hours late due to ~~such conditions inclement weather~~ shall be paid based upon actual hours worked.

7.12.3 Inability to report to work. When the employee's work area remains open but the employee is unable to report to work because of inclement weather, the time loss is considered leave without pay. Even when inclement weather is not declared, if an employee makes reasonable efforts to report to work as scheduled but is unable to do so due to severe weather conditions, the resulting absence or late report will not count as an attendance occurrence. In either of these cases, employees upon request shall be granted use of accrued vacation or compensation time.

7.12.4 Closing, curtailment or delayed start of operations. When ~~modified operations weather conditions~~ require cancellation of a shift or a delayed start of operations, the two (2) hour notice provision of Section 19.11.2 shall apply. In such circumstances, the notice provisions of Section 9.3 shall not apply. When ~~weather~~ conditions require the closing or curtailment of operations after the employee reports to work, the employee shall be paid for the remainder of his/her work shift.

7.12.5 Make-up for time lost. At the discretion of the immediate supervisor, an employee may make up time lost, provided it does not require the payment of overtime or premium pay.

7.12.6 Reasonable efforts when modified operations is not declared. ~~Even when modified operations is not declared, if an employee makes reasonable efforts to report to work as scheduled but is unable to do so due to severe conditions (such as severe inclement weather), the resulting absence or late report will not count as an attendance occurrence.~~

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE AND UPDATES "INCLEMENT WEATHER" TO "MODIFIED OPERATIONS."

ARTICLE 8. COMPENSATION

8.1 Across the Board Increases. The Employer shall provide across the board wage adjustments for all classified employees covered by this Agreement as follows:

~~3.0% effective the first full pay period following ratification~~

~~2.25% effective the first full pay period following July 1, 2016~~

~~2.25% effective the first full pay period following July 1, 2017~~

~~2.5% effective the first full pay period following July 1, 2018~~

3.25% effective at the start of the second full pay period following ratification

3% effective the first full pay period after July 1, 2020

3% effective the first full pay period after July 1, 2021

THIS IS A HISTORIC WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS.

The wages in effect for all classifications covered by this Agreement shall be set forth in the OHSU Compensation Plan, which is posted on the Employer's intranet.

8.2 Progression Increases. Employees shall be eligible for consideration for wage increases on the first payroll period following completion of the initial twenty-six (26) payroll periods of continuous service as defined in Article 17, and annual periods thereafter until the employee has reached the maximum pay rate of the applicable pay range. The annual date for such eligibility is referred to herein as the anniversary increase date.

8.2.1 Progression within quartiles. Each pay range shall be divided into quartiles, with a minimum, 25th percentile, mid-point, 75th percentile and maximum. Progression increases for employees in each quartile will be as follows:

First Quartile: ——— 4.25%

Second Quartile: ——— 3.00%

Third Quartile: ——— 2.75%

Fourth Quartile: ——— 2.50%

~~Effective the first full pay period following January 1, 2016, progression increases for employees in each quartile will be as follows:~~

THIS CHANGE REMOVES OUTDATED LANGUAGE.

First Quartile:	4.00%
Second Quartile:	2.75%
Third Quartile:	2.00%
Fourth Quartile:	1.50%

8.2.2 Longevity rate. A longevity rate exists at 3% above the maximum of the range. Employees will be eligible for movement to the longevity rate after serving five (5) consecutive full years in the same classification at the range maximum.

8.2.3 Withholding of wage increase. A wage increase shall not be withheld without first providing written notice to an employee including the reason(s) withheld. Such notice shall be provided to the employee prior to the anniversary increase date. Withholding an increase shall be considered a disciplinary action.

8.3 Merit-Based Adjustments. The wage rates referenced in Section 8.1 constitute the minimum compensation levels to be provided to an employee. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as prohibiting the Employer from providing an employee at any time with a merit-based adjustment or lump sum bonus as determined by the Employer in its sole discretion. The Employer will permit the Union the opportunity to recommend, through an appropriate advisory committee, criteria for the Employer's consideration of any lump sum bonus program.

8.4 Market-Based Adjustments. In addition to the pay adjustments provided above, the parties shall maintain a separate process for the annual determination of market based wage adjustments for designated classifications.

8.4.1 Annual review. The parties agree to meet annually to review information related to jobs for which market comparison, recruitment and/or retention are of concern to either party, and to develop joint recommendations to the executive leadership of the affected Administrative units. The Market-Based Wage Committee conducting this review will be comprised of up to five (5) representatives appointed by each party. Up to two (2) bargaining unit members shall be released with pay to attend the review if they provide advance notice of the meeting to their supervisor at least seven (7) days in advance.

8.4.2 Survey information. The parties will continue to utilize the best available data synthesized by the Employer and will continue to consider employers in the Portland metropolitan area to be appropriate market comparators. The Employer will continue its practice of permitting the Union to review survey data upon request. The Union agrees to review and utilize such data only for the purposes set forth in this section.

8.4.3 Upward adjustment. In the event that the pay range for a classification is adjusted upward pursuant to this Section 8.4, any pay adjustment for employees in that classification will be recommended by the Market-Based Wage Committee. Employees who receive no pay increase shall retain their original anniversary increase date. The new anniversary increase date of employees who receive a pay increase will be the first day of the pay period after twelve (12) months have passed.

8.4.4 Downward adjustment. In the event that the pay range for a classification is adjusted downward pursuant to this Section 8.4, the pay rate of employees in that classification will remain unchanged. If the employee's rate is over the maximum of the new range, the employee's pay will be frozen and the employee will not receive any increase on base pay until the top of the new range has exceeded the frozen rate of pay.

8.5 Salary Adjustments upon Change in Status.

8.5.1 Voluntary demotion. Pay for an employee voluntarily demoting to a job classification in a lower pay range shall be set at a rate mutually agreed to by the employee and the manager. The employee's new pay rate, however, shall not be lower than the midpoint of the range into which the employee is demoting. In the event the midpoint represents an increase, the employee's new pay rate will be no less than the employee's current pay rate, provided that rate does not exceed the range maximum. Where an employee is demoting to a position for which s/he is not fully qualified but for which the Employer is willing to train the employee, the new wage rate will be determined in accordance with Section 18.4.

8.5.2 Involuntary demotion. When an employee is involuntarily demoted for non-disciplinary reasons, the following provisions shall apply:

- a.* Whenever an employee demotes to a job classification in a lower range, the employee will maintain the same wage rate in the lower range except as provided in subparagraph b below.

b. Whenever an employee demotes to a job classification in a lower range, but the employee's previous wage is above the maximum rate for the lower range, the employee shall be paid at the maximum rate for that pay range.

When an employee is involuntary demoted as a result of disciplinary action, the employee will be placed on the pay range at a rate commensurate with his/her experience for the position.

8.5.3 Promotion. An employee upon promotion shall receive a pay increase of at least four percent (4%). Management has the discretion to award a higher increase based on the individual circumstances. The employee's new anniversary increase date will be the first day of the pay period following twelve (12) months in the new position.

8.5.4 Lateral transfer. An employee's pay rate shall remain the same when transferring from one position to another which has the same pay range.

8.X Upward Adjustments. The wage rates referenced in Section 8.1 constitute the minimum compensation levels to be provided to an employee. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as prohibiting the Employer from, in its sole discretion, providing an employee at any time with an upward adjustment of the employee's wage rate.

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS, ADDING A CIRCUMSTANCE IN WHICH A MANAGER CAN GRANT AN EMPLOYEE A PAY INCREASE.

8.6 Reclassification.

8.6.1 Upward reclassification. An employee's rate of pay upon upward reclassification shall be at the minimum pay rate in the new pay range, unless the old pay rate was higher than such minimum pay rate. In that case, the new rate of pay shall reflect a pay increase of at least four percent (4%). Management has the discretion to award a higher increase based on the individual circumstances. The effective date of reclassification payment shall be the first pay period following receipt of the reclassification request by the Human Resources Department. The employee's new anniversary increase date will be the first day of the pay period following twelve (12) months in the new class.

8.6.2 Downward reclassification. When an employee is reclassified downward as described in Section 21.4, the employee's pay rate will remain unchanged unless the employee's rate is over the maximum of the lower range. In such a case, if the employee's rate is at or above

the longevity rate of the lower range, the employee will receive the longevity rate; if the employee's rate is below the longevity rate of the lower range, the employee will be placed at the maximum pay rate for the lower range and will maintain prior years of credit toward the longevity rate.

8.7 Return from Layoff to Same Job Classification. When an employee is placed from the preferential hire list (PHL) to a position in the same class in which the person was previously employed, the employee shall be paid at the same rate at which he or she was being paid. When an employee separates from the Employer as a result of layoff and subsequently returns to the same job classification with the Employer, the employee's previous anniversary increase date shall be adjusted by the amount of time served on the preferential hire list.

8.8 Travel Expenses and Allowances. Travel expenses and allowances shall be in accordance with the Employer's policies. In the event that the Employer seeks to make a substantive change in its policies, it will notify the Union of such change at least thirty (30) days prior to implementation, and will bargain upon request regarding such change.

8.9 Final Paychecks. When an employee is involuntarily terminated, the Employer shall deliver the final paycheck to the employee at the same time and in the same manner as the written notice of such action. When an employee voluntarily resigns, the employee shall receive his/her final paycheck on the next regularly scheduled pay day.

8.10 Overpayments and Underpayments. An employee must notify the Payroll Department immediately upon becoming aware that he or she has received an overpayment. In the event of overpayment, the Employer may obtain repayment from the employee by payroll deduction for up to twelve (12) months of such overpayments preceding the date of the employee's notification to Payroll or of the Employer's notification to the employee of such overpayment. Absent special circumstances, the employee will be allowed to repay the total overpaid amount over the same period as the overpayments were made, up to a maximum of twelve (12) months or the employee's termination of employment, whichever occurs first. In the event of underpayment, retroactive adjustment shall, unless otherwise required by the law, be applied to the period of the error, not to exceed twelve (12) months of such underpayments preceding the date of either the employee's notification to Payroll or Payroll's notification to the employee of the error.

ARTICLE 9. OVERTIME AND PREMIUM PAY

9.1 Overtime.

9.1.1 Definition of overtime. Overtime for employees working a standard 40-hour work week is time worked in excess of the employee's regularly scheduled shift, provided the shift is not less than eight (8) hours, or in excess of forty (40) hours per week. Overtime for employees working an alternative 80-hour work period in Hospital units is time worked in excess of eight (8) hours in a day or eighty (80) hours in a fourteen (14) day work period. Overtime for employees working a split shift is time worked in excess of twelve (12) hours.

9.1.2 Overtime compensation. Employees shall be compensated for overtime worked at the rate of one and one-half (1 ½) times their regular rate of pay as defined under applicable wage and hour law ~~for overtime worked~~. No application of this section shall be construed or interpreted to provide for compensation for overtime at a rate exceeding time and one-half (1 ½) or to effect a "pyramiding" of overtime and all forms of premium pay. Employees required to work scheduled overtime, which is defined as overtime work requirements of which the Employer is aware at least five (5) days in advance, shall be compensated for a minimum of one (1) hour at the overtime rate.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

9.1.3 Calculation of overtime. All straight time hours worked by an employee as well as utilized accrued vacation time will be used in the calculation of overtime. Overtime hours, on-call time, and on-call hours worked at the rate of time and one-half outside of an employee's regularly scheduled hours shall not be counted as time worked in the calculation of overtime.

9.1.4 Scheduling and assignment of overtime. The Employer shall give reasonable notice of any overtime to be worked. Each work unit, with consensus of the employees, shall have the opportunity to develop creative methods of overtime scheduling. In units that do not develop such methods, the following rules apply:

a. Overtime work shall be offered to those employees in the work unit and in the applicable classification who are eligible and qualified to perform the work, and shall be given to the most senior employees who accept the offer of overtime. To be eligible for the overtime, an employee must be available to work the entire overtime period and must have indicated such availability by signing up on an availability list maintained on the work unit.

An employee's consistent unavailability for overtime opportunities, however, will result in the employee's removal from the list.

b. The Employer may, in lieu of offering overtime work under subparagraph *a*, assign overtime for the conclusion of work in process to the employee currently engaged in the work.

c. In the event that no employee accepts the offer of overtime and subparagraph *b* does not apply, the overtime shall be assigned to qualified employees in the work unit on a rotating basis beginning with the least senior employee. An employee who affirmatively demonstrates that assignment of the overtime on the particular occasion will result in a personal hardship will be skipped in the rotation.

d. If the need for overtime arises within two (2) hours of the end of the shift, the Employer's initial obligation under subparagraph *a* is limited to offering the overtime work to employees on duty. If no such employee accepts the offer of overtime, then the Employer may assign the overtime to employees on duty, and otherwise in accordance with subparagraph *c*. For single-shift operations, the Employer has no further obligations under this paragraph. For multi-shift operations, the assignment of mandatory overtime to employees on duty shall be for the first two (2) hours beyond the shift. The Employer will then offer the work to other qualified and eligible employees in accordance with subparagraph *a*. If no such employee accepts the offer of overtime, then the employee(s) assigned the overtime will continue to work for the duration of the overtime period.

e. The Employer will ~~pay~~ reimburse taxi fare ~~at its direction~~ for an employee required to work beyond the employee's scheduled shift if (1) the employee was first notified of the mandatory overtime when working the scheduled shift and (2) the employee's regular mode of transportation is unavailable at the conclusion of the overtime assignment.

THIS WILL BE AN INCONVENIENCE FOR MEMBERS WHO NEED TO USE THIS LANGUAGE.

f. No employee shall be assigned mandatory overtime for more than sixty (60) hours per calendar quarter.

g. The health and safety of employees and clients shall be considered in granting overtime; therefore, employees shall be limited to working no more than sixteen (16) hours (to include regular shift plus overtime) within a twenty-four (24) hour period. In the rare event that an employee is required to work more than sixteen (16) consecutive hours, work performed beyond the consecutive sixteen (16) hours will be paid at two (2) times the employee's regular rate of pay (i.e., double time).

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS — IN THE PAST WE HAD TO GRIEVE EACH INSTANCE, BUT NOW IT WILL BE PRACTICE.

h. In all cases of an emergency, the Employer may assign overtime to any employee as operating needs require. Supervisors shall not perform overtime work normally done by employees working under the jurisdiction of this Agreement, except in an emergency or in lieu of assigning mandatory overtime. For purposes of this provision, an emergency is defined as a situation that is unforeseen and could not be prudently planned for.

9.1.5 Compensatory time. In lieu of receiving payment for overtime hours, an employee may request in writing, and the employee's supervisor may approve, to deposit in the employee's compensatory time bank the hours worked (at the rate of time and one-half the actual overtime hours worked), up to a maximum of eighty (80) hours. In the event of mandatory overtime, supervisory approval will not be required.

9.2 Call Back. Call-back compensation shall apply when an employee who is on-call is called back to work. It shall also apply when an employee who has been released from duty and is not on-call is called in to work and is then released from duty prior to the employee's next reporting time.

9.2.1 Compensation rate. An employee who is called back to work shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours at the premium rate of pay of one and one-half (1 ½) times the employee's straight rate of pay. After two (2) hours of work in each call-back instance, the employee will be compensated at the appropriate rate of pay for time worked. An employee may elect in writing, in lieu of cash payment and without supervisory approval, to deposit the premium portion (½ x) of callback hours worked in the employee's compensatory time bank, consistent with the provisions of Section 9.1.5.

9.2.2 Commencement of compensation. Call-back compensation will commence when the employee actually begins work. Where, however, an employee is directed to report for

transportation to a location other than an Employer work site, call-back compensation will commence at the time of departure from the employee's residence.

9.2.3 Mileage reimbursement. The employee who is called back shall receive private car mileage, both ways, between home and the duty station at the rate prescribed in Section 8.8.

9.3 Change in Reporting Time. When the Employer wishes to change an employee's reporting time, as defined in Section 7.2.6, the following rules will apply:

a. One hour or less. An employee's reporting time may be changed up to one (1) hour earlier or one (1) hour later, without penalty, if the employee is notified a minimum of twelve (12) hours before the next regularly scheduled reporting time. If the employee's reporting time is changed without the required notice, the employee shall be entitled to payment at the premium rate of time and one-half (1 ½) the straight rate of pay for the first two (2) hours worked.

b. More than one hour, up to two hours. An employee's reporting time may be changed more than one (1) hour and up to two (2) hours earlier, or more than one (1) hour and up to two (2) hours later, without penalty, if the employee is notified a minimum of twenty-four (24) hours before the next regularly scheduled reporting time. If the employee's reporting time is changed without the required notice, the employee shall be entitled to payment at the premium rate of time and one-half (1 ½) the straight rate of pay for the first two (2) hours worked.

c. More than two hours. An employee's reporting time may be changed more than two (2) hours earlier or two (2) hours later, without penalty, if the employee is notified a minimum of five (5) days in advance. If the employee's reporting time is changed without the required notice, the employee shall be entitled to payment at the premium rate of time and one-half (1 ½) the straight rate of pay for all time worked before or after his/her regularly scheduled shift until the notice requirement is met. When an employee's reporting time is changed without the required notice for one (1) day only, the employee shall be entitled to payment at time and one-half (1 ½) for the first two (2) hours worked.

d. Non-applicability of section. This Section 9.3 shall not apply in the following circumstances:

- (1) A change in reporting time is requested by an employee and approved by the Employer.

(2) An employee is notified of a later reporting time with the same ending time for the shift (in which case the two (2) hour notice provision of Section 19.11.2 shall apply).

(3) An employee has agreed to have his or her name placed on a list of volunteers who are agreeable to a change in reporting time without the notice or premium pay requirements of this section.

9.4 Work on Recognized Holiday. Employees who work on a recognized holiday as described in Article 11.3 shall be compensated, in addition to holiday pay as described therein, at the premium rate of one and one-half (1 ½) times their straight rate of pay.

ARTICLE 10. DIFFERENTIAL PAY

10.1 Shift Differential.

10.1.1 Eligibility. Employees shall be eligible for the evening shift differential when at least one-half (½) of the scheduled hours of their shift fall between the hours of 4:00 p.m. and 12:00 a.m. midnight. Employees shall be eligible for the night shift differential when at least one-half (½) of the scheduled hours of their work shift fall between the hours of 12:00 a.m. midnight and 8:00 a.m. The shift differential shall apply to all hours worked during the shift. If an employee works one-half (½) of his/her shift in each of the time periods designated as “shifts,” the employee shall receive the higher differential for all hours worked.

10.1.2 Rates. Evening shift differential shall be paid at 7% of the straight hourly rate of pay or \$1.36, whichever is greater. Night shift differential shall be paid at 12.5% of the straight hourly rate of pay or \$2.65 per hour, whichever is greater.

10.1.3 Work beyond assigned shift. Employees who work two (2) or more hours beyond their assigned day shift will be paid evening shift differential for all time subsequently worked. Employees who work two (2) or more hours beyond their assigned evening shift will be paid night shift differential for all time subsequently worked. Employees who work beyond their assigned night shift will continue to receive night shift differential for all such hours worked.

10.2 On-Call Pay. Employees shall be paid one (1) hour’s pay at the straight time rate for each six (6) hours of assigned on-call duty. Employees who are assigned on-call duty for less than six (6) hours shall be paid on a prorated basis. In the event that an employee has at least 84 days’ advance notice of on-

call scheduling, the employee may request, and the employee's supervisor may approve, in lieu of cash payment, to deposit all or a portion of such on-call pay into the employee's compensatory time bank, consistent with Section 9.1.5. If an employee has less than 84 days' advance notice, the employee may elect to deposit all or a portion of such on-call pay into his/her compensatory time bank without supervisory approval.

10.3 Work from Home. Employees answering calls while on-call from home and performing work at home shall be compensated at the appropriate rate of pay (including overtime, shift differential and/or any other applicable compensation) for the following minimum time periods:

30 minutes for 0-6 minutes of work performed ~~0-6 minutes~~

1 hour for 7-30 minutes of work performed ~~6-30 minutes~~

2 hours for 31 minutes – 2 hours of work performed ~~30 minutes – 2 hours~~

Actual time worked for greater than two hours of work performed ~~2 hours or greater~~

All time logged shall be paid either straight time or overtime, whichever is applicable, in addition to the employee's on-call pay. At no time shall an employee be compensated for more hours than their scheduled on-call hours while performing on-call services under this section.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

10.3.1 Multiple calls. If the time from the end of work on the first call to the beginning of the second call is less than twenty (20) minutes, the two (or more) calls shall be treated as a single call. If the time from the end of work on the first call is more than twenty (20) minutes, the second call shall be treated as a separate event and be compensated accordingly.

10.3.2 When call-back is required. If the phone call is only to notify the employee that she/he must return to the Employer's premises to perform work and no effort is made to resolve the problem from home, no compensation is owing under this Section 10.3. If, on the other hand, the employee makes an attempt to resolve the problem and performs work at home, she/he shall be paid in accordance with this section even if the attempt is not successful and the employee must return to the Employer's premises and is compensated in accordance with Section 9.2.

10.4 In-House Standby Compensation. Employees shall receive an in-house standby differential of \$5.00 per hour. The Employer agrees to provide an hourly compensation in excess of \$5.00 per hour consistent with current practice, if any, for any applicable department. Upon notification by

either telephone or beeper that the employee's services are needed, the in-house standby differential will be suspended, and the employee will be compensated at the appropriate rate of pay. When all duties are completed, in-house standby compensation will resume.

10.5 Lead Work. Employees shall receive a five percent (5%) differential for work performing assigned lead work duties for four (4) consecutive hours or more. Lead work duties shall be assigned by the supervisor to employees who while performing essentially the same duties as workers led are directed to assign and reassign tasks to accomplish prescribed work efficiently; give direction to workers concerning work procedures; transmit established standards of performance to workers; review work of employees for conformance to standards; provide informational assessment of workers' performance to supervisors; and orient new employees.

Where lead work differential is applicable to all hours worked in a month it shall be applied to all hours paid. Where the lead work differential is earned intermittently during a month it shall be applied only to hours worked as a lead worker.

10.6 Bilingual Differential. The Employer agrees to pay a bilingual differential of five percent (5%) of the straight rate of pay for all compensated hours to employees who meet all of the following criteria and who are not currently employed in the ~~Translation and Interpreter~~ Language Services Department:

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

1. The Employer has assigned the employee to communicate with the Employer's customers (patients, faculty, and staff) in a recognized and approved language other than the English language for a minimum of four (4) hours a week.
2. The Employer has determined that proficiency in the specified language is an essential element of the job as set forth in the employee's job description.
3. The employee has successfully completed the Employer's language examination confirming his/her bilingual proficiency in English and the specified language.

Employees who are not receiving a bilingual differential because they do not meet all of the foregoing criteria shall not be required to perform bilingual work. Additional bilingual compensation may be provided based on the Employer's policy. If additional compensation is provided, the policy will be consistently applied to bargaining unit employees.

10.7 High Elevation Work. Employees shall receive a one dollar (\$1.00) per hour differential for all hours worked at least twenty (20) feet off the ground on a ladder, scaffold or other similar device or structure.

10.8 Inclement Weather Team. Employees working on the inclement weather team will receive ~~\$8.00~~ \$10.00 per hour in addition to any premium pay normally provided for time worked on the team as authorized by the ~~inclement weather team~~ snow boss.

THIS IS A WIN FOR THE APPLICABLE MEMBERS.

10.9 Transport Work. The Employer agrees to pay each PANDA employee a bonus of ~~\$65.00~~ \$75.00 in addition to his/her regular rate of pay for each transport assignment. This flat rate shall apply regardless of whether the transport work is performed during overtime or premium pay hours. The Employer agrees to contract only with transport services that are in compliance with Federal and State laws and regulations applicable to such transport. The Employer shall provide Accidental death and dismemberment insurance in the amount of \$500,000 for authorized PANDA employees who are engaged in air transport.

THIS IS A WIN FOR THE APPLICABLE MEMBERS.

10.10 Work Out of Classification. The purpose of work out of classification (WOC) pay is to satisfy short-term and intermediate operational needs by compensating employees appropriately for the performance of work at a higher level.

10.10.1 When an employee is assigned by the Employer for a minimum of four (4) hours within one shift to perform the major distinguishing duties of a position at a higher level classification, the employee shall be paid a differential of at least four percent (4%) of the employee's straight rate of pay up to the maximum rate of the higher classification's range. When the assigned duties are not contained in an existing classification, but require substantially greater knowledge, skill and abilities than the assigned classification the employee shall receive a minimum five percent (5%) differential.

10.10.2 The Employer will identify in writing job duties involved in WOC of an ongoing regular nature, where WOC pay is incorporated into the employee's straight rate of pay. Such WOC shall be reviewed no later than six (6) months following the beginning of the work. At that time the manager will either discontinue the WOC, extend the WOC, or implement the reclassification process pursuant to Section 21.2.

10.10.3 The Employer will not assign uncompensated WOC to fill in for a regular position vacancy or when a position that has been vacated is not posted.

10.10.4 Employees are encouraged to express interest in work outside the scope of their current work duties and responsibilities as part of the performance appraisal process, in an individual development plan, or otherwise in writing.

10.11 Weekend Differential. A differential of fifty cents (\$0.50) per hour shall be paid to employees for all hours actually worked between 11:00 p.m. Friday through 11:00 p.m. Sunday.

THIS IS A HISTORIC WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS.

ARTICLE 11. HOLIDAYS

11.1 Recognized Holidays. The following holidays shall be recognized:

- a.* New Year's Day on January 1.
- b.* Martin Luther King's Birthday on the third Monday in January.
- c.* President's Day on the third Monday in February.
- d.* Memorial Day on the last Monday in May.
- e.* Independence Day on July 4
- f.* Labor Day on the first Monday in September.
- g.* Thanksgiving Day on the fourth Thursday in November.
- h.* Christmas Day on December 25.
- i.* Any day appointed by the Employer's Board of Directors.

In work areas operating predominantly on a seven (7) day operations schedule and/or designated by Hospital Administration as working a holiday schedule, the recognized holiday shall be the actual holiday specified above. In all other areas, if the holiday specified in this section falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be recognized as the holiday; and if the holiday specified in this section falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be recognized as the holiday.

11.2 Holiday Compensation. All full-time and part-time employees will be entitled to holiday compensation at their straight time hourly rate of pay on all recognized holidays based on their FTE status, provided the employee is in pay status the employee's entire scheduled work shift preceding the holiday and the employee's entire scheduled work shift after the holiday.

An employee will be considered in pay status the entire scheduled work shift even if the employee is tardy up to one (1) hour, provided the employee is not under discipline for attendance reasons. Full-time employees shall be entitled to eight (8) hours' compensation. Part-time employees shall be entitled to a prorated number of hours based on their FTE status at the time of the holiday. Employees eligible for holiday compensation may elect to utilize available compensatory time or vacation accruals to make up the difference between their holiday compensation and the amount they would have earned had they worked their full shift on the holiday.

If a relief employee works during a holiday, the employee will receive four (4) additional hours of pay at the straight rate of pay.

11.3 Work on a Holiday. Employees who work on a recognized holiday shall be additionally compensated at the rate of one and one-half (1 ½) times their straight rate of pay for all hours worked. This premium rate of pay for work on a holiday applies for all time worked from 0001 to 2400 hours on the holiday. An employee may request in writing, and the employee's supervisor may approve, in lieu of cash payment, to deposit the premium portion (½ x) of the holiday hours worked in the employee's compensatory time bank, consistent with the provisions of Section 9.1.5.

11.4 Holiday Work Schedules. Employees shall normally be notified of holiday work schedules at least twenty-eight (28) days in advance, except in situations over which the Employer has no control.

ARTICLE 12. VACATIONS

12.1 Accrual of Vacation Time.

~~a. — All full-time, part-time, and relief employees employed prior to September 11, 1998 will earn the following vacation time for each hour paid up to the maximums listed below based on full-time hours paid (1.0 FTE):~~

YEARS OF SERVICE	RATE PER PAID REGULAR HOUR	NUMBER OF DAYS PER YEAR	NUMBER OF HRS. PER YEAR
In 1st through 5th year	.0615 PER HOUR PAID	16	128
After 5th through 10th year	.0731 PER HOUR PAID	19	152

After 10th through 15th year	.0846 PER HOUR PAID	22	176
After 15th through 20th year	.0962 PER HOUR PAID	25	200
After 20 th year	.1077 PER HOUR PAID	28	224

THIS LANGUAGE HAS BEEN MOVED ELSEWHERE IN THE CONTRACT.

b. — All full-time, part-time, and relief employees employed on or after September 11, 1998 will earn the following vacation time for each hour paid up to the maximums listed below based on full-time hours paid (1.0 FTE).

Until Pay Period 1 2020:

YEARS OF SERVICE	RATE PER PAID REGULAR HOUR	NUMBER OF DAYS PER YEAR	NUMBER OF HRS. PER YEAR
In 1st through 5th year	.0461 PER HOUR PAID	12	96
After 5th through 10th year	.0576 PER HOUR PAID	15	120
After 10th through 15th year	.0692 PER HOUR PAID	18	144
After 15th through 20th year	.0807 PER HOUR PAID	21	168
After 20th year	.0923 PER HOUR PAID	24	192

Effective Pay Period 1 2020:

YEARS OF SERVICE	RATE PER PAID REGULAR HOUR	NUMBER OF DAYS PER YEAR	NUMBER OF HRS. PER YEAR
<u>In 1st through 5th year</u>	<u>.05 PER HOUR PAID</u>	<u>13</u>	<u>104</u>
<u>After 5th through 10th year</u>	<u>.0615 PER HOUR PAID</u>	<u>16</u>	<u>128</u>

<u>YEARS OF SERVICE</u>	<u>RATE PER PAID REGULAR HOUR</u>	<u>NUMBER OF DAYS PER YEAR</u>	<u>NUMBER OF HRS. PER YEAR</u>
<u>After 10th through 15th year</u>	<u>.0731 PER HOUR PAID</u>	<u>19</u>	<u>152</u>
<u>After 15th through 20th year</u>	<u>.0846 PER HOUR PAID</u>	<u>22</u>	<u>176</u>
<u>After 20th year</u>	<u>.0962 PER HOUR PAID</u>	<u>25</u>	<u>200</u>

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS.

12.1.1 Years of service. Time spent by an employee in the Peace Corps, military, educational, or job incurred disability leave without pay shall be considered in determining years of service for purposes of vacation accrual.

12.1.2 Restoration of accrual rates. Employees who, following termination of employment, return to a regular position within two (2) years shall be given credit for years of service prior to their termination. All time employed outside of the bargaining unit, including periods with academic rank, shall be counted as long as there is not a break in service of more than two (2) years.

12.1.3 Change in accrual rate. An employee's change to a higher accrual rate based on years of service will be effective at the beginning of the pay period following the applicable adjusted service date.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

12.2 Rate of Pay. Compensation for use of accrued vacation shall be at the employee's prevailing straight time rate of pay.

12.43 Use of Vacation. Vacation benefits shall be used for scheduled absence at the discretion of the employee consistent with the scheduling provisions of Section 12.4. Vacation may also be used for unscheduled absences consistent with the Oregon Family Leave Act (OFLA) and the Family Medical

Leave Act (FMLA). An employee shall notify his/her supervisor in writing of the amounts and type of each accrued leave time (vacation or compensatory time) to be used for the paid leave prior to the taking of the leave.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

12.4 Scheduling of Vacations.

12.4.1 Unit procedures. Managers and employees in each work unit are strongly encouraged to utilize the consensus process to develop procedures for requesting and granting time off for vacations and holidays that best suit the needs and demands of that unit. Such procedures may vary in whole or in part from the provisions of this Section 12.4, which shall apply only if such consensus-based procedures are not developed in the work unit.

12.4.2 Vacation opportunities. The Employer recognizes its obligation to provide employees with the opportunity to utilize a combination of accrued vacation benefits and compensatory time each year at each employee's annual vacation accrual level. The Employer shall use its best efforts to provide vacation time off at times requested by employees consistent with the Employer's operational needs. The Employer will determine, as of December 31st of each year, the number of employees to be off at any one time throughout the vacation year as described below in Section 12.4.3. Nothing prevents the Employer from offering additional vacation opportunities at various times during the year if business conditions permit.

12.4.3 Submission and granting of vacation and holiday time off requests. For the vacation year beginning on May 1st and continuing through April 30th of the following year, regular employees and relief employees will initially submit their written vacation and holiday time off requests in two rounds. All requests for scheduled time off will include last day available to work and first day returning to work. Vacation requests for a block of time that encompasses a recognized holiday are deemed to include the holiday. Vacation and holiday time off requests will be granted consistent with the needs of the Employer and the opportunities posted in Section 12.4.2. If two or more employees request paid leave for the same or overlapping time periods, but one or more of these requests cannot be granted and the matter cannot be resolved by agreement between the employees concerned, the employee having the greatest seniority shall be granted the paid leave.

- a. Vacation year opportunities will be posted no later than January 10th.

b. For the first round, employees must submit their requests no later than January 31st. No more than four (4) total weeks of total time off, and no more than four (4) separate requests for time off, will be granted for any employee in this round. No more than three (3) of the recognized holidays listed in Section 11.1 may be included in an employee's first round requests. Managers or their designees will notify employees whether their requests have been granted or denied and will post the approved vacations no later than February 21st.

c. Once every five (5) years, an employee may request in the first round a block of time off greater than four (4) and not more than six (6) weeks. In the event that not all such requests on a work unit may be granted, requests will be granted on a rotational basis, beginning with the most senior employee.

d. For the second round, employees must submit their requests no later than March 10th. There are no limitations in this round on the number of requests or the aggregate time off requested. Managers or their designees will notify employees whether their requests have been granted or denied and will post approved vacations and holidays no later than March 31st.

e. Written paid leave requests submitted after March 10th, except when leave is otherwise allowed by federal or state law, must be submitted two pay periods in advance for paid leaves of one (1) week or more, and as much time in advance as possible for paid leaves of less than one (1) week. Such requests will be granted on a first-come first-served basis. Requests for leave of one week or more shall be granted or denied within fourteen (14) days of the request. Requests for leaves of less than one week shall be granted or denied as soon as possible based on available time off as designated by the manager. The approved paid leave schedule will be visibly posted in the work area.

12.4.4 Notice of paid leave cancellation. Employees must provide at least forty-five (45) days' notice of cancellation of a paid leave of one (1) week or more. Employees must provide at least thirty (30) days' notice of cancellation of a paid leave of less than one (1) week when position replacement during the leave is required. Employees must provide at least two (2) days' notice of cancellation of a paid leave of less than one (1) week when position replacement during the leave is not required. If an employee fails to provide notice required under this paragraph, the Employer has no obligation to schedule the employee for work during the paid leave.

12.4.5 Ineligibility for previously approved vacation. Employees are required to have sufficient accrued vacation and compensatory time to cover the entire paid leave at the time of use. An employee will be considered ineligible for a previously approved leave if, as of the date of the posting of the schedule during which the paid leave is scheduled (or thirty (30) days prior to the scheduled leave on units where a schedule is not posted), it is apparent that the employee will not have sufficient accrued time to cover the scheduled leave. If the employee still desires the time off, it shall be treated as a request for unpaid leave.

12.4.6 Other changes to previously approved vacation. An employee who seeks to change his/her previously approved paid leave period shall be allowed to do so based on available time off as designated by the manager. No such change shall require any other employee to change that employee's paid leave schedule.

12.5 Accrual Limit. The maximum vacation accrual will be three hundred (300) hours. When an employee reaches the accrual of two hundred fifty (250) hours of vacation, the employee may request and the Employer shall arrange for the employee to take time off if operating requirements permit. Employees are responsible for utilizing their vacation time in a manner that does not put them at risk of exceeding the 300-hour maximum, and managers are responsible for providing employees with the opportunity to so utilize their vacation time. The Employer will provide bargaining unit employees semiannually, in October and April, with a notice advising them of the limitation on accruals and the cash out option.

12.6 Cashout of Accrued Time.

12.6.1 Pay upon termination. An employee who is laid off or terminates after thirteen (13) full pay periods of service shall be paid upon termination from service for accrued vacation hours not to exceed two hundred fifty (250) hours. An employee may not receive cash payment during the first thirteen (13) pay periods of service for unused vacation hours.

12.6.2 Military or educational leave. An employee on a military or educational leave of absence without pay in excess of thirty (30) days shall be paid for vacation hours accrued up to the end of the last full pay period of service with the Employer.

12.6.3 Voluntary cashout. ~~Employees will be afforded the opportunity to request cashout of accrued but unused vacation time (provided they have a vacation accrual balance of 120 hours or more) and compensatory leave hours two (2) times annually as follows: (1) in November for the period of January through June of the following year, and (2) in May for the following~~

~~period of July through December. Employees will be afforded the opportunity to request cash out of accrued but unused vacation and compensatory leave hours annually during an election period designated by the Employer. The election period will be no less than 90 days.~~

~~Requested cash out hours must be accrued and paid in the calendar year following the request, and employees must have 120 hours of vacation accrued on December 31 of the year in which the request is submitted to be eligible for the cash out in the subsequent year. The Employer will designate two cash-out dates each year when the elected hours will be paid.~~

~~a. The cashout election is irrevocable. The employee must designate the number of hours he or she wishes to cash out and the paycheck on which the payment should be reflected. The employee must elect which one of the two cash out dates designated by the Employer on which payment will be made. Hours designated for cash-out will not be available for vacation use. When an employee requests a voluntary cash-out, the first hours of vacation matching the employee's request for cash-out that the employee accrues in the following calendar year will be held in a separate bank and be unavailable to use for any paid time off. The hours will be converted to cash at the base pay rate in effect on the employee's primary assignment at the time cashout occurs.~~

~~b. The maximum cashout of vacation time allowed for each 6-month calendar year period is forty (40) eighty (80) hours. Hours available for cashout are limited to those that accrue in the 6-month period for which cashout is requested. Hours cashed out on the payment date will be the greater of the amount of all hours requested (up to 40) or the amount of vacation time remaining unused for the period in question. Employees are not allowed to access hours accrued in a prior period to reach the original cashout elected.~~

THIS LANGUAGE REFLECTS CHANGES NEEDED FOR COMPLIANCE/TAX IMPLICATIONS; IT WILL MAKE THE PROCESS SLIGHTLY MORE INCONVENIENT FOR OUR MEMBERS.

12.7 Vacation Donation Pool.

12.7.1 Donation eligibility. A regular employee, may be eligible, consistent with the Employer's policy, to receive donations to the employee's sick leave bank from an institution-wide pool maintained by the Employer ("Pool") only if all the conditions described below are met:

a. The employee is absent from work due to a medical emergency which is defined as a medical condition of the employee or employee's immediate family or household, as defined in Section 13.3.2 of the Agreement, that will require the employee's absence from work for a period of fourteen (14) consecutive days or more.

Unless provided to the contrary by law, the employee has the responsibility to arrange for the care of the ill or injured immediate family or household member; and

b. The employee has exhausted all vacation, compensatory time and sick leave; and

c. The ~~employee does not qualify for~~ ~~is not receiving~~ disability insurance benefits, worker's compensation coverage or retirement benefits.

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS.

Employees who believe that they meet these criteria may make a request for donation eligibility by contacting Human Resources. Human Resources will review all such requests to assure adherence to these criteria. Employees may indicate whether they wish their eligibility to be revealed to potential donors.

12.7.2 Donation process. The Pool shall consist of vacation hours donated voluntarily by employees. Bargaining unit members may donate vacation hours to the Pool at any time. They may not donate more vacation hours than they accrue during the calendar year. Donations to the Pool shall be converted to a dollar amount based upon the donor's salary rate. Once hours are donated, they may not be returned to the donating employee.

Eligible employees may receive donations from the Pool to their sick leave bank in full hour increments up to a maximum of 480 hours per calendar year. Donations to the recipient employee's sick leave bank shall be at his/her hourly rate. Donated sick leave may not be cashed out.

ARTICLE 13. SICK LEAVE

13.1 Accrual of Sick Leave. Sick leave shall be earned by each employee except for Flex Staff at the rate of .0462 hours per each hour compensated at the regular or straight time hourly rate of pay, up to a maximum of ninety-six (96) hours per year. As sick leave accrues, it will be deposited in the employee's

sick leave bank. Flex Staff working 1.0 FTE will accrue sick time at the rate of one hour for every thirty hours worked, up to a maximum of fifty-six (56) hours per year, or as otherwise provided by law.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE, RELATING TO OREGON SICK TIME LAW.

13.2 Attendance Recognition. To provide incentive for regular attendance, employees who have been employed the entire prior calendar year will be afforded the opportunity to convert sick leave hours accrued during the prior calendar year to accrued vacation hours. This conversion shall be based upon an employee's limited utilization of sick leave, excluding sick leave utilization appropriately requested and authorized under either the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) or the Oregon Family Leave Act (OFLA). Employees must submit a written request for conversion no later than January 31st of the subsequent calendar year. Conversion shall occur on a two to one (2:1) basis as follows:

1. Up to 80 sick leave hours may be converted to 40 vacation hours if an employee has accessed zero (0) sick leave days during the prior calendar year.
2. Up to 32 sick leave hours may be converted to 16 vacation hours if an employee has accessed no more than one (1) sick leave day during the prior calendar year.
3. Up to 16 sick leave hours may be converted to 8 vacation hours if an employee has accessed no more than two (2) sick leave days during the prior calendar year.

For purposes of this section, a sick leave day shall be defined as the employee's full regularly scheduled shift (e.g., 8 hours, 10 hours or 12 hours). Departments are encouraged to develop other creative and positive ways to recognize employees for regular and timely attendance.

13.3 Utilization and Payment of Sick Leave. ~~Employees may use earned sick leave for absence due to illness, bodily injury, disability resulting from pregnancy, necessity for medical or dental care, exposure to contagious disease, or attendance upon a member of the immediate family or household member where the employee's presence is required because of illness, necessity for medical or dental care, injury~~ Sick time may be utilized for any of the purposes allowed in Oregon's sick time law, FMLA or OFLA, for necessary medical or dental care, or death consistent with Section 14.2.4, Bereavement Leave. The Employer will administer this benefit in compliance with these laws. Sick time shall be paid at the straight rate of pay except as required otherwise by Oregon's sick time law. Accrued and unused sick time hours are not subject to cashout or otherwise payable upon termination of employment. Employees are

entitled to use paid sick leave immediately upon accrual. For use of sick leave while on FMLA or OFLA leave, see Section 14.2.2.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE, RELATING TO OREGON SICK TIME LAW.

13.3.1 Employee responsibility for ill or injured family or household member. For absences not covered by FMLA or OFLA, the employee has the responsibility to make arrangements, within a reasonable period of time, for the care of the ill or injured immediate family or household member.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

13.3.2 Immediate family and household member. For purposes of this section, immediate family member is defined as the employee's parents (including biological, adoptive or foster parent, parent-in-law, or parent of same-gender domestic partner), spouse, registered domestic partner, children (including biological, adopted, step or foster child, child-in-law or child of same-gender domestic partner), brother, sister, grandchild, grandparents, ~~father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, or daughter-in-law~~. Household member is defined as a person who lives in the same residence as the employee over a sustained period of time.

THIS IS A GREAT WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS.

13.4 Physician or Practitioner Certification of Illness or Injury. The Employer may require certification from an attending physician or practitioner under the following circumstances:

First, the Employer may require certification that an employee was unable to work to support the employee's claim for sick leave if the Employer has reasonable grounds to suspect that the employee is abusing sick leave privileges.

Second, the Employer may require certification to verify a disability as that term is defined under state and federal law.

Third, the Employer may require certification to determine whether the employee should be allowed to return to work if the Employer has reasonable grounds to be concerned about the employee's ability to perform his/her duties in a safe and efficient manner. When notifying the employee of this requirement, the Employer will provide the employee with a copy of his or her position description and identify the basis for its concern consistent with the reasonable grounds criteria referenced below. Any

cost associated with the supplying of a certificate concerning a non-job-incurred injury or illness shall be borne by the employee.

13.4.1 Reasonable grounds criteria. The Employer and the Union have developed lists of criteria that constitute reasonable grounds for suspicion of abuse of sick leave and reasonable grounds for concern regarding the employee's ability to perform duties in a safe and efficient manner.

13.4.2 Notification. In the interest of not delaying an employee's return to work, the Employer will make a reasonable effort to notify the employee in advance that certification will be required.

13.4.3 Disciplinary consequences. The request for such certification shall not be considered disciplinary action. In the event, however, of an untimely submission or a failure or refusal to supply such a certificate, or if the certificate does not clearly show that the employee is unable to work, the employee's sick leave will be canceled, the absence will be considered leave without pay, and the employee will be subject to disciplinary action.

13.5 No Cashout of Sick Leave. No compensation for accrued sick leave shall be allowed to an employee who is separated from service.

13.6 Restoration of Sick Leave. Employees who voluntarily terminate employment and return to a position within 90 days shall have unused sick leave accrued during previous employment restored. Employees placed on the preferential hire list due to layoff or removal during an internal job change evaluation period shall retain their accrued sick leave for as long as they remain on the PHL. Sick leave restoration shall not be available to retired employees who return to a position or to employees previously terminated for cause.

13.7 Sick Leave on Retirement. An employee who retires may be credited with a portion of his/her sick leave for purpose of determining his/her retirement compensation, in accordance with the Oregon Public Employees Retirement System.

ARTICLE 14. LEAVES OF ABSENCE

14.1 Leaves of Absence With Pay. An employee shall be granted a leave of absence without loss of pay or other benefits for the following:

14.1.1 Jury service. The employee may keep any money paid by the court for serving on a jury, and will be deemed to be working the employee's FTE status for weekday shifts while serving on jury duty. If the employee is released from jury duty for a day in which the employee would otherwise be required to work, and if a sufficient period of time would reasonably permit the employee to report for one-half (½) or more of the day shift, then the employee must contact his or her supervisor to determine if the employee will be required to report for work.

14.1.2 Court appearance. Appearance before a court, legislative committee or judicial or quasi-judicial body as a witness in response to a subpoena or other direction by proper authority for matters connected with the employee's officially assigned duties. The employee may keep any money paid in connection with the appearance.

14.1.3 Search or rescue operation. Taking part in a search or rescue operation at the request of and without pay from any law enforcement agency, the administrator of the Aeronautics Division, the United States Forest Service or any local organization for civil defense, for a period of no more than five (5) days for each operation.

14.1.4 Military training leave. An employee who is a member of the National Guard, National Guard Reserve or any reserve component of the armed forces of the United States or of the United States Public Health Service is entitled to a military leave of absence for active annual duty training. Employees who have been employed for six (6) months or more immediately preceding an application for leave under this section shall be granted leave without loss of pay, either in a block of time or on an intermittent basis, for the aggregate number of work days in any training year (October 1 through September 30) which the employee ordinarily would be scheduled to work during a period of fifteen (15) calendar days (e.g., eleven (11) work days for an employee on a five-day work week).

14.1.5 Test and interview leave. An employee shall be allowed appropriate time off with pay to take tests related to promotional opportunities with the Employer. Up to two (2) hours with pay shall be allowed for an interview for a position with the Employer. Authorization for the use of Test and Interview Leave shall not be withheld unless the Employer determines that the use of such leave would handicap the efficiency of the employee's work unit.

14.1.6 Donating blood. Employees shall be permitted reasonable time off with pay to give blood for drives conducted on campus provided such time off does not interfere with the normal flow of work.

14.1.7 Pre-retirement counseling leave. Employees who are age 55 or over or who have at least twenty-nine (29) years of PERS-eligible service with a public employer shall be granted leave with pay of up to sixteen (16) hours to pursue bona fide pre-retirement counseling programs. Employees shall request the use of leave provided in this section at least five (5) days prior to the intended date of use.

Authorization for the use of pre-retirement leave shall not be withheld unless the Employer determines that the use of such leave would handicap the efficiency of the employee's work unit, in which case the Employer shall offer a choice from three (3) other sets of dates. The leave discussed under this section may be used to investigate and assemble the employee's retirement program, including PERS, Social Security, insurance, and other retirement income.

14.2 Leaves of Absence Without Pay. The Employer will not pay employees for the following leaves of absence, but employees may use accrued paid leave to receive pay during these leaves.

14.2.1 Personal or educational leave. In instances where the work of an Employer will not be seriously handicapped by the temporary absence of an employee, the employee may be granted personal leave of absence without pay or educational leave without pay not to exceed one (1) year.

14.2.2 Family medical leave. Eligible employees are entitled to up to twelve (12) weeks, or as required by law, of unpaid job protected leave in a twelve (12) month period to care for themselves or an eligible family member with a serious health condition pursuant to the Oregon Family Leave Act (OFLA) and/or the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). Family medical leave may also be utilized under OFLA and/or FMLA to care for the employee's newborn, newly-adopted or newly placed foster child under 18 years of age or to care for an eligible child who suffers from an illness or injury that does not qualify as a serious health condition, but that requires home care.

a. Leave administration. Family medical leave will be administered in accordance with the applicable law and the Employer's policy regarding use of accrued sick leave, use of vacation benefits and continuation of benefits. All leaves of absence are unpaid except to the extent that an employee uses accrued sick leave and/or vacation time during the otherwise unpaid portion of the leave. No vacation or sick time will accrue during the unpaid portion of family leave.

b. *Return from leave.* An employee's return to work rights following a family medical leave will be as provided by FMLA and/or OFLA. In the event subsequent legislative action at the federal or state level reduces employees' rights, the Employer agrees to grant employees a medical leave of up to twelve (12) weeks and to reinstate employees who return from said leave within 12 weeks to their previous classification and position.

c. *Change in benefit.* In the event that subsequent legislative action at the federal or state level creates an obligation of the Employer to provide paid family or medical leave, the Employer shall have the right to renegotiate mid-contract the sick leave benefit set forth in Article 13. In the event that agreement is not reached through such renegotiation, the process set forth in subparagraph (d) of Section 3.3 may be invoked.

14.2.3 Military leave. An employee shall be entitled to a military leave of absence without pay during a period of service with the United States Uniformed Services as required by federal and state law. The employee shall, upon honorable discharge from such service, be eligible for re-employment if he/she meets the criteria for re-employment required by law. Employees who are re-employed following military leave shall be credited with the seniority they would have attained with reasonable certainty had they remained continuously employed. Military leave and subsequent re-employment shall be administered in compliance with applicable law and the Employer's policy.

14.2.4 Bereavement leave. Employees shall be allowed to take leave for a reasonable period of time due to the death of a member of the immediate family or a household member, as those terms are defined in Section 13.3.2., or, with a manager's approval, another significant to the employee's life.

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS, ALLOWING MANAGERS TO OFFER BROADER BEREAVEMENT LEAVE (INCLUDING FOR FRIENDS AND EVEN PETS).

a. Employees who are not eligible for OFLA bereavement leave shall be allowed to take such leave for a period of up to five (5) days.

b. Employees who are eligible for OFLA bereavement leave shall be allowed to take such leave, consistent with the provisions of ORS 659A.150 to 659A.186, for up to two (2) weeks.

Managers generally will not ask for proof of death, but the Employer reserves the right to do so.

THIS SHOULD BE A NEUTRAL CHANGE, WITH THE LANGUAGE BEING USED ONLY WHEN A MANAGER SUSPECTS ABUSE OF THE ARTICLE.

Employees ~~may~~must utilize any form of available accrued paid leave (vacation, comp or sick leave) during the absence. Additional time off may be granted at the manager's discretion.

THIS IS A SLIGHT LOSS.

14.2.5 Court appearance. An employee may request and shall be granted leave without pay for the time required to make an appearance (1) as a plaintiff or defendant in a civil or criminal court proceeding or (2) before a court, legislative committee or judicial or quasi-judicial body as a witness in response to a subpoena or other direction by proper authority, when in either case the matter is not connected with the employee's officially assigned duties.

14.2.6 Election leave. If an employee resides in a state without all-postal voting, or is otherwise unable to vote by mail by no fault of their own, and an employee's work hours start less than one hour after polls open and end less than an hour before the polls close, the employee shall be granted leave without pay of not more than two hours on primary and general election days for the purpose of voting.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

14.3 Workers' Compensation. This section pertains only to employees who have a recognized work-related injury or illness as determined by the Workers Compensation insurance carrier/TPA (Third Party Administrator) or the Workers' Compensation Board. It is understood by the parties that the Employer is responsible for briefing the injured employee on his/her rights and responsibilities under this Section 14.3.

14.3.1 Employee responsibilities. After sustaining an on-the-job injury or illness, or after being involved in an event that may result in an injury or illness, the employee will report to his/her supervisor, ensure completion of an electronic report in the Worker and Student Injury Reporting System, and seek medical attention, if indicated.

a. Unless incapacitated by the injury, the employee shall report the injury or illness as soon as possible but no later than the end of the shift on which it has occurred if

the employee has any indication or sign of such occurrence. If an employee has questions about the report or associated processes, the employee's supervisor or designee will either answer the questions directly or refer the employee to the appropriate resource. If assistance is required for the employee to enter the report, the supervisor or designee will upon request enter the report on behalf of the employee and provide a copy to the employee.

b. If, following the initial notice described above, the employee thereafter gains knowledge of the need to be off work or the need for transitional work, the employee should contact her/his supervisor and Risk Management within 24 hours after gaining such knowledge.

c. Unless the employee is unable to perform any type of work, he or she will make all reasonable efforts to provide written medical certification to her/his supervisor and to Risk Management that clearly identifies work restrictions.

d. If the injury or illness results in the employee being off work, the employee will contact his/her supervisor at least once per week to report his/her progress and ability to perform a transitional work schedule or position, unless the employee and supervisor agree to another reporting schedule and provide notice thereof to Risk Management. This paragraph is not intended to require the employee to see his/her medical provider each week.

14.3.2 Employer assistance to employees. It is understood by the parties that the Employer is responsible for briefing the injured employee on her/his rights and responsibilities under this article. In the event of a claimed on the job accident or occupational disease that involves the care of a physician or lost time from work, the Employer agrees to assist employees with preparation of the appropriate claim form. An employee is expected to fill out this form within two (2) workdays of seeking medical care or the beginning of time loss.

14.3.3 Physician's or nurse practitioner's certification. Certification by the employee's attending physician or authorized nurse practitioner that the physician or nurse practitioner approves the employee's return to his/her regular duties, transitional duties, or other suitable and available employment shall be prima facie evidence that the employee should be able to perform such duties. The Employer's Risk Management office maintains the right to obtain an independent medical examination.

14.3.4 Time loss. If the work-related injury or illness prevents the employee from returning to her/his regular employment or other transitional, suitable and available employment by the fourth calendar day subsequent to the injury or illness, the following shall occur:

a. The employee shall be placed on leave without pay until his/her regular employment or other transitional, suitable and available employment is offered, or the employee voluntarily terminates, or three (3) years from the first date of absence subsequent to the injury/illness, whichever occurs first.

b. The employee shall become eligible to receive compensation from the Workers' Compensation insurance carrier/TPA in accordance with Oregon law.

14.3.5 Accrual of seniority. Seniority shall accrue based on FTE status while the employee is on leave without pay due to a work-related injury or illness for up to three (3) years.

14.3.6 Position held open. Subject to the provisions of Section 14.3.7, a position in the employee's classification and work unit shall be held for his/her return for a minimum of ninety (90) days beginning with the first day of absence subsequent to the injury or illness, or the licensed provider certifies that the employee will not be able to return within 90 days, whichever occurs first. The Employer may be required, however, to hold a position open for more than 90 days for an employee who qualifies for protection under OFLA.

14.3.7 Release for work.

a. Existing position. Upon learning from the employee's licensed provider that the employee should be able to assume her/his regular duties, the employee will notify her/his supervisor within two (2) working days. Following official notification by the Employer that the employee has the right to be reinstated to his/her position, the employee has seven (7) days in which to request reinstatement. If the employee requests reinstatement in accordance with the statute and if the employee's position exists, the employee shall be returned to the position at the employee's former rate of pay any time within three (3) years from the first date of injury or illness, as defined by law. If the employee's position no longer exists, he/she will be returned to an available and suitable position. The employee shall be deemed to have resigned if the position is not accepted or if the employee fails to report for work in a timely manner following her/his acceptance.

b. *Transitional work.* Prior to the employee becoming medically stationary, the Employer may make a bona fide offer of transitional modified work suitable to the employee's capabilities. The employee must accept such an offer within two (2) working days after receipt of the offer or within five (5) working days after a reasonable effort has been made to contact the employee, whichever occurs first. Failure to do so will be treated as a declination of the offer. The employee will be compensated at his/her regular rate of pay for the transitional modified work.

c. *Modified position.* An employee, upon learning that he or she is medically stationary and should be able to assume a modified position different from the employee's original position, will notify her/his supervisor within two (2) working days. If such a position is available, the employee will be offered the position and will be given seven (7) days to notify the Employer that s/he accepts. The employee will be reinstated upon acceptance by the employee. The employee will be compensated at the appropriate rate of pay for the modified position. The employee shall be deemed to have resigned if the position is not accepted or if the employee fails to report for work in a timely manner following her/his acceptance.

14.3.8 Complete disability. Upon certification by the employee's attending physician or authorized nurse practitioner and acceptance by the Workers' Compensation insurance carrier/TPA that the employee is medically stable but not able to perform any work, the employee shall be terminated from employment. In accordance with Oregon law and the terms of the policy of the insurance carrier/TPA, the employee may be eligible for vocational rehabilitation. The initial determination of the qualification for permanent disability and vocational rehabilitation is made by the insurance carrier/TPA. Leave without pay will be terminated upon the employee's request or one year from the first day of absence subsequent to the injury or illness, whichever comes first.

14.3.9 Continuation of insurance benefits. Beginning the first full month after an injured employee has been placed on leave without pay, the Employer shall continue to provide the employee's medical and dental insurance by continuing to pay the same contribution to the employee's benefit coverage for up to one (1) year. If an injured employee's leave exceeds one (1) year, then the employee may continue his/her medical and dental insurance on a self-pay basis under COBRA. In the alternative, the employee may use accumulated sick leave to cover this expense (on a dollar-for-dollar basis at the employee's straight rate of pay).

ARTICLE 15. INSURANCE BENEFITS

15.1 Eligibility.

15.1.1 Regular and limited duration employees. Employees who hold an FTE status of 0.5 FTE or greater are eligible for insurance coverage on the first of the month following the date of hire or date of obtaining a benefit eligible position. Coverage shall be effective the first of the month following the employee's date of hire or date of obtaining a benefit eligible position. ~~If an employee does not enroll within thirty (30) days from the date of hire or date of obtaining a benefit eligible position, the Employer will place the employee in the default medical, dental and core life insurance coverage effective the first of the month following the employee's date of hire or date of obtaining a benefit eligible position.~~

THIS LANGUAGE WAS MOVED BELOW.

15.1.2 Relief employees. Relief employees shall be eligible for health insurance benefits as provided below:

a. New relief employees are eligible for insurance coverage if they have had a minimum of 520 compensated hours during a six (6) month initial measurement period. An initial measurement period is defined as a six-month period commencing on the first of the month following the employee's date of hire. Insurance coverage for such employees shall begin on the first of the month following one month after the end of the initial measurement period, and will continue for a period of at least six (6) months. New relief employees will qualify as ongoing relief employees after they have worked an entire ongoing measurement period as defined in (b) below.

b. Ongoing relief employees are eligible for insurance coverage if they have had a minimum of 520 compensated hours during the most recently completed six (6) month ongoing measurement period. A six-month ongoing measurement period is defined as either December through May or June through November.

Insurance coverage for ongoing relief employees shall begin on either the January 1 or the July 1 following the ongoing measurement period and will continue for a period of six (6) months.

c. The amount of the Employer's insurance contribution to a relief employee's benefit coverage is determined by the hours compensated during the qualifying measurement period, consistent with the provisions of Section 15.2.

15.1.3 Temporary employees and flex staff. Temporary employees and flex staff are not eligible for insurance benefits under this article.

15.1.4 Loss of eligibility. Employees on an unpaid leave of absence that is not protected under FMLA or OFLA shall lose eligibility for coverage at the end of the calendar month in which the unpaid leave begins. If the employee returns to a benefit eligible position within 12 months from such loss of coverage, the employee will be provided a 31-day enrollment period following the employee's return to work in a benefits-eligible position. Benefit coverage will be effective the first of the month following the employee's return to work ~~the Employer will reinstate the employee's coverage as of the first of the month following the employee's return.~~ The foregoing 12-month restriction does not apply to employees returning from an unpaid military leave of absence as set forth in Section 14.2.3.

15.1.5 Enrollment Process for Benefited-Eligible Employees. Employees with a 0.75 FTE or greater will be automatically enrolled into default employee-only PPO medical, Delta dental, core vision, and core life insurance coverage on their initial benefits effective date pending updated enrollment within thirty-one (31) days from the date of hire or date of obtaining a benefit eligible position. Employees have the option of selecting a different medical, dental or vision plan, of opting out of coverage, and/or of adding dependents by making an active election within the 31-day period. Updated selections will become effective the first of the month following the employee's date of hire or date of obtaining a benefit eligible position.

An employee with less than 0.75 FTE will not be automatically enrolled. The employee must enroll within thirty-one (31) days from the date of hire or date of obtaining a benefit eligible position. If the employee fails to do so, the Employer will place the employee in default medical, dental, core vision, and core life insurance coverage effective the first of the month following the employee's date of hire or date of obtaining a benefit eligible position.

THIS IS A BENEFIT TO OUR MEMBERS.

15.2 Insurance Contributions. The amount of the Employer's insurance contribution to an employee's benefit coverage is determined by the employee's FTE status except as set forth in this Section

or in Section 15.1.2. For the purposes of this section 15.2, a full-time employee is one who holds an FTE status of 0.75 to 1.0 and a part-time employee is one who holds an FTE status of 0.5 to 0.74.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

15.2.1 Full time employees. For employees who hold an FTE status of 0.75 to 1.0 and select any health plan other than the lower cost PPO plan, the Employer will pay for Employee Only coverage 100% of the cost of the OHSU PPO Plan, core vision, and ~~OHSU~~Delta Dental Insurance (or its equivalent), and for all other tiers 88% of the cost of these plans. The benefit dollars contributed by the Employer for all other tiers of coverage shall be the equivalent of 88% of the cost of these plans.

If a full time employee selects the lower cost PPO, the Employer will pay for Employee Only coverage 100% of the cost of the lower cost OHSU PPO Plan, core vision, and Delta Dental Insurance (or its equivalent), and for all other tiers 88% of the cost of these plans. The benefit dollars contributed by the Employer for all other tiers of coverage shall be the equivalent of 88% of the cost of these plans.

Full-time employees choosing the lower cost PPO will also receive a subsidy, as follows, for use in purchasing additional health benefits from OHSU, transferring to the employee's FSA (up to \$500/year), or receiving in the employee's paycheck, at the employee's discretion: \$25 per month for employee-only coverage, \$50 per month for either of employee and spouse or employee and child, or \$75 for employee and family.

Employees choosing opt-out coverage will receive a monthly cash benefit of \$50 ~~\$100 plus the cost of Employee Only dental (or its equivalent), if any is required, or core life insurance.~~

THIS LANGUAGE OUTLINES THE PROCESS FOR THE NEW LOWER-COST PPO THAT WILL BE OFFERED AND INCREASES THE BENEFITS OPT-OUT DOLLARS. IT IS A WIN FOR THE APPLICABLE MEMBERS.

15.2.2 Part-time employees. For employees who hold an FTE status of 0.5 to 0.74, the Employer will contribute 75% of the above amounts under the terms and conditions described in 15.2.1, except a monthly cash benefit of \$50 for choosing opt-out coverage. ~~Employees choosing~~

~~opt-out coverage will receive a monthly cash benefit equivalent to the cost of Employee Only dental (or its equivalent), if any is required, or core life insurance.~~

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS WHO WORK PART-TIME.

15.2.3 Maximum annual contribution increase. The annual increase in benefit dollars contributed by the Employer for any tier of coverage under this Section 15.2 shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the previous year's benefit dollars. Notwithstanding the language of Section 15.2.1, Employees will be responsible for any increase in benefit dollars beyond the percentage established in this section.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

15.2.4 Employee premium deductions. The employee's share of insurance premium costs will be deducted from the employee's pay ~~in the applicable payroll period during which benefits apply.~~

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES CURRENT PRACTICE.

15.2.5 Employer premium reduction. The Employer may use plan funds to offset premium expenses provided it does not negatively impact the employee's net pay.

15.3 Insurance Coverage and Employee Benefits Council. The Employer shall provide at least two (2) medical ~~plans networks~~, including one ~~plan network~~ that includes non-OHSU health care provider service and one OHSU ~~plan network~~. Insurance coverage is otherwise governed by the rules of the Employee Benefits Council as set forth in Appendix C hereto.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

~~**15.3.1—Default insurance coverage.** Employees covered by the Employer's program for default insurance coverage shall be placed in Employee Only coverage under the OHSU PPO plan and shall receive an Employer insurance contribution in accordance with Section 15.2 above.~~

THIS LANGUAGE WAS MOVED ABOVE.

15.4 Termination of Employment. Benefits coverage will cease on the last day of the month of an employee's termination from employment, except that qualifying employees who are separated under Article 19 may continue benefits coverage and Employer contributions thereto in accordance with the provisions of that article and of Appendix F – Severance Program.

ARTICLE 16. RETIREMENT

16.1 Plan Election. Eligible new employees must elect to participate in either the Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan (OPSRP) or the University Pension Plan (UPP) retirement program ~~on the first of which will be effective~~ the month following ~~six (6) months~~ ninety (90) days from their hire date in a qualifying position.

THIS IS A BENEFIT FOR MEMBERS.

16.1.1 Selection process. The Employer agrees to provide each eligible employee timely notice of the employee's need to make such selection.

16.1.2 Default plan. The Employer may designate the retirement plan in which employees failing to make a timely plan selection shall automatically be enrolled. The Employer will provide thirty (30) days' notice to the Union of any change in the default plan.

16.1.3 Limited option to ~~switch~~ transfer plans. An employee's selection of or placement in the UPP retirement program is irrevocable. The employee must remain in that retirement program for the duration of his/her employment, including periods of reemployment. Employees who have elected to participate in the OPSRP or are currently a participant in the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) retirement plan shall have the opportunity to make a one-time ~~switch~~ irrevocable transfer to the UPP.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

~~**16.2—Employee Contribution Pick-up.** The Employer shall continue to “pick-up” a six percent (6%) employee retirement plan contribution for eligible employees participating in the UPP prior to the first full pay period following January 1, 2016, at which time the pick-up will be discontinued.~~

THIS CHANGE REMOVES OUTDATED LANGUAGE.

ARTICLE 17. SENIORITY

17.1 Seniority Defined. Seniority is defined as seniority points accrued during a period of continuous service with the Employer in the bargaining unit.

17.2 Continuous Service. Continuous service means uninterrupted employment with the Employer in the bargaining unit. For purposes of this section only, employees placed on the preferential

hire list due to layoff or removal during an internal job change evaluation period shall not be deemed to have experienced an interruption in continuous service for as long as they remain on the PHL. Employees placed on the PHL following a return from extended medical leave (EML) will, upon request, also be deemed to have not experienced an interruption in continuous service and consequently will have their seniority restored.

17.2.1 Return to employment following termination. If an employee returns to employment following a termination of ninety (90) days or less, the employee will retain previously accrued seniority. Previously accrued seniority will not be retained, however, if the employee (1) returns to employment following retirement or (2) returns to employment following a termination of more than ninety (90) days.

17.2.2 Leave without pay and time on PHL. Periods of leave without pay and time spent on the preferential hire list will not be counted in the computation of seniority, except that up to three years of leave without pay as a result of a compensable work related injury will be counted.

17.2.3 Employment outside of bargaining unit. Bargaining unit employees who move to a non-bargaining unit position and subsequently return to the bargaining unit without a break in employment will, upon return to the bargaining unit, retain previously accrued seniority.

17.3 Computation of Seniority. Seniority shall be calculated on a point basis in the following manner.

17.3.1 Beginning November 1, 1981: Employees shall receive .04615385 seniority points per regular hour paid when paid for 18.5 regular hours or more in a pay period, up to a maximum of 96 points per calendar year. Employees who work less than 18.5 hours in a pay period will not receive seniority points for that pay period.

17.3.2 Prior to November 1, 1981: Full-time employees as of October 31, 1981 are credited with eight (8) points for each month of service prior to that date. Part-time employees as of October 31, 1981 are credited with four (4) points for each month of service.

17.3.3 Tie-breaker. If two (2) or more employees have equal seniority, the tie shall be broken by length of continuous service in the employee's job classification.

17.4 Seniority List. The Employer shall provide electronic access to a master seniority list that is sorted by organization and job classification.

ARTICLE 18. FILLING OF VACANCIES

18.1 Job Bid. When the decision is made to fill a vacant position, the Employer must first make the position available, through the job bid process, to employees in the same job classification, with similar job duties, and within the affected work unit.

18.1.1 Posting and awarding of position. When a vacant position is to be filled, including any regular, relief, flex or limited duration employee position, it shall be posted in the work unit or emailed to eligible employees to allow bidding for at least seven (7) days. The posting will include the date, primary job duties, location, hours of work and days off or rotation of the position. Departments in which computer access is limited are expected to post job bids on a bulletin board in an area frequented by employees.

Employees serving an Internal Job Change Evaluation Period and temporary employees may not job bid. The position shall be awarded to the most senior eligible bidding employee working in the same job classification in the work unit, and that employee shall be notified of appointment to the vacant position within ten (10) days of its posting.

18.1.2 Placement. The Employer shall place the employee in his/her new position no later than four (4) weeks of the date the employee is notified of selection ~~or the job becomes available~~, unless such move would pose a threat to patient or co-worker health or safety. In the latter situation, ~~or upon request of the employee~~, the managers and employee will negotiate a mutually agreeable report date.

THIS IS A MOSTLY NEUTRAL CHANGE, BUT WILL BENEFIT MEMBERS WHO WISH TO REQUEST A LATER TRANSFER DATE.

18.1.3 When job bid is unnecessary. The Employer may make temporary assignments without a bid, pending completion of the bid process for training purposes or to accommodate workload due to an OFLA/FMLA absence of the regularly assigned employee(s). In addition, a vacant position may be filled without regard to the job bidding process if the vacancy is the result of two (2) previous vacancies being filled by job bidding.

18.1.4 Transfer of positions to different shift. In the event it becomes necessary to move part of the work unit to a different shift(s), the position(s) on the different shift(s) will be posted for seven (7) days and bid on the basis of seniority. If no one bids for the position(s), it will be filled by reassigning the least senior employee(s) on the affected shift.

18.1.5 Restriction on additional bids. If an employee bids on and receives a new position in accordance with the provisions of this section, that employee may not bid into another position for nine (9) months from the date of award notification. This restriction does not preclude an employee from applying for a position (not through the job bid process) at any time. Moreover, this restriction shall not apply when an employee successfully bids on a job opening in a specific location and the Employer thereafter changes the job to a different location.

18.1.6 No recruiting prohibition. The Employer shall not be prevented from commencing the recruiting process for other applicants while the job bidding is in progress.

18.2 Job Posting. In the event a vacant position remains to be filled after the Employer has exhausted the steps in Section 18.1, the selection process may be opened to other candidates. The posting requirements of this section apply to all regular and relief employee positions. They do not apply to Flex Staff or Limited Duration Employee positions.

18.2.1 Reemployment obligations. The Employer shall first determine if there are any qualified eligible employees (1) returning from a qualified Workers' Compensation injury or illness, (2) eligible for placement as an accommodation to their disability, (3) qualified to be hired from the Preferential Hire List, or (4) on written official notice of an impending layoff.

18.2.2 Selection process and priority to internal candidates.

Internal and external candidates may be recruited, interviewed and considered concurrently during the selection process. Within this context, however, the Union and the Employer intend to provide bargaining unit employees priority as follows:

a. Bargaining unit employees will be interviewed if (1) they have applied within the seven (7) day internal to OHSU posting period, and (2) they are immediately qualified to perform the essential functions of the position following the customary orientation for the work area.

b. When there are one or more well qualified transfer, promotional or voluntarily demoting applicants as determined by the Employer, the vacancy will be filled by the best qualified internal candidate.

c. If there are no well qualified internal applicants as determined by the Employer, an external applicant may be selected.

d. Internal candidates who apply after the 7-day internal application period will be offered the same consideration as an external candidate with no special priority.

18.2.3 Posting and application process. At least once weekly the Employer will post a list of available positions on the OHSU Web page. In order to be considered for a position, employees must submit their applications in accordance with the Employer's applicant management system. A separate application should be submitted for each position. The Employer shall make available to interested applicants copies of applicable position descriptions on file with the Human Resources Department.

18.2.4 Provisions applicable to internal applicants only:

a. *Application of seniority.* If two (2) or more employees being considered for a promotion, transfer or voluntary demotion are essentially equal (as opposed to "relatively" equivalent) in their ability to perform the essential functions of a position, the promotion, transfer or voluntary demotion shall be given to the employee with the greatest seniority.

b. *Reasons for non-selection.* An employee may request in writing the specific written reasons why he/she was not selected for a position. All such written requests must be submitted to the hiring manager within seven (7) days from notice of the employee's rejection. The hiring manager shall provide a written explanation to the employee within seven (7) days of receipt of the employee's request.

c. *Transfer of internal applicants.* The Employer shall place the internal applicant in his/her new position no later than four (4) weeks of the date the employee is notified of selection ~~or the job becomes available~~, unless such move would pose a threat to patient or co-worker health or safety. In the latter situation, or upon request of the employee, the managers and employee will negotiate a mutually agreeable report date.

THIS IS A MOSTLY NEUTRAL CHANGE, BUT WILL BENEFIT MEMBERS WHO WISH TO REQUEST A LATER TRANSFER DATE.

d. *Evaluation period.* Employees filling a vacancy under this section will serve a six (6) month Internal Job Change Evaluation Period in accordance with the provisions of Section 20.2.

18.3 Non-Temporary Transfer to Separate Location. In the event that circumstances call for transfer of an employee without a vacancy being created, the employee being transferred from either the affected work unit or the affected team, at the manager's option, will be the least senior qualified employee in the absence of a volunteer. An employee being transferred to a new location will receive fourteen (14) days' advance notice if the employee is required to make alternate arrangements for transportation or child/elder care. For purposes of the previous sentence, Marquam Hill is considered one location.

18.4 Training Positions. The Employer may post a training position under two separate circumstances. First, the Employer may post the position strictly as a training position, without requiring that candidates be qualified for the position. In the alternative, the Employer may post the position as either a training position or a position available to qualified applicants, in which case trainee applicants will be considered only if there is no suitable qualified candidate. Existing applicable job classifications may be utilized with qualifications modified to support the trainee selection process. In the absence of an existing classification, a new trainee job classification will be created. The supervisor shall develop a training plan and objectives that set forth a reasonable timeframe by which the trainee must be fully proficient in the new job.

18.4.1 Limitations. Training positions may not exceed one (1) position or fifteen percent (15%) of the openings within any one (1) job classification, whichever is greater, in any calendar year. Training positions cannot continue for more than twelve (12) months without mutual consent of the Union and the Employer.

18.4.2 Eligibility. To be eligible for training positions, employees must at a minimum (1) have completed all required position evaluation periods, (2) have received no current performance appraisal less than satisfactory on file, and (3) be under no active discipline. For purposes of this section, active discipline is at or above the written warning level within the last two (2) years; it does not include discipline reduced to a verbal warning or withdrawn as a result of a grievance.

18.4.3 Selection. When trainees are considered for a posted position, internal applicants shall be considered prior to applicants outside of the bargaining unit. Employees in the work unit who have applied for the training position within the first five (5) days will receive an interview and consideration for the position.

18.4.4 Pay rate. The pay rate for the training position shall be mutually agreed upon between the individual employee and the manager, but shall be no less than 4% below the

minimum of the range for the applicable job classification. Based on the employee's progress toward becoming fully functional, the manager may increase the employee's pay rate at any point during the training period.

18.4.5 Conclusion of assignment. The Employer or employee may end the training assignment at any time with reasonable notice to the other. The decision to end the training assignment is not subject to the grievance procedure. If the employee opts out within thirty (30) days after the training assignment began, the employee will be allowed to return to the position s/he held immediately prior to the training position, unless said position has been eliminated in the normal course of business. After the 30-day period and for the duration of the training period up to 12 months, the employee may be removed from the training position in accordance with Section 20.2.6 or Section 20.2.7, whichever applies. In the case of job elimination the employee will be laid off in accordance with Article 19.

18.5 Preservation of Right to Assign Work and Change Job Duties. The provisions of this article, except as specifically provided herein, do not otherwise restrict the Employer from assigning work or changing job duties.

ARTICLE 19. LAYOFF

19.1 Initial Selection and Notice of Layoff. In the event of a layoff, the Employer shall determine the specific positions to be eliminated. The employee(s) selected for layoff shall be the least senior employee(s) in the same work unit and classification as the position(s) to be eliminated, unless there are justifiable special skills for the position the least senior employee occupies. Such special skills must be defined and documented in the position description prior to layoff. If such documentation has not occurred at least thirty (30) days prior to determining that a layoff is warranted, the manager of the work unit must affirmatively demonstrate that the special skill(s) currently constitute an essential function of the position.

An employee selected for layoff and the Union shall be given written notice of layoff stating the reason(s) for the layoff at least fifteen (15) days before the effective date. At least one (1) day prior to the employee's receipt of written notice, the Employer will notify a Union staff representative of the layoff. The Union will not contact the employee until the Employer has provided notice of layoff to the employee, after which the Union staff representative will notify the appropriate Union steward of the employee's layoff for purposes of follow-up with the employee. The employee will be allowed reasonable time to meet with a Union steward to discuss layoff options.

19.2 Temporary Employees and Contract Workers. A regular employee shall not be laid off if there are current temporary employees or contract workers performing the same essential functions within the same job classification ~~within the and~~ affected work unit, ~~as the regular employee's position~~ unless the layoff of the temporary employee or release of the contract worker is prevented by an individual contract with such person. Temporary employees or contract workers with six (6) months or less remaining on their contract or project with skills not otherwise readily available with the then existing population of employees, may be retained through the end of the contract period or project completion, whichever comes first.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

19.3 Evaluation Period Employees. In the event of a layoff, employees serving a probationary period pursuant to Section 20.1 will be terminated prior to the removal of any employee serving an Internal Job Change Evaluation Period. Following the termination of all probationary employees, employees serving an Internal Job Change Evaluation Period, beginning with the least senior employee in the same classification and the same work unit, will be removed or terminated consistent with Section 20.2 prior to the layoff of any other regular employee under Section 19.1.

19.4 Options of Employees Notified of Layoff. An employee who has received a notice of layoff must first choose one of the following options as more fully explained below: (1) placement in a new position, (2) placement on the preferential hire list, or (3) severance pay and termination of employment. Employees shall communicate their choice in writing to Human Resources within seven (7) days of receipt of the written layoff notice. An employee who fails to respond within seven (7) days of receipt of the hand delivered written layoff notice will be terminated without recall rights or extended medical benefits.

19.5 Placement in new position. An employee who chooses placement in a new position shall be subject to the following procedure:

19.5.1 Vacancy in work unit. The employee may choose to designate up to three (3) lateral classifications and ~~three~~ (3) demotive classifications for placement purposes. The employee will be placed in a vacant position for which the employee is qualified, if one exists, in a designated lateral classification in the same work unit. If no such vacancy exists, then the employee will be placed in a vacant position for which the employee is qualified, if one exists, in a designated demotive classification in the same work unit.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

19.5.2 Vacancy in executive organizational unit. If placement does not occur under Section 19.5.1, then the employee will be placed in a vacant position for which the employee is qualified, if one exists, in the same executive organizational unit (EOU). Position vacancies in which the employee will be placed under this paragraph are, in the following order, a vacancy in the same classification, a vacancy in any lateral classification designated under Section 19.5.1, and a vacancy in any demotive classification designated under Section 19.5.1. Employees who move into a position under this paragraph shall serve a six (6) month Internal Job Change Evaluation Period in accordance with the provisions of Section 20.2.

19.5.3 Displacement of least senior employee in same classification. If placement does not occur under Section 19.5.1 or 19.5.2, then the employee may choose either to be placed on the preferential hire list or to displace the least senior employee in the same classification as of the date the search for position vacancies under 19.5.2 is exhausted within the same EOU, regardless of the employee's qualifications. If, however, the employee is as unqualified for the position that would be awarded under the displacement process herein as another position that is vacant, the employee will be placed in the vacant position. Employees who choose to displace under this paragraph shall serve a six (6) month Internal Job Change Evaluation Period in accordance with the provisions of Section 20.2, except that removal from a new position for which an employee was not qualified may not occur within the first ninety (90) days.

19.5.4 Displacement of least senior employee outside of same classification. In the event that the employee is not able to choose displacement under Section 19.5.3 because the employee's classification has been eliminated in the EOU, the employee may elect to displace the least senior employee, as of the date the search for position vacancies under 19.5.2 is exhausted, in either of two (2) classifications in the EOU, lateral or demotive, as chosen by the employee and for which the employee is qualified. If the employee is not qualified for either position occupied by the least senior employee, the employee shall have no further right of displacement under this section. Employees who choose to displace under this paragraph shall serve a six (6) month Internal Job Change Evaluation Period in accordance with the provisions of Section 20.2.

19.5.5 Displaced employee. An employee who is displaced pursuant to Section 19.5.3 or 19.5.4 shall have access to the same process described in Sections 19.5.1 through 19.5.4.

19.5.6 Unavailability of displacement. If the option to displace under Section 19.5.3, 19.5.4 or 19.5.5 is unavailable, then the employee may elect either to be placed on the preferential hire list pursuant to Section 19.7 or to receive severance pay pursuant to Section 19.8.

19.5.7 Qualified. For purposes of this article, an employee shall be deemed qualified for a position if the employee is ready to perform the essential functions of the position without the assistance of any training other than customary orientation to the position as determined by the Employer. In order to be deemed qualified, the employee will be required to provide Human Resources with a current and updated online application and accompanying documentation to identify his or her skills, abilities and employment experiences. The employee is solely responsible for ensuring the accuracy and thoroughness of the documentation provided.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

19.6 Placement Provisions.

19.6.1 Paid administrative leave. When an employee chooses placement in a new position under Section 19.5, s/he shall be on paid administrative leave or assigned work, at the Employer's discretion, until the employee is either placed in a position or placed on the preferential hire list with insurance coverage.

19.6.2 Placement of full-time employees. In the event that a full-time employee is exercising a displacement right and the least senior position is occupied by a part-time employee, the full-time employee may elect either to displace the part-time employee and accept the part-time position or to displace the least senior full-time employee in the applicable classification.

19.6.3 Placement of part-time employees. In the event that a part-time employee is exercising a displacement right and the least senior position is occupied by a full-time employee, the part-time employee may elect either to displace the full-time employee and accept the full-time position or to displace the least senior part-time employee in the applicable classification. In no event will a laid off employee be required to displace a position occupied by a part-time employee whose status is less than .5 FTE. A part-time employee displacing a full time employee shall be prohibited from bidding into a part time job for a period of nine (9) months.

19.6.4 Geographic restrictions on placement. Employees will not be placed outside of the geographical areas (Portland metropolitan area, West Campus, Eugene, and other locations more than 40 miles from a recognized geographical area) in which they are currently employed. An employee may waive this geographical restriction when selecting the layoff option of placement in a vacant position or placement on the preferential hire list.

19.6.5 International recruits. If the Employer has internationally recruited an employee, that employee, if full-time, shall not be displaced by a part-time employee for two (2) years from date of hire.

19.6.6 Effect of refusing offer of employment. A position shall no longer be deemed “vacant” once a written offer of employment is made to an individual. Employees refusing an offer of employment consistent with this Article shall be deemed to have voluntarily resigned their employment with the Employer and their name shall immediately be removed from the preferential hire list. The following employees may decline a job offer without being deemed to have voluntarily resigned:

- a. Full-time employees declining a part-time job.
- b. Part-time employees declining a full-time job.
- c. Employees declining a job outside of the geographical area from which they were laid off.
- d. Employees declining temporary or relief employment opportunities. To qualify for such an opportunity, the employee must be qualified to perform the duties associated with such position and not have been recalled to or accepted an appropriate employment position with the Employer. The Employer may require the completion of an authorization/tracking form from all such interested employees.

19.7 Employees Placed on Preferential Hire List. For employees who choose placement on the preferential hire list pursuant to Section 19.4, the Employer will provide paid medical and dental insurance continuation under COBRA for up to ninety (90) days after the employee’s medical and dental insurance expires, or the employee is placed, whichever comes first. Such employees shall be eligible for hire in accordance with Section 5.20. Such employees shall also have access to currently available transitional resources and to any additional resources that may be determined by the ~~Labor Management Committee~~ Career and Workplace Enhancement Center.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

19.7.1 Removal from list. Employees who have been laid off may remain on the preferential hire list for up to eighteen (18) months, and shall not lose credit for seniority or service

while on layoff, provided they return from layoff when first recalled or become employed in another regular bargaining unit position during the 18-month period.

19.8 Severance Pay. An employee who chooses the option of severance pay and termination of employment will have no further right to placement or recall under this article. The terms of such severance are set forth in Appendix F.

19.9 Payment of Accrued Vacation and Compensatory Time. Any employee laid off shall be eligible to be paid for all accrued vacation time, up to the maximum amount allowable under Section 12.6.1, and for all accrued compensatory time, at the rate being earned at the time of layoff. The employee shall be given the option to be paid at the time of layoff or to defer payment. The employee may elect to defer payment until a time mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Employer or when the employee ceases to be on the preferential hire list, whichever comes first. If an employee is recalled to service prior to the agreed upon payment date or the expiration of layoff rights under Section 19.7, the employee shall not be paid but shall be credited with the previously accrued vacation and comp time.

19.10 Right to Return to Previous Position. Employees who move to another position after being notified of the elimination of their previous position shall have the right to return to their previous position if (1) the position either is not eliminated or is restored for any reason within the two (2) years immediately following layoff, and (2) there is no significant change in the duties and responsibilities of the position.

19.11 Shift Curtailment and Cancellation. A shift curtailment or cancellation may occur because of lack of work or unexpected or unusual reasons. A shift curtailment occurs when an employee does not work a portion of his or her scheduled shift. A shift cancellation occurs when an employee does not work any portion of the scheduled shift.

19.11.1 Order of curtailment/cancellation. Shift curtailment or cancellation shall take place in the affected work unit in the following order:

- a.* Employees receiving overtime or other premium pay (consistent with the Employer's right to assign and cancel overtime or premium pay).
- b.* Employees who volunteer.
- c.* Temporary employees.
- d.* Employees working beyond their FTE requirement for the week.

- e.* Flex staff.
- f.* Relief employees.
- g.* Other regular employees by equitable rotation, in inverse order of seniority, beginning the rotation anew each fiscal year. It is the parties' intent that equitable rotation will occur after an employee has experienced twelve (12) hours of cancellation or curtailment. If, however, the existing curtailed/cancelled shift exceeds the 12-hour threshold, the hours in excess of 12 will be counted toward the employee's next 12-hour curtailment/cancellation.

Managers and employees in the same work unit are encouraged to utilize the consensus process to develop a different or supplemental order of curtailment or cancellation which best suits the needs and demands of their work unit.

19.11.2 Notice of shift cancellation or curtailment at beginning of shift. An employee shall be given notice of shift cancellation, or of shift curtailment at the beginning of the shift, a minimum of two (2) hours prior to the scheduled start time of the shift.

19.11.3 Annual cap. Mandatory hours curtailed or cancelled shall not exceed one hundred and twenty (120) hours per employee in any fiscal year. These hours shall be prorated for part-time employees based on their established FTE. Hours curtailed or canceled when receiving overtime or other premium pay or when working beyond the employee's FTE requirement (per categories *a* and *d* of Section 19.11.1 above) shall not count toward an employee's annual cap.

19.11.4 Compensation and benefit accruals. An employee may elect to use accrued vacation or compensatory time for curtailed and cancelled hours. Seniority and other accrued benefits will accrue on all curtailed and canceled hours regardless of whether the employee elects to use paid time off benefits.

19.11.5 Lack of work on holidays. If a work unit anticipates a lack of work on or around a holiday, it shall make a reasonable effort to notify employees at least twenty-eight (28) days prior to the holiday. When there is a general closing of a work unit for a day, on or around a holiday, the Employer will not be expected to grant the right to work to any employee in that work unit on that day. At the discretion of the immediate supervisor, an employee may make up the time, provided it is in the same workweek or extended work period and the work does not result in overtime or premium pay.

ARTICLE 20. EVALUATION PERIODS

20.1 Probationary Period. All employees new to the bargaining unit, including flex staff and relief employees, shall serve a Probationary Period of six (6) months. The Probationary Period shall begin on the first day of employment with the Employer.

20.1.1 Temporary employment credit. Up to ninety (90) days of temporary employment on the Employer's payroll shall be credited towards an employee's satisfaction of his or her Probationary Period, but only if the employee, with no more than a fifteen (15) day break in service, is hired into a regular position with the same duties as the temporary employment duties in the same classification and the same work unit.

20.1.2 Exception. Former regular status employees reinstated by the Employer within one (1) year of their termination, in the same classification they previously held with essentially the same duties, and in the same work unit from which they were ~~separated~~ terminated, shall not be required to serve a Probationary Period.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

20.1.3 Written feedback. During a period between the 30th and ~~110th~~ 90th day of the Probationary Period, the supervisor shall communicate in writing to the employee which duties/responsibilities are being performed at an acceptable level, which need improvement and what steps the employee should take to achieve the necessary improvement. A supervisor in an area with an orientation longer than 90 days must provide written feedback by the 110th day of the Probationary Period. The supervisor will make reasonable efforts to provide written feedback as soon as possible after an employee's orientation/onboarding is complete.

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS—PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES WILL KNOW EARLIER IF THERE ARE DEFICIENCIES AND WILL HAVE MORE TIME TO IMPROVE

20.1.4 Termination During Probationary Period. At any time during the Probationary Period, the Employer may terminate an employee if, in the opinion of the Employer, the evaluation period indicates that such employee is unable or unwilling to perform his/her duties satisfactorily or that his/her habits and dependability do not merit his/her continuance in the position. The Employer may also terminate the employee due to a lack of work, shortage of funds or materials, abolishment of position, or other involuntary reasons not reflecting discredit on the employee. The Union shall receive notice of such terminations.

20.1.5 Job change. An employee serving a Probationary Period is permitted to job bid pursuant to Section 18.1 but may not apply for positions pursuant to Section 18.2 unless an exception is made with the consent of the employee's current manager.

20.1.6 Access to grievance procedure. Employees serving a Probationary Period shall have access to the grievance procedure in Article 24 for all matters other than their termination from employment during the Probationary Period.

20.2 Internal Job Change Evaluation Period.

20.2.1 When applicable. The following employees will serve a six (6) month Internal Job Change Evaluation Period:

- a.* Employees who have completed the Probationary Period and are promoting, transferring or voluntarily demoting to a new bargaining unit position. *See* Section 18.2.
- b.* Employees placed in a position due to a layoff. *See* Section 19.5.
- c.* Employees returning to the bargaining unit from unclassified status.
- d.* Employees hired into a position while on the Preferential Hire List. In accordance with Section 5.20, this category includes employees returning from an Extended Medical Leave (EML) and qualifying for hire pursuant to Section 18.2.1. If, however, the employee returning from an EML is placed in the same job classification, with essentially the same job duties and in the same work unit from which the EML was granted, then the evaluation period does not apply.
- e.* Employees placed in a different position (1) when returning from a qualified Workers' Compensation injury or illness or (2) as an accommodation to their disability.

20.2.2 Feedback and communication. Upon commencement of the new assignment, the employee shall, if necessary, receive an updated position description. During the evaluation period supervisors shall give regular feedback on the employee's work performance. If a problem occurs, the supervisor will communicate the nature of the problem, the expected level of performance and provide reasonable opportunity and assistance to resolve the problem.

20.2.3 Written feedback. During a period between the 30th and 110th days of the Internal Job Change Evaluation Period the supervisor shall communicate in writing to the employee

which duties/responsibilities are being performed at an acceptable level, which need improvement and what steps the employee should take to achieve the necessary improvement. If the supervisor fails to perform this evaluation by the close of business on the 110th day of the evaluation period, the balance of the Internal Job Change Evaluation Period is waived and the employee is no longer in an evaluation period.

20.2.4 Modified progressive discipline. During this evaluation period employees shall have access to a modified progressive discipline process consisting of a written reprimand and discharge, both actions subject to a standard of just cause except for the number of steps in the progressive discipline process. This modified disciplinary process shall apply primarily to issues of conduct or attendance, as distinguished from causes for removal under Section 20.2.5.

20.2.5 Right to remove during evaluation period. At any time during the Internal Job Change Evaluation Period, the Employer may remove an employee if, in the opinion of the Employer, the evaluation period indicates that such employee is unable or unwilling to perform his/her duties satisfactorily, that the employee's habits and dependability do not merit his/her continuance in the position, or if a lack of work, shortage of funds or materials, abolishment of position or other events not reflecting discredit on the employee occur.

20.2.6 Employees removed following transfer into a new department or work unit. If an employee is removed during the Internal Job Change Evaluation Period following a promotion, lateral transfer or voluntary demotion into a new department or work unit, ~~the employee shall be placed~~ the employee will be returned to their former department in the same or similar position if available. The Employer may offer same classification and significantly different shift in former department and employee may refuse without jeopardizing other PHL placement rights. If employee is not placed in former department then the employee will be placed on the preferential hire list for six months. If the employee thereafter is hired into a vacant position and subsequently removed from that position, it will be deemed a termination of employment, without recall rights or further access to the preferential hire list.

THIS IS A BENEFIT FOR OUR MEMBERS.

The above timeline will be paused during periods when the Employer is in a hiring freeze.

THIS IS A BENEFIT FOR OUR MEMBERS.

20.2.7 Employees removed following transfer within department or work unit. If an employee is removed during the Internal Job Change Evaluation Period following a promotion, lateral transfer or voluntary demotion within a department or work unit, the employee shall be reinstated to his or her former position or a suitable position for which the employee is qualified within the employee's former classification and department. This right of the employee to continued employment ceases if the employee is discharged for cause.

20.2.8 Employees removed following placement under Section 19.4. If the Employer removes an employee who is serving an Internal Job Change Evaluation Period as a result of the employee exercising his/her option under Section 19.4, it shall document the reasons and communicate the reasons to the employee and the Union. Once notified of the removal, the employee shall have the option of either (1) appealing the removal, or (2) being placed on the preferential hire list for one year. If the employee thereafter is recalled to a vacant position and subsequently removed from that position, it will be deemed a termination of employment, without recall rights or further access to the preferential hire list.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE

20.3 Extensions. Any Probationary Period may be extended by mutual agreement between the employee and the employee's supervisor. Any Internal Job Change Evaluation Period may be extended by mutual agreement of the employee, the Human Resources Department, the employee's supervisor and the Union. Any leave of absence, with or without pay, shall extend the evaluation period by the number of days of the leave.

ARTICLE 21. REORGANIZATIONS AND CLASSIFICATION CHANGES

21.1 Reorganizations. The Employer may reorganize work processes and procedures to achieve efficiency in business operations. To the extent that individual employee work assignments are affected, the following will apply:

a. Reassignment of duties among employees in the same classification in a work unit may occur without triggering competitive bid or other recruitment.

b. When a department or work unit reallocates existing work among existing positions in the department or work unit, resulting in different schedules or days off, the job bid process shall be used.

Changes in work schedules are considered a reorganization under this section, thereby requiring utilization of the job bid, only when (1) the changes affect employees' shift differential or days off, and (2) the changes affect a minimum of three (3) employees and at least 15% of the represented employees in the work unit. If these criteria are not met, then the change in work schedule will be subject to the provisions of Section 7.2.7.

c. A reorganization of work that significantly alters the position into which the employee was placed, or a redistribution of work that results in the introduction of a different job classification, shall be deemed to create a vacancy for which a job bid and/or other recruitment is warranted as set forth in Article 18.

21.2 Classification and Reclassification Procedure. The following procedure shall apply for new classifications or reclassifications:

a. An employee desiring a new classification or proposed reclassification must submit his or her request to the employee's manager with the appropriate documentation (including reclassification request form, old and new position descriptions, and updated resume/application). The manager must respond to the employee in writing within thirty (30) days following submission of the request.

b. If the manager denies the request, then the employee may appeal the manager's decision to the Compensation Division of the Human Resources Department ("HR Compensation") within thirty (30) days of the denial. If the manager approves the request, then the manager must submit the proposed classification or reclassification request to HR Compensation within thirty (30) days of the approval. In either case, the submission must be accompanied by the appropriate documentation referenced above.

c. HR Compensation shall respond in writing to the employee and the manager within thirty (30) days after receipt of the request.

d. If the employee wishes to appeal the decision of HR Compensation, the employee must file a grievance pursuant to Section 24.1.4.a within fourteen (14) days following receipt of the response from HR Compensation.

e. If reclassification is found appropriate, it shall be deemed effective on the pay period immediately following receipt of the request in ~~Human Resources~~ HR Compensation. In such instance, the employee does not retain his/her old salary increase date and will be eligible for salary

increase the first day of the pay period immediately following twenty-six (26) payroll periods in the new class.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

21.2.1 Implementation of new classifications or major revisions of existing classifications. Prior to implementation by the Employer of a new classification or major revisions of an existing classification, the parties will negotiate rates of pay, effective date and method of implementation.

21.3 Upward Reclassification. A regular employee whose position is reclassified upward and who meets the minimum qualifications for the newly reclassified position shall continue in the newly reclassified position as a regular employee. When a position is reclassified upward and the incumbent does not have regular status, or does not meet the minimum qualifications of the newly reclassified position, the position will be filled competitively.

21.4 Downward and Lateral Reclassification. When a position is reclassified to another class at the same pay level or to a class that carries a lower salary range, the incumbent probationary or regular employee shall be accorded corresponding status in the new class consistent with the provisions of Section 8.6.2.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

21.4.1 Notice of downward reclassification. The Employer shall notify an employee in writing of a downward reclassification of the employee's position, and the specific reason for doing so, at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date. If the employee is being reclassified to a classification at a lower pay ~~level~~ grade, the employee shall have the option of exercising layoff rights in his or her current classification with all the rights that apply, including accepting a vacant position and/or displacing per Article 19 of this Agreement.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

ARTICLE 22. EDUCATION, TRAINING AND CAREER DEVELOPMENT

22.1 Promotion of Development Opportunities. The Employer supports opportunities for education and training, career development, mobility and personal growth. Employees may receive support for these endeavors in a number of ways that include, but are not limited to: education/training required by the Employer, access to the OHSU Employee Tuition Benefit program, flexible work

schedules, time with pay to attend classes or pursue other developmental learning opportunities, on-the-job training, paid time on the job to practice skills, mentoring, and the filling of training positions under Section 18.4.

22.1.1 Education and training hours. It is a goal of the Employer to promote education and training opportunities which are directly related to the employee's position of employment and/or to career development for positions at OHSU on an average of twenty-four (24) hours per year per full-time employee. Employees are guaranteed ten (10) hours of job related training per contract year (prorated per FTE). Employees may choose services offered through the CWE Center to count toward the 10-hour guarantee. Employees shall provide as much advance notice as possible and supervisors will make every reasonable effort to accommodate such requests. The annual guarantee shall be fifteen (15) hours for an employee who has an agreed upon written individual development plan with his or her manager.

22.1.2 Career development information. The Employer will provide normal promotional path counseling, including review of the minimum qualifications for potential classifications, and information regarding resources for career development counseling and guidance to employees.

22.1.3 Tuition discounts. Employees shall be afforded the opportunity for tuition discounts as provided by the Employer.

22.1.4 Shared responsibility. The Union and the Employer recognize and support the fundamental concept that an employee's ongoing development of skills to meet the changing needs and demands of the employee's position as well as the employee's opportunity for growth within the Employer's organization constitute a shared responsibility. The Employer is responsible for determining the scope of Employer-provided development opportunities and for providing employees access to those opportunities. Employees are responsible for seeking out and taking advantage of such opportunities, and for continually demonstrating their competencies and building their skills in all facets of their jobs. Employees and their supervisors are expected to address such responsibilities and opportunities, at a minimum, during the annual performance review process.

22.1.5 Individual development plans. The parties recognize that mutually developed individual development plans serve as a constructive tool to aid an employee in developing skills and/or improving performance. Such plans can be initiated by either the employee or the manager.

22.2 Requirements of Job Position. Employees are responsible for attaining and maintaining, on their own time and at their own expense, the requisite skills and qualifications under any license or certification required by law for their job position. If, however, the Employer introduces a new requirement for an existing position occupied by an employee, then the Employer shall be responsible for the training and education time and expenses (other than study time) it deems necessary for the employee to satisfy the new requirement.

22.3 Required Attendance at Educational and Training Functions. Where an employee's attendance at an educational or training function is required by the Employer, he/she shall be so notified in writing. If an employee is required to attend educational training outside of his/her normal work schedule, he/she will be compensated at the appropriate rate of pay for time spent in training.

22.4 Educational Leave with Pay. An employee may be granted educational leave in which his/her department may defray a part or all of the cost of the education, either through allotment or payment of a salary. Each request for leave must be submitted to the employee's department director or administrator, who normally shall not approve such leave for more than one (1) year. Vacation leave shall not accrue during an educational leave with pay that exceeds fifteen (15) calendar days.

22.5 Education Expense Reimbursement. When the Employer approves an employee's participation in a specific course, seminar, workshop, or other training program, the Employer may reimburse the employee for a portion of or all the costs of course registration and/or required materials, and of necessary travel expenses when warranted by the circumstances. If an employee is required by the Employer to participate in an education or training program, the employee shall normally be reimbursed for related travel and mileage expense.

22.6 New Technology. When the Employer implements a new technology or implements a major change in a current technology that would require retraining beyond a thorough introduction to perform any job presently being done by employees covered by this Agreement, the Employer commits to the following:

- a.* The appropriate manager will seek involvement in this implementation from an appropriate number of Union-represented employees.
- b.* The manager will facilitate the development of an implementation plan of appropriate detail and determine the names of people to be trained.

c. The implementation plan may include, but not be limited to: a process to gather and address end user ideas and concerns, training and support systems to enable employees to successfully transition into new technology, an ongoing communication/feedback system among affected/interested employees, selection of when and to whom training is administered, individual assistance for displaced employees consistent with the Agreement, retraining assistance and support, and a time line for implementation of both the plan and the technology.

d. It is understood this process will use Labor/Management Cooperation principles.

22.7 Basic Computer Skills Training . The Employer will provide, coordinated through the CWE Center, basic computer training to any AFSCME-represented employee who does not demonstrate basic proficiency as determined by the employee's supervisor. This training will be on paid time and will not be longer than two (2) hours in length for any employee. The training will include basic computer operations, how to log in and out of the employee's OHSU account, basic Outlook skills, how to use O2 and how to locate/use common employee-related web sites, and how to ~~access~~access Oracle employee self-service tools. Time spent on such training will count toward the 10-hour guarantee set forth in Section 22.1.1.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

ARTICLE 23. DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

23.1 Progressive Discipline. The principles of progressive discipline shall be used except when the nature of the problem requires more serious discipline or immediate action. Progressive discipline includes the following steps: (1) documented verbal warning; (2) written warning; (3) suspension without pay, pay reduction, withholding pay increase, demotion or final written warning; and (4) discharge.

23.1.1 Performance improvement plans. When a work plan is implemented as a corrective measure, it shall be considered the equivalent of a verbal warning in the progressive disciplinary process. Employees will be allowed a reasonable period of time to achieve elements of a work plan that do not require immediate correction.

23.1.2 Suspension of seniority rights. The Employer may in its discretion incorporate into an employee's final written warning suspension of the employee's seniority rights for one (1) year in no more than two of the following three contract areas: offering of overtime work (9.1.4), requesting vacation and holiday time off (12.4.3), and job bidding (18.1).

23.2 Just Cause. An employee may be disciplined or discharged only for just cause. The “Just Cause” standard is attached hereto and incorporated by reference under Appendix D.

23.3 Investigatory Interviews. The Employer has the right to conduct “investigatory” interviews by asking questions of an employee which only the employee may answer. The employee has the right to request, and shall be granted, Union representation at “investigatory” interviews where the employee reasonably believes the interview might result in disciplinary action. The employee may utilize another employee for this purpose. However, the choice of representative shall not unduly delay the meeting.

23.3.1 Notice. Investigatory interviews of an employee subject to discipline require thirty-six (36) hours’ advance notice, in writing (including by electronic communication) if reasonably possible, to the employee unless (1) there is reason to believe that the notice period would result in compromising of evidence or pose a risk to the safety of staff, patients, or other members of the public, or (2) the employee consents to waive the notice. The Employer will make a good-faith effort to provide a 36-hour notice that is exclusive of weekend and holiday hours. If the interview will be scheduled on off hours (7:00 p.m. through 7:00 a.m.), the Employer shall give the Union notice of the date and time of the meeting to assure a steward is available. The Union will not provide representation unless requested by the employee. If the Union’s efforts to secure representation are unsuccessful due to scheduling or unavailability of the steward at the top of the rotation list, the Employer agrees to release the on-call steward.

THIS IS A BENEFIT FOR THE APPLICABLE MEMBERS.

23.3.2 Conducting the interview. The Employer has the right to initially hear the employee’s own account of the matter under investigation. The Union representative has the right in the “investigatory” interview to clarify previous answers or to elicit further relevant information.

23.3.3 Other meetings distinguished. The Employer has the right without Union representation to hold work unit or departmental meetings, or to have conversations with employees as needed for giving instruction, training, or needed corrections of work techniques. The Employer also has the right to hold a disciplinary meeting or to engage in a discussion without Union representation when the meeting or discussion is for the sole purpose of informing an employee of a disciplinary decision and/or warning the employee of further discipline if the conduct in question continues. The Employer may permit a Union representative to attend any of

the meetings or activities described in this paragraph at the Employer's discretion if requested by the employee.

23.3.4 Electronic recording. The Employer is not required to permit electronic recording of any meeting described in this article. Nor is an employee allowed to electronically record any such meeting without the approval of the Employer.

23.3.5 When attendance is the issue. In the event the Employer is contemplating issuing a verbal or written warning for attendance-related concerns, the Employer may, in lieu of its frequent practice of conducting an investigatory interview, notify the employee in writing of the concern regarding attendance and invite the employee (1) to respond in writing within 14 days with or without the assistance of a Union steward, (2) to request an investigatory meeting, or (3) to decline to do either. The Employer thereafter will determine whether disciplinary action is warranted.

a. Each work unit will be subject to a recognized attendance policy. An employee coached or disciplined for attendance-related concerns will be provided a copy of the applicable policy.

b. Progressive discipline for attendance may be triggered by three (3) occurrences in a 90-day period. Progressive discipline thereafter will be applied not on the basis of a no-fault grid, but in accordance with criteria and definitions developed by the Employer.

c. Any issue regarding consistency of treatment for attendance-related discipline (see question no. 6 under Appendix D – Just Cause Standard) will be evaluated on a work unit basis.

23.4 Pre-Discharge Notice. A written pre-discharge notice shall be given to a regular status employee against whom a charge is presented which might result in discharge. Such notice shall include the known complaints, facts and charges, and a statement that the employee may be ~~discharge~~ discharged. It shall be forwarded to the Union on the same day the employee is notified.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

The employee shall be afforded an opportunity to refute such charges or present mitigating circumstances to the Employer at a time and date set forth in the notice, which date shall not be less than

seven (7) calendar days from the date the notice is received. The employee is entitled to have an official representative present. At the discretion of the Employer, the employee may be suspended with or without pay or be allowed to continue to work, as specified within the pre-discharge notice. The Employer shall not cause any employee to be placed on administrative leave without pay in excess of fourteen (14) days pending a pre-discharge hearing decision unless the hearing is postponed at the request of either the employee or the Union. The Employer shall not be obligated for any payroll expenses resulting from administrative leave without pay during the period of any such postponement.

23.5 Issuance of Disciplinary Action. It is the intent of the parties that notice of disciplinary action, notice of a pre-discharge meeting or notice that no action will be taken, will issue no later than twenty-one (21) days from the date of an investigatory meeting except in circumstances where a complex investigation is required. Any disciplinary action taken against an employee will be communicated in a manner that is not likely to embarrass or humiliate the employee in front of other employees or the public.

23.6 Unauthorized Absences. Any unauthorized absence of an employee from duty may constitute grounds for disciplinary action. Unauthorized absences include but are not limited to no-call no-shows. Any employee who absents himself/herself for three (3) consecutive workdays or five (5) total workdays during a twelve (12) month period without authorized leave shall be deemed to have resigned. Such absence may be authorized by the Employer by a subsequent approval of leave with or without pay, when extenuating circumstances are found to have existed. An employee will be provided, upon request, an opportunity to explain extenuating circumstances. In the event the employee's absence of three (3) consecutive workdays is accompanied by failure to notify, the supervisor shall make one (1) reasonable attempt to confirm the employee's welfare by placing a telephone call to the last known number prior to the resignation. This demonstration of concern will not serve to extend the employee's job protection rights.

23.7 Limits on Pay Reductions. Reductions in pay shall not exceed either a reduction of three percent (3%) for six (6) pay periods or a reduction of six percent (6%) for three (3) pay periods.

23.8 Transmissions to Union. All notices of pre-discharge hearings, suspension, pay reduction, demotion, final written warning and discharge shall be delivered to the Union electronically on the same day that the employee is notified. In the event that the Employer fails to provide notification as discussed above, the Union will promptly notify the Employer of such failure as soon as the Union becomes aware of it. Should the Employer fail to notify the Union of a pre-discharge meeting, the Union may request the meeting be rescheduled in order to secure union representation for the employee. In such event, the meeting will be rescheduled pursuant to Article 23.4, as if the Union received notice on the day that the

Union provides notification to the Employer. Should the Employer fail to notify the Union of suspension, pay reduction, demotion, final written warning and discharge, timelines shall be suspended pending union notification to the Employer.

THIS IS A WIN, CLARIFYING THE CURRENT PRACTICE.

ARTICLE 24. GRIEVANCES AND ARBITRATION

24.1 Grievance Procedure. The parties encourage supervisors and employees to solve issues among themselves at the earliest possible time, preferably prior to initiating a grievance. The employee and supervisor may agree in writing to extend the formal grievance filing deadline.

24.1.1 Grievance defined. A grievance is defined as any dispute arising out of or concerning the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

24.1.2 Time extensions. No extension of any time limit set forth in this Section 24.1 may occur without the written agreement of both parties. Failure of an employee or the Union to meet a time limit shall constitute withdrawal of the grievance. Failure of the Employer to meet a time limit shall constitute an automatic progression of the grievance to the next step.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

24.1.3 Union representation. Once an employee files a grievance, the employee shall not be required to discuss the subject matter of the grievance without the presence of a Union representative.

24.1.4 Grievances of specific matters. Grievances involving the following specific matters shall be submitted as follows:

a. ~~a.~~ —Grievances involving the *appeal of a reclassification matter* shall be filed with the designated Compensation Manager in Human Resources at Step 2 in the grievance process.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

b. Grievances involving the *application of insurance benefits* shall be filed with the Benefits Manager in Human Resources.

c. Grievances involving *layoff, suspension without pay, reduction in pay, demotion, final written warning or discharge* shall be submitted to Human Resources at Step 2 in the grievance process. The Union has the right to appeal such disciplinary action within twenty-one (21) days of the effective date of the action. However, in the case of suspension during a period of pre-disciplinary investigation, the appeal must be made within twenty-one (21) days of the action, if any, which results from the pre-disciplinary investigation.

d. A verbal warning shall not be grievable. The verbal warning shall be placed in the employee's file and the employee may respond in writing to the warning, which shall also be placed in the employee's file. If, however, an employee receives a written warning pertaining to a related issue within one (1) year following receipt of the prior verbal warning, both warnings may be grieved collectively.

24.1.5 Grievance steps.

STEP 1

The employee or the Union on the employee's behalf shall file a grievance on an official Grievance form no later than twenty-one (21) days following the date of the alleged contract violation or the date the employee first knew or should have known of the alleged contract violation. The grievance must cite the specific contract article believed to have been misapplied or violated and a specific remedy to adjust for any such discrepancy. The grievance shall be filed with the immediate supervisor and the appropriate Department Director, or designee thereof, with a copy sent to Human Resources and to the Union if an employee is filing the grievance without the assistance of the Union. When a grievance alleges an identical contract violation arising involving at least three (3) supervisors who are directly responsible to a common supervisor, the common supervisor shall be considered the immediate supervisor. In the event that the appropriate Department Director is not properly identified, providing a copy to Human Resources will be deemed to satisfy the Step 1 filing deadline. The Union may also file a limited request for information within seven (7) days of the step 1 filing. Such a request shall be limited to items in the grievant's personnel file or grievant's attendance records.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES THE PROCESS AND IS A BENEFIT FOR UNION OFFICIALS.

The parties shall meet at the earliest opportunity and attempt to develop a mutually acceptable solution, with the aid of a problem-solving worksheet in non-disciplinary cases. The

meeting may be attended by a Union steward at the employee's request and/or a Human Resources representative at the supervisor's or Department Director's request. If a solution is reached at this or a subsequent meeting, it shall be reduced to writing and signed by all parties involved in the discussion, with a copy sent to Human Resources and the Union. If a solution is not reached, the Director or designee shall respond to the grievance in writing within seven (7) days of the meeting and provide such response to the employee and the designated Union representative. Failure to respond in a timely manner shall be considered a denial of the grievance.

Solutions reached without the involvement and agreement of the Union or Human Resources are subject to review and agreement at the parties' discretion and shall become precedent setting only upon the agreement of the Union and Human Resources.

STEP 2

~~If the Union desires to advance the grievance to Step 2, it may~~ must advance the grievance to Step 2 by notifying Human Resources in writing within ~~twenty-one (21)~~ fourteen (14) days of the ~~filing of the grievance at Step 1 of the due date for receiving the Employer's Step 1 written response.~~ If the Union wishes to submit a request for information to the Employer, it shall submit the request within seven (7) days after advancing the grievance to Step 2. Information requests shall be limited to information that directly relates either to the specific allegations of the grievance or to assertions contained in the Employer's Step 1 response. The Employer shall respond to the information request within 21 days after receiving the request. The Union shall coordinate the scheduling of a Step 2 meeting within fourteen (14) days after receiving the Employer's response to the information request. If the Union does not submit an information request, the Union shall coordinate the scheduling of a meeting within 14 days after advancing the grievance to Step 2. The Employer shall provide a written response at Step 2 within 14 days following the Step 2 meeting.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES THE PROCESS AND IS A BENEFIT FOR UNION OFFICIALS.

STEP 3

Submission to Arbitration. ~~If the grievance is not resolved at Step 2,~~ the Union desires to ~~may~~ advance the grievance to arbitration, it must provide by written notification to Human Resources within ~~fourteen (14)~~ thirty (30) days of the due date for receiving the Employer's Step 2 written response. ~~Failure to file a valid arbitration request within the specified fourteen (14) day period shall constitute withdrawal of the grievance. The parties shall endeavor to have completed~~ Steps 1-3 of the grievance process within one hundred and sixty (160) days following the date of

the alleged contract violation or the date the employee first knew or should have known of the alleged contract violation.

THIS LANGUAGE CLARIFIES THE PROCESS AND IS A BENEFIT FOR UNION OFFICIALS.

Expedited arbitrations. All grievances involving disciplinary action of a written warning or combined verbal/written warnings (as distinguished from disciplinary action described in Section 24.1.4.c) shall be subject to an expedited arbitration process in lieu of the arbitration process set forth in Section 24.2. Expedited arbitrations shall be heard on an as-needed basis before an arbitrator selected by the parties from a standing short list. The presentation of evidence and argument shall be subject to time restrictions that the parties mutually establish. Neither party shall utilize outside counsel to present its case. Briefs shall not be filed. The arbitrator shall render his or her decision immediately following each party's presentation of its case. The decision shall be final and binding on the parties. The arbitrator's fee and expenses shall be borne equally between the parties. All other grievances that are submitted for arbitration shall be subject to the provisions of Section 24.2, unless the parties mutually agree to submit the grievance to this expedited arbitration process.

24.2 Arbitration.

24.2.1 Selection. Within forty-five (45) days of the due date for submittal of the request to arbitrate, the Union and the Employer shall select an arbitrator from a ~~mutually agreed-upon~~ panel of seven (7) arbitrators requested from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service. The parties commit to scheduling said arbitration within four (4) months of the arbitrator's selection. If the Union makes no written attempt to contact the Employer or the arbitrator within the four-month period, the grievance shall be deemed to have been withdrawn by the Union.

THIS LANGUAGE IS INTENDED TO SPEED UP THE ARBITRATION PROCESS AND IS A BENEFIT FOR OUR MEMBERS.

24.2.2 Authority. The arbitrator shall have the authority to hear and rule on all issues which arise over substantive or procedural arbitrability. Such issues, if raised, must be heard prior to hearing the merits of any appeal to arbitration, pursuant to Article 24.2.3. The arbitrator shall have no authority to rule contrary to, to amend, add to, subtract from, change or eliminate any of the terms of this Agreement.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

24.2.3 ~~Motion to bifurcate~~Bifurcation. Upon motion by either party to bifurcate the hearing on procedural or substantive arbitrability issues, the arbitrator will ~~make the determination on bifurcation~~ issue a decision on the arbitrability issue after the parties brief the issue in writing (i.e., without a hearing). The arbitrator will issue the decision on the arbitrability issue a reasonable time in advance of any potential hearing on the merits. ~~Should the arbitrator choose to take the arbitrability issue under advisement and proceed with the merits, he/she shall issue a written decision on the arbitrability issue only should the issue be found to be nonarbitrable.~~

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

24.2.4 Award final and binding. The parties agree that the decision or award of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on each of the parties.

24.2.5 Expenses of arbitration. The arbitrator fee and expenses shall be paid by the losing party. If, in the opinion of the arbitrator, neither party can be considered the losing party, then such expenses shall be apportioned as deemed equitable in the arbitrator's judgment. All other expenses shall be borne exclusively by the party requiring the service or item for which payment is to be made.

24.3 Release Time. A grievant shall be allowed a total of four (4) hours of release time to prepare for an expedited arbitration hearing under Section 24.1.5 or an arbitration hearing under Section 24.2. Two (2) of these hours shall be paid release. For the remaining two (2) hours, the employee shall be granted unpaid time off or, upon approval by his or her supervisor, may use vacation time or compensatory time or make up the time during the applicable work week.

ARTICLE 25. STRIKES, LOCKOUTS AND PICKET LINES

The Union agrees that during the life of this Agreement, the Union, its agents or its bargaining unit members will not authorize, instigate, aid or engage in any work stoppage, slowdown, sickout, refusal to work, picketing or strike against the Employer, against its goods or on its property. The Employer agrees that during the life of this Agreement, there will be no lockout. Any alleged violation of this Article by either party may be referred to the grievance arbitration procedure or may be pursued in the Courts at the discretion of the moving party.

ARTICLE 26. TRANSPORTATION AND PARKING

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

26.1 Parking Rates. The Employer agrees that it will give thirty (30) days' advance notice to the Union of any proposed changes in parking rates for Employer-operated parking facilities. The Employer will offer the Union an opportunity for input during the 30-day period. The Union may offer suggestions, make recommendations and introduce any data deemed appropriate. The Employer shall provide reasonable attainable data at the Union's request. Employees working a "swing shift" shall continue to pay the prevailing Transportation & Parking Office (TPO) parking rate only for those hours worked between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.

26.2 Strategic Transportation and Parking Advisory Committee. The Union shall appoint up to two (2) members to the Strategic Transportation and Parking Advisory Committee (STPAC). The purpose of the STPAC is to advise the Associate Vice President of Facilities ~~and Logistics~~ and the TPO on best practices for creating, maintaining and continuously improving the multi-modal transportation programs that serve the broad needs of the Employer community. Members of the STPAC are expected to present the interests and concerns of their respective stakeholder member groups, and to act as a liaison between their stakeholder group and the TPO. The STPAC shall be advised of and provide input on proposed policy and rate changes prior to implementation. Current policies will be accessible to employees on the web site of the TPO.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

26.3 Pay to Park Hours. If any part of an employee's scheduled shift falls within the Employer's pay-to-park hours (~~currently typically~~ 8:00 a.m. - 5:00 p.m.) the employee is required to pay for parking during those hours. If an employee's scheduled shift falls within non-pay-to-park hours (~~currently typically~~ 5:00 p.m. - 8:00 a.m.) and the employee is required to continue work into pay-to-park hours, the employee will provide to the TPO his or her name, license plate information, lot information, and anticipated departure time to avoid being ticketed. The employee will be charged the prevailing TPO parking rate for the number of hours parked after 12:00 noon. Employees will pay the appropriate parking rate at the end of their work shift.

THIS IS CLARIFYING LANGUAGE.

26.4 Employees Working on Short Notice. When an employee is called in to work unexpectedly or on-call, the employee is expected to go online or drive to a pay station lot to purchase a

parking permit for the day. If time does not permit an online or pay station purchase, the employee will provide to the TPO his or her name, vehicle information, lot information, and license plate information. The employee will pay the appropriate parking rate at the end of his or her work shift.

Employees who normally work either the evening or night shift and are required to return to work during the day shift for meetings shall be provided temporary parking space on such occasions at the appropriate rate, arranged in advance by the department. The departments are encouraged to reimburse those costs, if possible.

26.5 Parking During Inclement Weather. Though tickets will not be issued during inclement weather, as described in Section 7.12, employees are expected to avoid patient lots. Parking regulations, however, will be enforced in designated restricted zones, all patient areas, fire lanes and ambulance zones.

ARTICLE 27. HEALTH AND SAFETY

27.1 Health and Safety Standards. The Employer agrees to abide by standards of safety and health in accordance with federal and state regulations, and will ensure that employees are provided with appropriate information and training in order to comply with such regulations and with applicable Employer policies and procedures. The Union encourages employees to work safely, to follow established safety and health rules, and to report to their supervisor or Environmental Health and ~~Radiation~~-Safety (EHS) all safety or health risks. [EHS may be contacted at ehs@ohsu.edu](mailto:ehs@ohsu.edu). All employees are encouraged to utilize the services of the Program as a consultative resource for all safety, health and environmental issues.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

27.2 OSHA Safety Committee. An OSHA Safety Committee (OSC) shall be established in order to make safety policy recommendations, to implement and provide oversight of the policy, and to assist in the resolution of health and safety problems referred to it by area, department or unit. The OSC shall be comprised of equal numbers of OHSU employees and Employer representatives as spelled out in the Committee Charter. At least 40% of the OHSU employees shall be from the AFSCME bargaining unit, with one of those employees being appointed by the Union. Committee members will work cooperatively toward identification and resolution of work place safety, health and environmental issues to minimize the risk, danger and potential loss to OHSU human resources.

27.3 Safety Devices and Clothing. Proper safety devices and clothing shall be purchased and provided by the Employer for all employees engaged in work where such devices are necessary to meet the

requirements of the Oregon Occupational Safety and Health Division (OR-OSHA). Employees will be trained prior to use in such safety devices and clothing. Such equipment, where provided, must be used.

27.4 Refusal to Perform Allegedly Unsafe Work. If an employee claims that an assigned job, or assigned equipment, is unsafe or might unduly endanger his/her health, and for that reason refuses to do that job or use the equipment, the employee shall immediately give, in writing, his/her reasons for this conclusion to his/her supervisor. Where a health and safety determination has already been made, the supervisor shall contact EHRS to assure that the prior determination still applies. If no determination exists, the supervisor shall request EHRS to make an immediate determination as to the safety of the job or equipment in question.

27.4.1 State involvement. If further information or clarification is needed, the employees or EHRS may contact OR-OSHA for assistance. Understanding that OSHA generally controls timing of investigations, the Employer will make a reasonable effort to ensure that a A Union Representative or Steward, EHRS Representative and the supervisor ~~may~~ accompany the governmental agency representative and employee during this determination.

THIS LANGUAGE ALLOWS EMPLOYEES TO CONTACT OSHA DIRECTLY AND HAVE A UNION PRESENCE DURING AN INVESTIGATION; THIS IS A BENEFIT FOR OUR MEMBERS.

27.4.2 Impact on employee pending determination. Pending determination provided for in this section, the employee shall be given suitable work by the supervisor. If no suitable work is available, the employee shall be placed on leave of absence. Time lost by the employee as a result of any refusal to perform work on the grounds that it is unsafe or might unduly endanger his/her health shall not be paid by the Employer unless the employee's claim is upheld.

27.5 Ergonomics. Employees and supervisors are expected to seek resources and information to prevent injury using the OHSU Ergonomics Program, which can be found on the EHRS-Risk Management website. Ergonomic assessments related to a medical condition will be conducted by EHRS-Risk Management upon written request of the employee to his/her supervisor.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

27.6 Work with Dangerous Materials. Any employee who will disturb or damage or work with friable asbestos-containing materials, chemical, radiological, and/or infectious materials in the regular

or incidental course of duties will be trained as to the proper procedures to follow. No employee shall be required to work around these substances without proper training and protective equipment.

27.7 Exposure to Serious Communicable Disease. If in the conduct of official duties, an employee is exposed to serious communicable disease which would require immunization or testing, and if immunization or testing will prevent such disease from occurring, the employee, with prior approval of the Employer, shall be provided immunization against or testing for such communicable disease without cost to the employee.

ARTICLE 28. LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

28.1 PurposeObjectives. The shared ~~purposeobjectives~~ of ~~thea~~ labor-management partnership between the Union and the Employer shall include a commitment to equal partnership through ~~administrationthe implementation of the and administration of a revitalized~~ Labor Management Committee, solving problems at the lowest level possible within the organization, sharing information, recognizing the values and political nature of each organization and creating a flexible, cost effective, responsive and highly competitive organization. For purposes of this provision, equal partnership shall be defined as a relationship which is based on the principles of mutual respect and equal responsibility for decision making and which produces work products clearly identified as joint ventures between the Union and the Employer.

28.2 Composition. The Labor Management Committee (LMC) shall be composed of six (6) employee representatives of the Union and six (6) representatives of the Employer, ~~none of whom shall be not~~ employed in Human Resources. There shall be two co-chairs consisting of one Union employee representative and one Employer representative. ~~Composition of the LMC will be compliant with the Labor Management Committee Charter. It is contemplated that each party's members will reflect representation from the healthcare, central services, research and academic missions of the Employer. In the event that there are or are soon likely to be less than nine (9) total members on the LMC, the Committee will focus its efforts on recruitment of members to restore the total number at nine or above.~~ Union-represented employees appointed to the LMC will be permitted to attend regularly scheduled LMC meetings on paid time not to exceed ~~six (6) four (4)~~ hours per employee per month, provided that such release time does not unreasonably interfere with the Employer's business operations and the employee's supervisor is provided not less than six (6) weeks' notice of each LMC meeting.

28.3 Objectives Commitment to Positive Work Environment. The ~~shared objectives of the Labor Management Committee (LMC) and the Career and Workplace Enhancement Center (CWE Center)~~

~~include a Union and the Employer are jointly committed to creating and sustaining the career advancement of employees and to sustaining a positive and productive work environment with ongoing education. A positive work environment is characterized by the presence of a group of people, staff and managers alike, who share motivation to achieve common goals, along with job satisfaction for individuals and effective working relationships among group members. To maximize the potential benefit to all employees, The objectives of LMC and the CWE Center will be called out separately below: shall insure the availability of a list of possible resources and the processes to assist employees and managers with issue resolution. Resources and processes identified and developed by the LMC shall be posted on the Employer's and the Union's websites.~~

28.3.1 Labor Management Committee (LMC).

a. The LMC shall ensure the availability of a list of possible resources and the processes to assist employees and managers with issue resolution. Resources and processes identified and developed by the LMC shall be posted on the Employer's and the Union's websites.

b. The LMC shall participate in addressing common themes that emerge from employee surveys, contract negotiations, staff meetings, and other elements communicated from the Employer or the Union.

c. The LMC will provide direction, institutional support and financial support to work unit labor-management committees that are jointly sponsored and entered into by the Union and the Employer. A charter template for the work unit labor management committees can be found on the Union's and Employer's websites or through the CWE Center. Work unit labor management committees are engaged in any of the activities recognized in 28.3.a, b, c, d as labor management activities.

(1) The work unit that is the subject of a work unit labor-management committee will choose the process by which committee members will be selected (e.g., appointment, interviews, voting), and will provisionally make selections using their chosen process. AFSCME will have the right to veto any selected members, but will review potential vetoes with the Employer's Human Resources department ahead of any veto^[1].

(2) The members of work unit committees shall be trained in interest-based problem-solving.

(3) The chairs of work unit labor management committees shall report to the LMC quarterly with an outline of goals to work on for the year, a report on progress and a final wrap up of accomplishments.

(4) Local unit's LMC chairs will need to attend a quarterly meeting with other chairs in conjunction with LMC leadership.

(5) The LMC is responsible to create and maintain structure, training, and ongoing guidance for supporting the local unit LMC launches, training of chairs, and support for successful operations.

d. Union-represented employees will be permitted to attend regularly scheduled committee meetings on paid time subject to the work unit's manager's approval.

e. The LMC will provide an annual report to the Vice President for Human Resources, the Employer's Executive Leadership Team, the Union President, and the local union executive leadership committee.

28.3.2 Career and Workplace Enhancement Center (CWE Center).

a. Services provided under the CWE Center charter will include, but are not limited to career development, conflict management, employee development, adult basic education, ELL skills, and basic computer skills. The CWE Center shall ensure that training opportunities are made available for off shift, weekend shift, and remote workers.

b. The LMC will approve initial funding allocations for each of these services. Significant funding changes for specific services should be approved by the LMC.

c. The Employer will prioritize involvement of bargaining unit members in any training provided by the CWE Center. In the event that a training is not fully booked, other OHSU employees may register for the training. In the event that the CWE Center wishes to offer a management-only training, it shall notify the LMC.

~~28.4—Structure and Services. The responsibilities of the LMC will include establishing priorities for approved and dedicated funds and staff resources, setting goals, assessment, and overall accountability. The LMC will provide an annual report to the Vice President for Human Resources and to the Employer's Executive Leadership Team. It shall also provide ongoing guidance to the Career Workplace Enhancement Center (CWE Center).~~

~~28.4.1—Services provided.~~ Services provided under the LMC charter will include process improvement, employee development conflict management and change management. The LMC will approve funding allocations for each of these services on an annual basis. The LMC will also, at the beginning of each fiscal year, approve a plan developed by the CWE Center which identifies the goals to be achieved during that period.

~~28.4.2—Work Unit Committees.~~ The LMC may provide direction, institutional support and financial support to work unit committees. Work unit committees are those committees in work units jointly sponsored and entered into by the Union and the Employer engaged in any of the activities recognized in 28.4.1 as labor management activities. Such committees may include, as determined by the LMC, employees of the Employer who are unclassified or represented by unions other than AFSCME. Union-represented employees appointed to work unit committees will be permitted to attend regularly scheduled committee meetings on paid time subject to the work unit's manager's approval.

~~28.5—Underlying Principles.~~ The LMC shall not add to, subtract from or change any of the terms of this Agreement without the agreement of all parties. The Employer, its employees and the Union are each integral parts of the Labor Management cooperation effort, and without the full participation and support of each, this effort cannot be successful.

28.64 Funding. The Employer will provide funding for LMC activities in the following amounts, subject to an evaluation by the Vice President for Human Resources of the LMC's level of success in meeting its goals for the prior year:

~~\$1,331,133.87~~~~\$1,050,000~~ for the 12-month period commencing on July 1, ~~2019~~~~2015~~.

~~\$1,362,101.74~~~~\$1,170,000~~ for the 12-month period commencing on July 1, ~~2020~~~~2016~~.

~~\$1,393,948.59~~~~\$1,170,000~~ for the 12-month period commencing on July 1, ~~2021~~~~2017~~.

~~\$1,195,000 for the 12-month period commencing on July 1, 2018.~~

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS AND UNION. THERE ARE MULTIPLE CHANGES IN THIS ARTICLE—CLARIFYING LANGUAGE, CO-BRANDING CHANGES, MOVING LANGUAGE FROM ONE SECTION TO ANOTHER, INCREASED FUNDING, ETC.

ARTICLE 29. TERM AND DURATION

29.1 Term of Agreement. Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement shall be effective the ~~first~~ second full pay period following ratification, except where otherwise indicated. ~~an]~~ This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until June 30, ~~2019~~2022.

THIS LANGUAGE INCLUDES A POSSIBLE SLIGHT LOSS AND A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

29.2 Negotiations for New Contract. During the calendar year in which this Agreement is due to expire, the parties shall meet to begin the bargaining process the first full week in February. The parties will commence meeting on a regular basis no later than the first full week in March. The parties agree to request and pre-schedule mediation. The first mediation session shall be scheduled to commence no later than the first full week in June, subject to mediator availability. The parties may mutually agree to renew the current Agreement or to waive or extend any of these timelines. ???

Signed this ____ day of August, ~~2015~~ 2019 in Portland, Oregon.

FOR THE UNION:

FOR OHSU:

~~Frank Vehafrie~~ Kate Baker
AFSCME Staff Representative

~~Joni Elsenpeter~~ TBD
~~Human Resources Director~~

Matt Hilton, President
AFSCME Local 328

AFSCME BARGAINING TEAM:

MANAGEMENT BARGAINING TEAM:

~~Kate Baker~~
~~Mike Bandy~~
~~Jennifer Barker~~
~~Kelli Byrd~~
~~Johanna Colgrove~~
~~Chris Fosnight~~
~~Diane Lovell~~
~~Chinetta Montgomery~~
~~Eric Muechter~~
~~Randy Schmedemann~~
~~Avery Smith~~
~~Michael Stewart~~
~~Derriek Sturgill~~

~~Alix Baeh~~
~~Melanie Erskine~~
~~Kristine McGriff~~
~~David Newell~~
~~Maulin Patel~~
~~Jane Rosato~~
~~Dio Sumagaysay~~
~~Jeff Wassouf~~
~~Brian Morrison~~
Amar Khouma
Amy Wood
Carolyn Bruebaker Moore
Emily Boring

~~Erie Vecchi~~

Matt Hilton

Ashley Larkin

Casey Parr

Claire Irvan

Haley Wolford

Jennifer Barker

Jim Cherveney

Karyn Trivette

Kasey Zimmer-Stucky

Michael Stewart

Mike Bandy

Roger Clark

Kate Baker

Esperanza Zozobrado

Haley Sands

Hollie Hemenway

Paul Southerton

Steve Osgood

Mike Brunet

NOTE: All signatures required for the contract and subsequent LOAs and MOUs to go into effect are on file at both OHSU Human Resources and the AFSCME Local 328 office.

THIS LANGUAGE UPDATES THE SIGNATORIES AND THE BARGAINING TEAMS FOR THE NEW CONTRACT.

APPENDIX A

Contract Variations Applicable to Salaried Employees

This appendix sets forth terms and conditions of employment that shall apply uniquely to salaried employees:

1. **Non-applicable contract provisions.** The following provisions of the Agreement do not apply to salaried employees:
 - a. Employment Practices and Procedures, Article 6.3, Timekeeping Records
 - b. Hours of Work, Article 7.1 Work Week and Extended Work Week
 - c. Hours of Work, Scheduling of Work, Article 7.2.1 Shifts in Excess of 12 Hours
 - d. Hours of Work, Scheduling of Work, Article 7.2.2 Split Shifts
 - e. Hours of Work, Scheduling of Work, Article 7.2.4 Request for flexible work schedules
 - f. Hours of Work, Scheduling of Work, Article 7.2.6 Changes in reporting time
 - g. Hours of Work, Scheduling of Work, Article 7.2.8 Non-guarantee of hours
 - h. Hours of Work, Article 7.3 Report Pay
 - i. Hours of Work, Article 7.4 Availability of Additional Work
 - j. Hours of Work, Article 7.5 Rest Periods
 - k. Hours of Work, Article 7.6 Meal Periods
 - l. Hours of Work, Article 7.7 Time off Between Regularly Scheduled Shifts
 - m. Hours of Work, Article 7.8 On Call
 - n. Hours of Work, Article 7.9 In-House Standby
 - o. Hours of Work, Article 7.10 Shift Trades
 - p. Hours of Work, Article 7.11 Clean Up Time
 - ~~q. Hours of Work, Article 7.12 Inelement Weather~~
 - ~~r. Compensation, Article 8.2 Progression Increases~~
 - s. Overtime and Premium Pay, Article 9.1 Overtime
 - t. Overtime and Premium Pay, Article 9.2.1 Compensation Rate
 - u. Overtime and Premium Pay, Article 9.2.2 Commencement of Compensation
 - v. Overtime and Premium Pay, Article 9.3 Change in Reporting Time
 - w. Overtime and Premium Pay, Article 9.4 Work on Recognized Holiday
 - x. Differential Pay, Article 10.1 Shift Differential
 - y. Differential Pay, Article 10.2 On-Call Pay
 - z. Differential Pay, Article 10.3 Work from Home
 - aa. Differential Pay, Article 10.4 In-House Standby Compensation
 - bb. Holidays, Article 11.2 Holiday Compensation
 - cc. Holidays, Article 11.3 Work on a Holiday
 - dd. Holidays, Article 11.4 Holiday Work Schedules
 - ee. Layoff, Article 19.11 Shift Curtailment and Cancellation

THESE CHANGES ARE BIG WINS FOR OUR SALARIED MEMBERS.

2. **Accrual of vacation time.** Section 12.1 shall be modified for salaried employees as follows:

Until Pay Period 1 2020:

YEARS OF SERVICE	RATE PER PAID REGULAR HOUR	NUMBER OF DAYS PER YEAR	NUMBER OF HOURS PER YEAR
1 st through 5 th year	.0576 per hour paid	15	120
After 5 th through 10 th year	.0654 per hour paid	17	136
After 10 th through 15 th year	.0731 per hour paid	19	152

Effective Pay Period 1 2020:

YEARS OF SERVICE	RATE PER PAID REGULAR HOUR	NUMBER OF DAYS PER YEAR	NUMBER OF HOURS PER YEAR
<u>1st through 5th year</u>	<u>.0615 per hour paid</u>	<u>16</u>	<u>128</u>
<u>After 5th through 10th year</u>	<u>.0692 per hour paid</u>	<u>18</u>	<u>144</u>
<u>After 10th through 15th year</u>	<u>.0769 per hour paid</u>	<u>20</u>	<u>160</u>

THIS IS A WIN. (NOTE: THIS IS ONE AREA THAT WE'VE CONTACTED OHSU ABOUT— THE TABLES DON' T CURRENTLY INCLUDE ROWS FOR EMPLOYEES WHO'VE WORKE AT OHSU FOR 15-20 YEARS OR 20+ YEARS.)

3. **Voluntary process to move from hourly to salary pay.** The currently established voluntary process for conversion to salaried status will continue with the following modifications:

- a. The Employer or an employee may request, for a specific classification within a specific work unit, a formal poll to move to salaried exempt status. A change to salaried exempt status requires a majority vote among those voting. Only Union members may participate in that poll. The Union commits to conducting this poll and submitting the results to the Union's Executive Board for formal approval of the results within six weeks of the request.
- b. In addition, an employee in a regular status position may request to move to salaried exempt status by notifying his/her manager, appropriate HR representative and Union representative. If the Employer consents, the parties shall facilitate this movement.
- c. The salary range for the employee's classification is determined by matching the midpoint of the existing hourly range to the closest mathematical midpoint of the salary structure.

d. The employee's new salary level will be established by multiplying the employee's current hourly rate times the employee's FTE times 2,080 hours.

4. **Posting of vacant positions.** The Employer may post any vacant position that qualifies as exempt under the wage and hour laws as a salaried position.

~~5. **Compensation adjustments.** Salaried employees will be eligible to receive compensation adjustments as provided in Article 8, except that Section 8.2 shall not apply. Annual performance reviews will be conducted for salaried employees. Salaried employees shall receive a 1.5% increase on their anniversary date, not to exceed the pay range maximum, provided they have maintained satisfactory performance appraisals. If no annual appraisal is done by the Employer this requirement is waived.~~

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR SALARIED MEMBERS.

6. **Longevity increase.** To be eligible for a longevity increase, employees must remain at the range maximum in the same classification for five (5) years consistent with current longevity rate guidelines. Employees who are at the maximum of their hourly pay range when they transition to salaried status and whose rate of pay is no more than 2.5% below the new range maximum shall, effective the date they move to the new range maximum as a result of an anniversary increase, receive credit toward the 5-year waiting period for a longevity increase.

7. **Vacation and sick leave accruals.** Vacation and sick leave accruals for salaried employees will be based on the employee's FTE.

8. **Timekeeping requirements.** ~~Salaried employees' timekeeping requirements will be comparable to those in effect for Unclassified Administrative employees~~ Salaried employees may be asked to record time for a specific purpose, such as to support an FTE addition, for grants, or for projects.

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR SALARIED MEMBERS.

9. **Differentials.** Salaried employees who are assigned work in a higher level classification pursuant to Section 10.10, are assigned lead work duties pursuant to Section 10.5, or qualify for differential pay under Section 10.7 or Section 10.8, for any portion of their scheduled shift shall receive the applicable differential for the entire shift.

10. **Seniority.** Seniority points under Article 17 will be credited per pay period based on FTE rather than on hours paid.

11. **Relief and flex employees.** Relief employees and flex staff who perform work in a salaried classification will continue to be paid on an hourly basis.

12. **Salaries in effect.** The salaries in effect for all salaried classifications shall be set forth in the OHSU Salaried Compensation Plan, which is posted on the Employer's intranet.

~~13. **Meal and Rest Periods.** The parties agree that providing opportunities for meal and rest breaks is the Employer's responsibility and taking meal and rest breaks when able or asked to do so is the employee's responsibility. Employees shall notify their supervisor if they are unable to take meal or rest breaks, and the Employer will use reasonable efforts to resolve the issue.~~

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR SALARIED MEMBERS.

APPENDIX B

Conditions of Flex Staff Employment

A. Purpose. The purpose of Flex Staff positions is (1) to provide relief for absences of regular and Probationary Period employees, (2) to provide staff for short-term projects, and (3) to provide short-term supplementing of existing staffing levels.

B. Limitations on Flex Staff per Work Unit. The Employer will continue to recognize all earlier negotiated agreements regarding the number of Flex Staff employed per work unit. For work units not utilizing Flex Staff as of the date of this Agreement, the employer may employ Flex Staff up to a maximum of fifteen percent (15%) of a work unit's employee population, but never less than one (1) per work unit.

C. Non-Applicable Sections of Agreement. Flex Staff are subject to all provisions of the parties' Agreement to the extent that they apply to contingent workers without guaranteed hours, except that the following provisions do not apply:

7.2	Scheduling of Work
8.2	Progression Increases
8.3	Merit-Based Adjustments
8.4	Market-Based Adjustments
8.5	Salary Adjustments upon Change in Status
8.6	Reclassification
9.1.4	Scheduling and assignment of overtime
9.3	Change in Reporting Time
9.4	Work on Recognized Holiday
11.2	Holiday Compensation
Art. 12	Vacations
Art. 13	Sick Leave
14.1	Leaves of Absence with Pay
Art. 15	Insurance Benefits
Art. 19	Layoff
Art. 23	Discipline and Discharge [except 23.5, 23.6; see also Section D below]

D. Modifications of Contract Provisions. The following provisions shall apply in modification ~~or in lieu~~ of the ~~referenced~~ contract provisions described below:

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

1. Seniority. Flex Staff employees may exercise their seniority under the provisions of this Agreement only after regular and relief employees have had an opportunity to exercise their seniority rights in the applicable situation

2. Discipline and discharge. Flex Staff shall be disciplined only for just cause. The principles of progressive discipline shall be used except when the nature of the problem requires more serious discipline or immediate action. Progressive discipline for Flex Staff includes the steps of written reprimand and discharge. No other steps of progressive discipline shall be required.

Flex Staff shall be entitled to a pre-discharge hearing which shall be held no sooner than 24 hours after receipt of written notice of the charges. The written notice shall include the known complaints, facts and charges, a statement that the employee may be discharged, and a specific notice of the employee's right to union representation at the pre-discharge hearing.

All notices of pre-discharge and discharge shall be forwarded to the Union on the same day as the employee is notified.

The employment of Flex Staff may also be terminated when there is no longer a need for their services.

E. Provisions Exclusively for Flex Staff. The following provisions shall apply only to Flex Staff employees:

1. Scheduling. A Flex Staff employee shall indicate to the Employer the days of the week, hours in the day and specialty areas, if applicable, he/she wishes to work. It is the Flex Staff employee's ongoing responsibility to inform the department of changes in availability and/or interest.

2. Other Appointments. Employees may not be appointed as Flex Staff concurrently with an appointment as regular, Probationary Period or limited duration employee.

3. Transition from Regular or Probationary Period to Flex Staff Status. Upon conversion from regular or Probationary Period status to Flex Staff status, an employee shall be compensated for all accrued vacation, personal leave, and compensatory time. Any accrued sick leave shall be frozen and unavailable for use unless and until the employee returns to his/her former status.

4. Rates of Pay. The rate of pay for a flex staff employee may vary from the minimum hourly rate for the applicable job classification to 150% of the range maximum. Rate of pay may be negotiated individually between the employee and his/her supervisor at any time.

Appendix B

Form Letter to New Flex Staff Employees

You have been hired as a FLEX-STAFF employee in the _____ department of OHSU. The purpose of Flex Staff positions is (1) to provide relief for absences of regular and Probationary Period employees, (2) to provide staff for short-term projects, and (3) to supplement existing staffing levels.

As a Flex Staff employee, you are NOT eligible for:

- Step progression pay adjustments
- Medical, dental or other insurance benefits
- Layoff rights
- Vacation, holiday or sick leave benefits
- Job bidding

You are eligible for:

- Retirement benefits after six months of employment
- [Sick leave per the Oregon sick time law](#)
- Shift differential
- Tuition discount (if regularly working over .5 FTE)
- Applying the experience gained as a Flex Staff employee toward the minimum experience requirement of the applicable employment classification

THIS CHANGE IS A WIN (DUE TO COMPLIANCE WITH THE OREGON SICK LEAVE LAW).

Rate of pay may be negotiated individually between the employee and supervisor at any time.

Information regarding classification pay ranges can be obtained from the OHSU Human Resources Department.

Copies of the Flex Staff Agreement between OHSU and AFSCME can be found in Appendix B of the parties' Labor Agreement or may be obtained by contacting either the Human Resources Department or AFSCME Local 328.

Employee Signature

Date

APPENDIX C

Employee Benefits Council

Section 1 – Purpose

The Employer, the Union and the Oregon Nurses Association (ONA) have become partners in the determination of plan design and types of benefits to be provided to OHSU employees. This partnership is known as the Employee Benefits Council (hereinafter referred to as the Council) which includes the following purposes, subject to the provisions of Sections 3 and 5 herein:

- Determine the plan design and types of benefits (Medical, Dental, Disability, Life and Health Promotion) to be offered to OHSU employees and early retirees, including the coordination of insurance benefits and cash back opportunities;
- Develop and approve rules governing enrollment and eligibility;
- Develop an appeals process for individuals covered by these benefits, including criteria to be used when evaluating such appeals (which shall be the sole dispute resolution process for any individual disputing a claim for benefits or any other decision made by the Council);
- Participate in the development of communication plan(s) designed to provide covered individuals with information concerning their benefit(s);
- Determine what types of health promotion/disease management programs will be offered to employees and dependents;
- Participate in the development of any Requests for Proposals (RFP) and Requests for Information (RFI);
- Make all decisions concerning the selection of facilitators and other resource individuals who shall report to the Council.
- Be informed on the process leading to the selection of potential providers.

Section 2 – Membership

Membership of the Council shall be structured as follows: Four (4) representatives appointed by the Union, two (2) representatives appointed by the ONA, and six (6) representatives appointed by the Employer.

Section 3 – Decision Making

Every reasonable attempt will be made to make consensus-based decisions utilizing evaluative criteria developed by the Council. If consensus fails, the matter(s) will be voted by the parties collectively (e.g., ONA one (1) vote, AFSCME two (2) votes, and the Employer three (3) votes). If the Council is still unable to reach a decision, the matter(s) in dispute shall be referred to the OSHU President or his/her designee, whose decision shall be final and binding on the Council, the Employer, the Union and the ONA. Two (2) Union, one (1) ONA and three (3) Employer Council members shall constitute a quorum.

Evaluative criteria, which the Council may modify at any time, shall be as follows:

- Does the decision lead to a responsible cost-benefit relationship?
- To what extent will participants in the plans be satisfied with the decision?
- Does the decision enhance the Employer's long-term viability?
- Are the current and potential economic fluctuations of the industry fully recognized?
- Will participants be able to understand the benefit structure that will result from the decision made?
- Is the decision made of the highest ethical quality, so that full disclosure of the results can be made?
- Does the decision lead to administrative procedures that assure a fast response to participants' problems?

Section 4 - Meetings

Regular meetings of the Council shall be held at least monthly, at times and locations determined by the Council. Union employees shall receive paid release time for all Council activities. The Employer agrees to release employees from work duties except in the case of an emergency. A person designated by the Employer will take notes and distribute them to Council members within 30 days of each meeting. These notes will be approved by consensus of the Council members at the following meeting.

Section 5 - Impact on Collective Bargaining Agreements

The Council has no authority to make decisions or promulgate rules that in any way conflict with the provisions of the parties' Agreement. The Council may make modifications to Sections 1 through 4 of this appendix utilizing the decision-making process described in Section 3.

APPENDIX D

Just Cause Standard

The following questions will assist the parties in determining whether or not the “just cause” standard has been properly applied in instances involving the discipline or discharge of an employee as specified in Article 23 – Discipline and Discharge:

1. Did the Employer provide the employee with forewarning or foreknowledge of the possible or probable disciplinary consequences of the employee’s conduct?
2. Is the Employer’s rule, order or policy at issue reasonably related to the orderly, efficient and safe operation of the Employer’s business, and to the performance that the Employer might properly expect of its employee?
3. Did the Employer, before administering discipline to the employee, make an effort to discover whether the employee did in fact violate or disobey a rule, order or policy of the Employer?
4. Was the Employer’s investigation conducted fairly and objectively?
5. During the investigation did the Employer obtain substantial evidence or proof that the employee engaged in the conduct for which the employee is being disciplined?
6. Has the Employer applied its rules, orders, and discipline for the infraction involved evenhandedly and without discrimination against the employee?
7. Was the degree of discipline administered by the Employer reasonably related to the seriousness of the employee’s offense and the performance record of the employee?

APPENDIX E

Voluntary Waiver of Daily Overtime

Employee Name: _____ ID#: _____

Original Hire Date: _____ Email: _____

Phone: _____ Fax: _____

Department: _____ Supervisor: _____

The purpose of this waiver is to allow employees flexibility with their work day schedule as approved by the employee's department and, when required, an authorized representative of the Union. To this end, an employee wishing to continue working at the end of his/her normal work day may continue to do so with approval of his/her supervisor and without incurring overtime, while foregoing an equal number of work hours in subsequent days within the same work week. This waiver may be initiated either by the employee or his/her supervisor, provided that the waiver is for the employee's benefit.

Reason for Waiver: _____

I, _____, do hereby agree to waive overtime otherwise due me for hours worked in excess of my regular shift length of at least eight (8) hours per day. This waiver is for my own benefit. I agree that I will not be eligible for overtime compensation (time and one-half times my regular hourly rate of pay) except for hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a work week - regardless of the number of hours I work in a day within such work week. This Agreement supersedes and negates the overtime provisions of Article 9.1 of the OHSU/AFSCME Collective Bargaining Agreement for as long as this waiver remains in effect. I understand that I may cancel this waiver at any time by written notification to the OHSU Payroll Department. Any such decision shall become effective with the next full pay period following proper notification. This waiver may also be rescinded by the Department by providing the Payroll Department and me with notification of its termination effective with the next full pay period.

I understand that this Agreement will become effective with the next bi-weekly pay period following signature of the parties noted below and receipt by the OHSU Payroll Department.

Supervisor Approval

Employee Approval

Date

Date

UNION APPROVAL: Union approval is required only when an employee is serving an initial probationary period or an internal job change evaluation period.

Approved **Denied** **Date:** _____

Reason for Denial:

Union Contact: _____ **Phone:** _____ **Email:** _____

Directions for Employee:

If union approval is required, route to AFSCME for approval at **jpotter@oregonafcme.com**

Once all appropriate approvals are obtained, route the completed form to Payroll at **paycheck@ohsu.edu**, your supervisor, and the union at **jpotter@oregonafcme.com**.

APPENDIX F

Severance Program

A. Purpose. The severance program described herein is designed to provide a one-time benefit to employees for financial support during a period of employment transition.

B. Eligibility.

To be eligible for severance benefits, an employee must be:

- Regularly scheduled to work at least 20 hours per week and a .5 FTE or more;
- Involuntarily terminated due to program closure, position elimination or reorganization; and
- Notified by Human Resources of eligibility for severance benefits.

Severance benefits are not available to employees who:

- Are working in temporary, limited duration, flex or relief positions;
- Are in their probationary period;
- Resign from their employment position*; or
- Are given notice of termination for reasons other than those identified above.

* Although the severance program is not designed as a voluntary program, managers may, at their discretion, offer the severance benefits described below to an employee who volunteers to be laid off, provided the employee is otherwise eligible.

C. Conditions.

1. Calculation of severance payment. Severance pay will be based on length of continuous service with the Employer and will be calculated using base pay only. For purposes of this paragraph, length of continuous service is defined as continuous, uninterrupted employment with the Employer, except for breaks of service of 90 days or less. Base pay is defined as the regular rate of pay as of the date of notice of layoff excluding overtime, bonuses, shift differential, incentive pay and the value of any employee benefits. If the position being eliminated constitutes only a portion of the employee's FTE, the severance pay will be based on the affected FTE portion only. Severance will be paid in a lump sum payment and is subject to applicable taxes and other statutory withholdings.

2. Separation agreement. Employees who wish to accept severance benefits will be required to sign a separation agreement prior to remittance of any severance benefits and to wait for the expiration of any potential revocation window. The separation agreement will include, but will not be limited to, a waiver and release of claims against the Employer, an agreement not to solicit the Employer's employees, and an agreement to repay a pro-rata amount of severance benefits received if the employee is rehired by the Employer.

3. Waiver of other contract rights. Any employee who accepts severance benefits in accordance with this program automatically waives all layoff and placement rights provided for under Article 19 of the Agreement.

D. Severance Benefits

1. Pay. Employees shall receive four (4) weeks of base pay for less than 5 years of service, plus one (1) additional week of base pay for each fully completed year of service beyond 4 years. (For example, an employee who has worked 8 years and 4 months upon termination will receive payment for 8 fully completed years of service.)

- The maximum pay benefit under this provision shall be 26 weeks.
- Severance payments will be eligible for pension contributions.
- Any payments made for COBRA or other health and welfare benefits will not be eligible for pension contributions.
- For retirees, completed years of service are calculated from the rehire date following retirement.

2. Continuation of benefits. For employees who timely select continuation of medical and dental insurance coverage under COBRA, the Employer will continue to contribute toward the cost of such coverage at the same contribution level as before for the length of the severance pay period (see chart below). An employee may, in lieu of continuing coverage under COBRA, elect to receive the cash equivalent of the COBRA subsidy amount.

3. Contracting severance benefit. Any regular non-probationary employee, regardless of FTE status, who is displaced as a result of contracting or subcontracting bargaining unit work as described in Section 6.13 of the Agreement and who otherwise qualifies for severance benefits under this appendix shall, in lieu of the pay provisions set forth in Paragraph D.1 above, receive severance pay as follows:

- a. Employees with at least one (1) but less than five (5) fully completed years of service shall receive four (4) weeks of base pay.
- b. Employees with five (5) years of service shall receive five (5) weeks of base pay.
- c. Employees with six (6) or more years of service shall receive two (2) weeks of base pay for each fully completed year of service.
- d. Employees with fifteen (15) or more years of service shall receive thirty (30) weeks of base pay plus three (3) weeks of base pay for each fully completed year of service beyond 15 years. (For example, an employee with 20 fully completed years of service will receive 45 weeks of base pay.)

The additional severance pay available under this Paragraph D.3 shall not affect the months of COBRA subsidy under Paragraph D.2 and the chart below.

4. Outplacement. Employees may access outplacement services through either the Career and Workplace Enhancement (CWE) Center or the Employee Assistance Program (EAP). The CWE Center may offer classes on career networking, resume writing and job interviewing. Employees will have access to these classes up to 60 days after termination of employment. The EAP offers, in addition to phone and web-based services, up to three face-to-face counseling sessions. All EAP services are available to employees and their dependents for 60 days after termination of employment.

5. Cashout. Affected employees will also be eligible for cash-out of unused vacation leave in accordance with Section 12.6 of the Agreement.

The chart below outlines the severance benefit and COBRA subsidy based on length of service:

Length of Service	Weeks of Pay	Months of COBRA Subsidy
Up to 5 years	4	1
5 to <6 years	5	2
6 to <7 years	6	2
7 to <8 years	7	2
8 to <9 years	8	2
9 to <10 years	9	3
10 to <11 years	10	3
11 to <12 years	11	3
12 to <13 years	12	3
13 to <14 years	13	4
14 to <15 years	14	4

Length of Service	Weeks of Pay	Months of COBRA Subsidy
15 to <16 years	15	4
16 to <17 years	16	4
17 to <18 years	17	5
18 to <19 years	18	5
19 to <20 years	19	5
20 to <21 years	20	5
21 to <22 years	21	6
22 to <23 years	22	6
23 to <24 years	23	6
24 to <25 years	24	6
25 to <26 years	25	7
26 years or more	26	7

APPENDIX G

Guidelines on Reaching Consensus

Developing a consensus agreement can be an effective way for a work group to modify certain parts of the contract based on their unique way of working together. Section 5.3 defines which sections are appropriate for consensus agreements under this contract.

A. Process and Timeline for Reaching a Consensus Agreement

Getting Organized

A small Consensus Exploration Committee (CEC) should meet and discuss feasibility of developing an agreement. This meeting shall include managers and supervisors, as they will be affected by the agreement. Agreements that modify parts of the contract not listed in Section 5.3 or that are overly-burdensome to administer are not feasible. The following are the CEC's responsibility:

1. Develop and implement a communication plan so that everyone directly affected by the agreement can have their interests heard and can participate. The plan should incorporate communication methods established and understood by the work group. Timelines should also be set. Large or multi-location work groups may need to choose representatives, or other participation methods—see “How to Develop Consensus in the Workplace” workbook for ideas.
2. Identify why the current contract language doesn't meet the needs of the work group.
3. Discuss interests and brainstorm solutions with the work group, according to the communication plan. Refer to the Consensus Agreement Template for required elements.
4. After consulting with the work group, create a proposed consensus agreement based on the ideas that best resolve the issues; request help if a facilitator is needed.
5. When the work group decides that consensus may be reached, test for consensus by putting the proposal out for vote. While it's important that everyone in the work group can support the proposal, if at least 80% of the work group reach agreement on the proposal then consensus is reached. Remember, supporting may not mean 100% agreement with the proposal.
6. Finalize the written Consensus Agreement using the template, making sure it includes all the required elements.

Implementation

If consensus on the agreement is reached the manager or designee is responsible for the following:

1. Send a copy to your HR business partner and Union staff.
2. Post where all affected employees can access it.

3. Provide it to new employees when they join the work group.
4. Consensus agreements expire at the end of the contract. Remember, the language of the contract may change and all agreements will need to be reviewed. Agreements should be reviewed annually to ensure they meet the needs of the department and employees.

B. Tips on Reaching Consensus

- Encourage participation by all. Make sure you have a good communication plan to communicate with those who are unable to actively participate in the consensus development process.
- Be committed to developing a solution that is fair for everyone and meets everyone's interests as much as possible. Approach the problem with an open mind, not a preconceived solution.
- Communicate effectively. Listen actively. Pay attention to others. Ask clarifying questions. Assume good intent. Openly express interests, opinions, feelings, and ideas. Confirm that others understand.
- While any individual may disagree with a potential decision, that individual must search for alternatives. If an alternative solution is not forthcoming, the individual who disagrees with the potential decision must reevaluate his or her position in consideration of the goal of reaching agreement on the issue.
- Once the solution is reached, all members of the group must be committed to the solution. Even though an individual may not completely agree with the solution, he or she agrees to support it. The involved group collectively agrees that the decision is the best solution for the group at this time. It is important to have realistic expectations, with an understanding that this process will not solve all problems or eliminate conflict.

C. Resources

There are a variety of resources at OHSU to help your work group develop a consensus agreement.

- HR business partners and the Union can help facilitate or answer questions.
- The Union and Employer are currently developing a repository of sample agreements.

The CWE Center has a variety of helpful courses and can provide workshops for teams. They also have a variety of useful books and other materials available on good negotiations. They can provide:

- Interest Based Problem Solving materials
- "How to Develop Consensus in the Workplace" workbook
- Common Interests list
- Consensus Agreement Template

APPENDIX H

Voluntary Waiver of Shift Differential

Employee Name: _____ ID#: _____

Original Hire Date: _____ Email: _____

Phone: _____ Fax: _____

Department: _____ Supervisor: _____

The purpose of this waiver is to allow employees flexibility with their work day schedule as approved by the employee's supervisor. To this end, an employee wishing to work a flexible schedule during hours that would normally qualify for payment of shift differential under Section 10.1 may do so without receiving shift differential pay with approval of his/her supervisor. This waiver may be initiated either by the employee or his/her supervisor, provided that the waiver is for the purpose of allowing the employee flexibility in his or her work day schedule. The Employer will provide a copy of the signed waiver to the Union.

Reason for Waiver: _____

I, _____, do hereby agree to waive shift differential pay otherwise due to me. This waiver is for my own benefit. This waiver supersedes and negates the shift differential provisions of Section 10.1 of the OHSU/AFSCME Collective Bargaining Agreement for as long as this waiver remains in effect. The waiver will remain in effect until cancelled by me or my supervisor. I understand that I may cancel the waiver at any time by written notification to the OHSU Payroll Department and my supervisor. Any such decision shall become effective with the next full pay period following proper notification. This waiver may also be rescinded by OHSU by providing me with notification of its termination effective the next full pay period.

This waiver applies specifically to: evening shift differential and/or night shift differential.

I understand that this Agreement will become effective with the next bi-weekly pay period following signature of the parties noted below and receipt by the OHSU Payroll Department.

Supervisor Approval

Employee Approval

Date

Date

UNION APPROVAL:

Approved Denied Date: _____

Reason for Denial:

Union Contact: _____ Phone: _____ Email: _____

Directions for Employee:

After Supervisor and Employee approvals, route to AFSCME for approval at **jpotter@oregonafscme.com**

Once all appropriate approvals are obtained, route the completed form to Payroll at **paycheck@ohsu.edu** and your supervisor.

APPENDIX I

Licensed Practical Nurses

~~LPNs will not be scheduled for more than seven (7) weekends, of which no more than two (2) will be successive in a thirteen (13) week calendar quarter, unless the employee requests in writing to work more weekends. This provision is subject to a patient care emergency declared by the Chief Operating Officer or designee.~~

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE — THIS LANGUAGE DOES NOT APPLY TO ANY EMPLOYEES.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #1

Drug and Alcohol Testing

1. Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace

To promote the health, safety and productivity of employees, it is the Employer's policy to provide a drug and alcohol-free workplace. To support this goal, the Employer has established a testing program consisting of pre-employment testing of applicants for employment in specified positions. The Employer may also conduct testing of employees transferring to testable positions from non-testable positions in accordance with the provisions set forth below. The Employer and the Union have further established a program of for cause testing for employees who are under suspicion of being under the influence of controlled substances while at work and that program is incorporated in this memorandum.

2. Drug Testing for Testable Positions

A testable position is a position that the Human Resources Department has designated for drug testing. Testable positions include all direct patient care positions, ~~all safety-sensitive positions and other special needs positions~~ and those involving work that would pose a substantial risk to any person's safety if the individual performing the duties of the position were impaired by drug or alcohol use. A list of testable positions shall be maintained in the Human Resources Department and shall be made available upon request. The Employer will provide to the Union criteria used to determine testable positions.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE THAT MIRRORS OHSU POLICY.

The Employer maintains a pre-employment testing program of external applicants in testable positions. The Employer may also conduct post-offer testing of an internal employee applicant who is transferring from a non-testable position to a testable position, or from a testable position to another testable position if the employee has not been tested before. The Employer shall provide clear notice to internal applicants of any posted position designated as testable.

THIS IS A SLIGHT LOSS, BUT IT HELPS ENSURE WORKPLACE SAFETY == CURRENT EMPLOYEES ARE GRANDFATHERED UNLESS THEY MOVE TO A NEW POSITION THAT IS TESTABLE.

The Employer may also conduct drug testing of employees in non-testable positions who perform Work Out of Class in testable positions. An employee who has been tested for a Work Out of Class position who subsequently transfers to that position will not be re-tested. Employer shall provide clear notice to Work Out of Class candidates of any position designated as testable.

THIS IS A SLIGHT LOSS, BUT IT HELPS ENSURE WORKPLACE SAFETY.

3. For Cause Drug and Alcohol Testing

Random drug testing is not permitted.

Reasonable cause for drug and alcohol testing should include conduct and/or current indicators of impairment such as the following:

Recent conduct/behavior:

- Disregard for safety of others
- Taking needless risks
- Unexplained “disappearances” from the job
- Lapses in concentration or coordination
- Complaints from co-workers
- Poor judgment/increased mistakes
- Observed impairment of job performance
- Serious workplace accident with a degree of employee fault or which might have been prevented by employee behavior
- A workplace accident following a series of similar accidents which results in injury, financial loss or equipment damage
- Evidence of drug tampering in the employee’s workplace
- Other erratic conduct or behavior

Current indicators:

- Odor of alcohol
- Slurred speech
- Bizarre behavior
- Lack of muscular coordination or control
- Violent behavior
- Excessively active/drowsy
- Inability to verbalize
- Presence of drug paraphernalia
- Deteriorating physical appearance or hygiene

Observations such as the above factors may cause a supervisor to request a reasonable suspicion evaluation.

One employee who is trained to evaluate reasonable suspicion will meet with the employee. The evaluator must agree with the supervisor that the employee exhibits reasonable suspicion of impairment due to drug or alcohol use.

An evaluator is defined as any employee who has been given “reasonable evaluation” training. Reasonable evaluation training will be made available to all managers, safety teams, and Union stewards. Stewards will not be required to perform reasonable suspicion evaluations on bargaining unit members.

Requirements (and Testing Procedures)

a. An employee who has been determined to be exhibiting reasonable suspicion of impairment may be required to submit to a drug or alcohol test and the evaluators shall record their observations and conclusions on a form provided by the Employer.

b. The employee to be screened shall be relieved of his/her duties and arrangements will be made for administration of the test. The employee shall remain on paid status until the testing process is complete and the employee returns either to work or home as appropriate. If the Employer determines that the employee should not work until the test results are received and evaluated by the Employer, the employee shall be placed on paid administrative leave status until such time as the Employer’s evaluation is complete. Refusal or failure to submit to testing is cause for disciplinary action.

c. Tests will be paid for by the Employer.

4. Confidentiality

Test results shall be made available on a need to know basis and in accordance with federal and state laws. Employees may be asked to provide information as necessary to interpret drug screen results. Such information will be considered confidential.

5. Protocols

The Employer shall implement the requirements of this policy and establish protocols for testing. At a minimum such protocols shall comply with ORS 438.435, as revised, and shall include the following:

Testing administrator: Employees shall not be tested by the Employer. Testing shall be conducted by a third-party laboratory that is certified by the appropriate certifying agency. The sample may be collected in OHSU locations mutually designated by the Employer and the Union, provided that the confidentiality and privacy of the employee is preserved, or at a certified testing laboratory facility as determined by the Employer.

| Testing mechanisms: **Except for breathalyzer tests, a A**-split sample shall be taken so that in the event of a positive test a confirming test shall be made by the use of Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry method. If at any time a test is developed with a higher rate of reliability than the GC/MS test, then it shall be used for the confirmatory test.

Sample Procedures: Prior to testing, the employee’s supervisor shall present and read to the employee a statement of the employee’s rights under this article prepared by jointly by the Union and the Employer. At the test site, the employee will be required to list all medications/drugs currently being used by the employee on a form supplied by the testing facility. This list will be

used by the facility only for test determination purposes. Testing will be limited to urine specimens and/or sampling via breathalyzer for reasonable suspicion of being under the influence of alcohol; no employee will be required to take a blood test. The ~~urine~~ sample shall be taken in such a manner as to insure the authenticity and reliability of the sample and the confidentiality of the employee.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE.

For urine tests, ~~T~~he sample will be divided into two equal parts, separately sealed, labeled and stored. The first sample will be used for the test and the confirmatory test in the event that the initial test is positive. In the event the initial drug screen and confirmatory test are positive, the second sample will be available to the employee to have tested at a laboratory of the employee's own choosing at the employee's request.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL/CLARIFYING CHANGE.

Employees shall have the right of Union representation during the process up until the sample is collected and shall be so advised by the employer at the time the supervisor requests a reasonable suspicion evaluation. However, the absence of an available steward shall not delay for more than 45 minutes the timely obtaining of a sample.

If at any point in this process the results of the screen are negative, the process shall be halted; the employee shall be given a copy of all records relating to the drug and/or alcohol test, including the reasonable suspicion evaluation, developed during the process; and all records of the process in the Employer's possession shall be destroyed following the pendency of the grievance period, provided the employee has filed no grievance or other administrative or legal appeal. The records to be destroyed are those directly related to and referencing the drug and/or alcohol testing process. Documentation of employee conduct during the period of time in question which does not reference the drug and/or alcohol test may be maintained.

THIS IS A NEUTRAL/CLARIFYING CHANGE.

An employee who tests positive shall be given a copy of all records developed during the process and be treated in accordance with Section 8 below.

If the results of the test are negative, the employee and the Union may challenge through the grievance procedure whether reasonable suspicion existed at the time the test was ordered. However, if the employee elects to challenge whether reasonable suspicion existed, the Employer will have the right to retain all documentation which reasonably supports the Employer's position.

If the results are positive, neither the Union nor the employee shall have the right to challenge whether reasonable suspicion existed for the ordering of the test.

6. Waiver of Test

Employees with no previous deferral of discipline for substance abuse may waive a test by agreeing to enter rehabilitation. The Employer shall have the right to deny such right of waiver if it has reasonable suspicion of diversion of drugs or other offenses of an equally serious nature. A waiver shall be deemed to be the equivalent of a positive test result.

7. Training

The Union and the Employer shall mutually agree on the training program used to train employees in making a “reasonable suspicion” determination.

8. Rehabilitation

The Employer recognizes that employees are the organization’s most valuable resource and is committed to maintaining their safety, health and well-being. Abuse of alcohol and drugs is recognized as an illness that can be abated through drug screening, education, treatment and rehabilitation. To that end, employees with drug and/or alcohol problems are encouraged to seek professional assistance. The Employer has adopted this rehabilitation policy to help employees whenever possible before taking disciplinary action. All requests for assistance and the results of treatment and counseling shall be kept as confidential as reasonably possible.

Employees should contact the Benefits Office in Human Resources for information about available coverage for or the use of sick time, other paid or unpaid leave of absence or state and federal leave to participate in treatment. The Employer offers an Employee Assistance Program (EAP) and employees seeking assistance can contact the EAP or other designated Employer-approved programs for confidential professional assistance. Questions to the Benefits Office and/or the EAP will be handled in confidence. It is the Employer’s policy to make every reasonable effort to safeguard the confidentiality of any request for employee assistance.

9. Discipline, Referral Agreement and Return to Work Agreement

Referral Agreement

While employees who violate this policy may be disciplined, it is the Employer’s intent to correct problems associated with drug and alcohol abuse through referring first time offenders to the contracted EAP or other approved rehabilitation programs. If the EAP or another approved rehabilitation program recommends a course of treatment, that recommendation shall be the basis for a Referral Agreement. Referral agreements are entered into for the purpose of setting the conditions under which the employee may defer discipline. Therefore, when an employee voluntarily enters into rehabilitation in lieu of a required test or when he/she receives a positive test result, disciplinary action related to a positive test or voluntary disclosure will be withheld, pending satisfactory completion of the referral agreement requirements. Only employees found to be suitable for rehabilitative treatment will be eligible for deferral of discipline.

Employees who waive the test or employees who test positive may access sick leave, vacation and/or comp time in lieu of administrative leave without pay during the period of time between the waiver or positive test result and the time the employee returns to work under the Return to

Work Agreement. The Employer may place the employee on administrative leave with pay during such period at the Employer's discretion. Employees shall be advised that they may be eligible for FMLA leave during this period and that they should work with their health care provider to make this determination.

Employees who test positive may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including discharge, or to a requirement that the employee enroll in a rehabilitation, treatment or counseling program.

Other than when exercising waiver in accordance with Section 6 above, employees who refuse to test, or who interfere or subvert the testing process, are considered to be insubordinate and subject to appropriate discipline.

The terms and conditions of each referral agreement will be put in writing and signed by the employee, the Union and the Employer. At the employee's request the requirement for Union signature may be waived but agreements made without the Union's signature will not be precedent setting. Each referral agreement will contain some basic core requirements but will be designed giving consideration to the individual's circumstances.

Return to Work Agreement

The Employer may require an employee to participate in an Employer-approved education or rehabilitation program. Employees who do so before their drug or alcohol problem leads to initial or future performance problems will be supported in their efforts to seek help. Employees who delay seeking help will not be excused from consequences of their performance deficiencies.

Return to work agreements set the conditions under which the employee returns to work. Upon satisfactory completion of the terms of the Referral Agreement, the employee will enter into a Return to Work Agreement which may contain "last chance" provisions. Any discipline for the positive test will continue to be withheld pending successful completion of the terms of the Return to Work Agreement.

Employees will only be allowed to access rehabilitation in lieu of discipline one time. An employee who fails to cooperate, abandons or does not complete the terms of the Referral Agreement will receive all previously withheld discipline.

Whenever an employee agrees to a Referral Agreement and a subsequent Return to Work Agreement as a condition of continued employment, that employee shall continue to be subject to the same rules, working conditions and disciplinary procedures in effect for other employees.

An employee referred for inpatient treatment of substance abuse problems will be allowed to return to work when all terms of the referral agreement have been met and the Employer receives appropriate notification from the treatment facility that the employee has successfully completed his/her course of treatment.

Employees who are referred to outpatient treatment will be permitted to return to work providing all other terms of the referral plan are met and the treatment provider agrees that returning the employee to work is consistent with the treatment plan.

Return to Work Agreements may include regular unannounced testing for a reasonable period as specified in the Return to Work Agreement.

One of the purposes of this program is to provide a safe workplace through treatment and rehabilitation of those identified as having a dependency problem. Accordingly, if the employee, during or after appropriate treatment and rehabilitation, again is found to be in violation of this policy he/she will be subject to discipline up to and including termination of employment.

The Union and Employer have developed documents pursuant to this Memorandum of Understanding, including the Advice of Rights, the supervisor's checklist, and the reasonable evaluation training.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

~~MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #2~~

~~Compensation and UPP Market Adjustments~~

~~A.~~

~~Effective the first full pay period following January 1, 2016, the following changes shall be implemented for all bargaining unit employees enrolled in the UPP retirement plan:~~

~~1. All employees actively participating in the UPP as of the first full pay period following January 1, 2016 will receive a 6% increase in their wage rate. This 6% increase will be in addition to any across the board increase that is negotiated for the bargaining unit.~~

~~a. Employees whose pay increase places them at or above the range maximum will be red-circled at that rate until the range catches up to their pay rate.~~

~~b. The Employer will offer financial counseling services to UPP employees, specifically regarding the effect on retirement of not rolling the 6% offset into a tax deferred retirement account.~~

~~2. For all positions in the bargaining unit, the minimum of the pay range will be increased by 5% and the maximum of the pay range will be increased by 6%.~~

~~3. The Employer will discontinue the 6% employee contribution pick-up for eligible employees participating in the UPP.~~

~~4. The parties will no longer employ a 5% discount when evaluating the market competitiveness of bargaining unit pay ranges. Accordingly, the Market Based Salary Committee will no longer incorporate a discount into its review and recommendations for pay range adjustments.~~

~~5. The Market Based Salary Committee will continue to review market based information and make recommendations for market based adjustments, upward or downward as appropriate, in accordance with Section 8.4 of the parties' Agreement.~~

INDEX

Page(s)

~~a. There will be no market-based adjustments for salary grades 10-16 during the term of this Agreement.~~

~~b. The time periods for determining downward adjustments for all other pay grades will be reset so that they begin following ratification of this Agreement.~~

~~B.~~

~~Following the implementation of all contractually agreed pay adjustments as of the first full payroll period following ratification, the base pay rate of any employee with a pay rate of less than \$12.75 will be increased to \$12.75. Following the implementation of all contractually agreed pay adjustments as of the first full payroll period following July 1, 2016, the base pay rate of any employee with a pay rate of less than \$13.75 will be increased to \$13.75. Following the implementation of all contractually agreed pay adjustments as of the first full payroll period following July 1, 2017, the base pay rate of any employee with a pay rate of less than \$15.00 will be increased to \$15.00.~~

~~AFSCME LOCAL 328~~

~~OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY~~

~~By: _____~~

~~By: _____~~

~~Date: _____~~

~~Date: _____~~

THIS CHANGE REMOVES OUTDATED LANGUAGE.

~~MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #3~~

~~Code of Conduct~~

~~AFSCME Local 328 (“Union”) and Oregon Health & Science University (“Employer”) hereby agree as follows:~~

~~1. The Employer agrees to provide to the Union documentation regarding the multiple processes available to employees for filing complaints (contract grievances, Code of Conduct complaints, complaints of discrimination, etc.) and the resources available for such processes (Integrity and Compliance Office, AAEO Department, Human Resources, etc.).~~

~~2. The Employer further agrees to specify to the Union the process it will follow for reviewing Code of Conduct complaints.~~

~~3. Whenever a manager is notified of a Code of Conduct complaint brought against the manager, such notification will include written notice of non-retaliation.~~

~~AFSCME LOCAL 328 _____ OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY~~

~~By: _____ By: _____~~

~~Date: _____ Date: _____~~

THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE – SEE ARTICLE 6.

~~MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #4~~

~~Task Force re Paid Leave Programs~~

~~AFSCME Local 328 (“Union”) and Oregon Health & Science University (“Employer”) hereby agree that during the term of this Agreement a task force may be established to address the feasibility of transitioning from the current programs for paid leave time in Articles 11, 12 and 13 to a paid time off (“PTO”) program. If the Employer chooses to initiate this process, it will notify the Union in writing of its desire to do so. A task force consisting of equal representatives selected by each party will then be established to address the issue. Time spent by bargaining unit employees at task force meetings will be paid time. The Employer will be responsible at the commencement of the process for providing in detail the components of its proposed PTO program. The Task Force upon completion of its work will present its recommendations in writing to the Union and the Employer for their review and approval.~~

~~AFSCME LOCAL 328~~

~~OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY~~

~~By: _____~~

~~By: _____~~

~~Date: _____~~

~~Date: _____~~

THIS CHANGE REMOVES OUTDATED LANGUAGE.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #52

Potential Contributions to 403(b) Plan

AFSCME Local 328 ("Union") and Oregon Health & Science University ("Employer") hereby agree as follows:

For the biennium commencing July 2015 and for each biennium thereafter, if the average defined benefit pension cost for an employee participating in a PERS plan as of September 10, 2012 is less than six percent (6%) for the two-year average of the applicable biennium and the immediately preceding fiscal year, then the Employer will make a contribution to the employee's 403(b) plan during the applicable biennium equivalent to the difference in dollars between 6% and the two-year averaged pension rate. Contributions will be subject to IRS limitations and rules.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #63

Telecommuting Task Force

OHSU and AFSCME Local 328 share a mutual interest in enhancing the availability of telecommuting opportunities for bargaining unit employees. As such, the parties agree to a joint telecommuting task force, which will include representatives of the Employer and a minimum of three (3) representatives of the Union. Bargaining unit employees will be paid for participation in task force meetings. A comprehensive review, recommendations and any requests for resources from this task force will be submitted to the Chief Financial Officer, who will act as executive sponsor of this task force.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #74

Community Employment Committee

OHSU and AFSCME Local 328 recognize that the recruitment and retention of minorities is an ongoing mutual goal. To further that goal, the parties agree to establish a Community Employment Committee. The purpose of this Committee will be to evaluate employment and career development needs of underrepresented and ethnic minorities at OHSU, consistent with the Employer’s strategic diversity goals reflected in its Diversity Action Plans and Affirmative Action Plans (APP) and APP placement goals. The Committee will determine the scope of its evaluation, which may include an identification of job classifications on which to focus, a review of training needs and opportunities, and an identification of community partners who may assist the Committee in accomplishing its goals, including distributing information and providing job preparation training. The Union and the Employer will have an equal number of representatives on the Committee. Bargaining unit employees will receive paid time for participation in Committee meetings. Recommendations of the Committee will be submitted for approval to the Vice President of Human Resources and the Chief Diversity Officer. The Committee will begin its work within six (6) months of the Agreement’s ratification.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #85

Employee Resource Groups

AFSCME Local 328 (“Union”) and Oregon Health & Science University (“Employer”) hereby agree as follows:

1. The Employer will communicate to employees the value it places on employees participating in Employee Resource Groups (“ERGs”).

2. While the granting of time off is at the manager’s discretion, managers will engage in a good faith effort to release employees to attend ERG meetings if operations allow. Release time will be a combination of meal and rest periods where appropriate and up to one (1) hour per month of paid release time for attendance and travel to/from ERG meetings.

3. Attendance at ERG trainings, conferences and speaking events shall apply to the ten (10) hour guarantee for job related training set forth in Section 22.1.1 of the parties’ Agreement.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

~~MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #9~~

~~Holiday Scheduling in Pharmacy Department~~

~~AFSCME Local 328 (“Union”) and Oregon Health & Science University (“Employer”) hereby agree as follows:~~

~~In the event that a consensus agreement for holiday scheduling cannot be reached in the Pharmacy Department, representatives from Human Resources and the Union and a department representative designated by each party may enter into negotiations regarding the issue. Any agreement reached will be subject to ratification in accordance with the Union’s normal processes.~~

~~AFSCME LOCAL 328 _____ OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
_____ UNIVERSITY~~

~~By: _____ By: _____~~

~~Date: _____ Date: _____~~

THIS CHANGE REMOVES OUTDATED LANGUAGE.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #106

Strategies for Reducing On-Call Work

AFSCME Local 328 (“Union”) and Oregon Health & Science University (“Employer”) hereby agree as follows:

Upon request by 30% or more of the employees in a work unit, a work unit committee may be formed to discuss strategies for reducing on-call work. Members of the committee may request process improvement resources to assist them, which will be provided on a first come first served basis.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #11

Schedules of Part-Time Employees

~~AFSCME Local 328 (“Union”) and Oregon Health & Science University (“Employer”)
hereby agree that, upon request of the Union, the parties will meet and attempt to resolve
concerns that may arise regarding the schedules of regular part-time employees.~~

~~AFSCME LOCAL 328~~

~~OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY~~

~~By: _____~~

~~By: _____~~

~~Date: _____~~

~~Date: _____~~

**THIS IS A NEUTRAL CHANGE—WE HAVE OTHER OPTIONS TO ADDRESS
ISSUES IN THIS AREA.**

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #~~127~~

**Interfaith Locations, Interpreting Services, Safety Training,
Translated Document and Gender Neutral Restrooms**

AFSCME Local 328 (“Union”) and Oregon Health & Science University (“Employer”) hereby agree as follows:

1. ~~1. —~~ **Interfaith locations.** ~~Following ratification of the parties’ Agreement, the Employer will notify bargaining unit employees and managers of the d~~ Designated interfaith locations for prayer and ~~k~~ posted on O2.

THIS CHANGE REMOVES OUTDATED LANGUAGE.

2. **Interpreting Services.** Upon an employee’s request, the Employer will provide interpreting services at an investigatory or grievance meeting. Unless otherwise requested by the employee, these interpreting services will be provided only by the Employer’s Language Services Department or an outside vendor selected by the Employer. The employee will submit such a request as far in advance as possible.

3. **Safety training.** The Employer will continue its efforts to make safety training understandable for employees, including employees not fluent in English.

4. **Translated document.** The Employer agrees to prepare a single-page document that provides translated information on how to access Human Resources (including Benefits and Retirement), union representatives, AAEO, Integrity Office, the Center for Diversity and Inclusion and other OHSU offices as space allows. The document will be translated into Spanish, Russian, Serbo-Croatian, Chinese (Mandarin) and Amharic and will be posted on O2.

INDEX

Page(s)

5. **Gender Neutral Restrooms.** If an employee has concerns about accessing restrooms that provide appropriate safe space, the employee should contact his/her manager or HR Business Partner. Up to \$3000 will be available for signage in suitable locations.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #138

TriMet Bus Pass Program

Oregon Health & Science University and AFSCME Local 328 hereby agree that benefit-eligible bargaining unit employees will be eligible to participate in the OHSU TriMet Buss Pass Program developed by the Employer in accordance with the terms of the program as determined by the Employer in its discretion. For the duration of the 2019-2022 Agreement, the Employer will offer annual Tri-Met bus passes to AFSCME employees at a price of \$50 per pass.

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #

Preceptor Pay

As a pilot program, beginning six months after ratification, a preceptor differential shall be paid to eligible preceptors in the amount of \$1.00 per hour for each hour worked as a preceptor with a student. Preceptors must complete a Preceptor Education Program. A preceptor shall be defined as an employee in the following positions who has been assigned by a supervisor to teach a student from an OHSU-approved program:

- Physical Therapist
- Physical Therapist Assistant
- Occupational Therapist
- Speech and Language Pathologist Tech
- Surgical Services Tech
- Rad Tech (inpatient)
- Echo Tech
- Respiratory Care
- CT Tech
- Mammography
- MRI Tech
- Nuclear Medicine Tech
- Ultrasound
- Vascular

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____ By: _____

Date: _____ Date: _____

THIS IS A HISTOIC WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS — WE TRIED TO GET PRECEPTOR PAY IN MULTIPLE PREVIOUS ROUNDS OF BARGAINING.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #

Hardship Fund

To establish a fund for relief of AFSCME-covered employees from housing insecurity, transportation insecurity, or food insecurity, the Employer will provide the Union with One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000) for each of 2019, 2020 and 2021. The first payment shall be made within a reasonable time after ratification of this Agreement, and the second and third payments shall be made by the anniversary date of ratification in each respective year. The Union will be fully responsible for administering the fund. The Union agrees that fund will not be used to supplement across-the-board wages for the bargaining unit, and will not be used to replace income lost by a bargaining unit member as a result of discipline. So that the Employer can better understand its employees' needs, the Union will provide the Employer with an accounting of sums disbursed from this Fund each calendar year, to include, at a minimum, recipients' names, the sums provided for each disbursement, and the purpose for each disbursement. Tax reporting responsibilities for the amounts disbursed to employees will reside with the Union.

This Memorandum of Understanding automatically expires at the end of the 2019-2022 Agreement.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

THIS IS A HUGE WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #

Staffing Escalation

In order for the Union to have direct contact with the Employer to discuss staffing issues, upon the Union’s request the Employer will arrange for up to two meetings each year among the Union, up to two (2) senior leaders (excluding the President) overseeing up to two (2) areas of the Union’s choice (two leaders total), and the Chief of Staff for the first two meetings held in the first year of this contract, replaced by the Vice President of Human Resources thereafter.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

Co-Branding

The Employer recognizes the value in the collaborative efforts of the Union to advance the interests of both OHSU and OHSU employees in the bargaining unit.

Communications regarding the Labor Management Committee, Career Workplace Enhancement Center, and new initiatives and projects created as a result of formal joint Employer and Union efforts shall indicate the involvement of both parties. Specifications for logos, placement and language shall adhere to the appropriate brand and communications guidelines of both organizations for the communication mediums to be used. New formal joint initiatives and formal projects to be co-branded must be agreed to in advance of the project or initiative commencing by both the Employer and the Union.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

THIS IS A HUGE WIN FOR OUR UNION, THE LMC AND THE CWE CENTER.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

Employee Advisory Council

Within 180 days of ratification of this agreement, the Employer will convene an Employee Advisory Council in substantially the same form as shared with the Union on August 13, 2019. AFSCME will be invited to serve on the Employee Advisory Council.

[PLUS ALL TENTATIVE AGREEMENTS SIGNED THROUGH JULY 29, 2019]

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

THIS IS A BIG WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS AND ALL OTHER EMPLOYEE GROUPS AT OHSU.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #

Clean-Up Time Guidelines

Within six months of the ratification of the 2019-2022 Agreement between the Employer and AFSCME, applicable departments shall prepare guidelines regarding clean-up time. Disputes related to department guidelines will be addressed in the HR/Union meeting.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____ By: _____

Date: _____ Date: _____

**THIS IS A WIN THAT WILL ENSURE EMPLOYEES HAVE CLEARER GUIDELINES
IN THE WORKPLACE**

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #

Union Leave Hours

The Union has expressed concern that paid release hours under Section 2.2.2 are not being properly coded. The Employer agrees to provide education to Union officers and stewards within 30 days after ratification of the 2019-2022 Agreement about how to code paid release hours. The parties may reopen Section 2.2.2 one year later to discuss whether the number of paid release hours under that Section should be modified.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

**THIS IS A BENEFIT TO OUR UNION GOVERNANCE AND WILL ENSURE
ACCURACY IN OUR TRACKING OF UNION PAID RELEASE TIME.**

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #

Union Officers

For two years following the ratification of the 2019-2022 Collective Bargaining Agreement, the following language shall take precedent over Article 2.2.4 and 2.13. The Employer and the Union agree that this Memorandum of Understanding will expire 24 months after the effective date of the Collective Bargaining Agreement, unless extended by the parties. The parties agree that they will consider extending this Memorandum of Understanding thirty (30) days prior to the period that it will expire by its terms.

[Concept: OHSU will grant 40 total hours of release time per week for these three positions, with no position more than 20 hours/week, paid at the percentages that AFSCME proposed (1/2 for President, 1/3 for Vice President, 1/2 for Chief Steward)]

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

THIS IS A BIG WIN FOR OUR UNION GOVERNANCE.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #

Preferential Hire List Task Force

AFSCME Local 328 (“Union”) and Oregon Health & Science University (“Employer”) hereby agree that during the term of this Agreement a task force shall be established to ensure that employees and managers understand the requirements, responsibilities and steps necessary to successfully complete the preferential hire list (PHL) placement process.

The parties agree that the preferential hire list task force will include an equal number of representatives of the Employer and of the Union and shall not exceed 6 people in total. Time spent by AFSCME-represented employees at the task force meeting(s) shall be on paid time.

The task force shall convene no later than 180 days after the ratification of this Agreement.

The task force upon completion of its work will present its recommendations in writing to the Union and the Employer for their review. The Employer retains the final approval on the implementation of any recommendations, but will consider such recommendations in good faith.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

THIS IS A WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING #

OHSU/AFSCME Task Force on Workforce Mental Health Support and Peer-to Peer
Group Counseling/Support

AFSCME Local 328 (“Union”) and Oregon Health & Science University (“Employer”) hereby agree that during the term of this Agreement, upon request of the Union, the Employer shall convene a task force to discuss concerns regarding group counseling/support as it pertains to the workplace/work departments.

The task force shall consist of equal representatives selected by each party. Time spent by bargaining unit employees at task force meetings shall be paid time.

Within 90 days of ratification of this Agreement, the task force will develop a position description and duties for an internal, OHSU employed resource (“internal counselor”) to support on-site group counseling/support to employees when tragic or difficult events occur that affect a work unit; e.g., suicide of a coworker’s partner, death of a coworker, death of a long-term patient, death of a non-human primate, layoffs, violent events (in the workplace or the surrounding community). The parties agree to make every reasonable effort to hire the internal counselor within 180 days of the ratification of this Agreement. It will be the responsibility of the task force to hire the internal counselor. The internal counselor would serve as Chair of the task force.

Although the internal counselor will work with the task force to develop an implementation plan to provide services across OHSU, it is recognized that there is an immediate need within the AFSCME bargaining unit. Therefore, the initial phase of implementation will be prioritized for AFSCME-represented employees for the duration of this Agreement unless there are areas of immediate need outside of the AFSCME bargaining unit, as determined by the internal counselor.

Additionally, the task force shall create or recommend a training program(s) for interested members to (a) recognize post-traumatic stress symptoms or other complicated emotions

INDEX

Page(s)

following a traumatic event and (b) provide group critical-incident stress debriefings. These trained staff members would volunteer to be dispatched as needed on paid time to provide support to employees in affected work units.

It would be the assumption that this task force would have the support and cooperation of any other mental health and wellness programs in existence or under development by the Employer.

The task force shall periodically submit a report to the OHSU Vice President of Human Resources and to the President of AFSCME Local 328.

AFSCME LOCAL 328

OREGON HEALTH & SCIENCE
UNIVERSITY

By: _____

By: _____

Date: _____

Date: _____

THIS IS A BIG WIN FOR OUR MEMBERS, AND FOR OTHER EMPLOYEES AS THE PROGRAM BRANCHES OUT.